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Management Discussion and Analysis

e B Rk Bl

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, collectively the
“Group”) faced a tough and challenging operating environment
during the year ended 30 June 2020 (“Year”). The unfavourable
market conditions, such as decreasing enrolment of secondary
school students, declining number of candidates participating
in the Diploma of Secondary Education Examination (“DSE"),
increasing number of students studying abroad, and fierce
competition among the industry peers to recruit and retain quality
tutors as well as to attract and retain students for enrolments,
coupled with the continuing impact of the social incidents and the
outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in Hong Kong,
not only caused a distinct reduction in course enrolments but
also suspension of face-to-face classes in the Group’s education
centres.

For the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$67.24 million (2019: approximately HK$108.94 million),
representing a significant decrease of approximately 38.28% as
compared to the previous year. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year amounted to approximately HK$107.19
million (2019: loss of approximately HK$77.44 million), which was
mainly due to (i) impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$18.67 million; (i) impairment loss on other loan receivables
of approximately HK$18.25 million; (iii) impairment loss on a loan
receivable of approximately HK$6.57 million; and (iv) loss on
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL") of approximately HK$10.75 million recorded during
the Year.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

REBE2020F6 30 LEFE ([AFE]) BAEHE
(AR RBREEEERAE ([AQF]) REMEBE AR
(BAQRFRE [ AE®E]) @mEREKEm7EmkEmg
BIRIE - AR BTSN - FIanh B4 HE ABURD -
2MPECRER ([PEXRER])NELEAHT
BB EMEE ABIENARERRTTZ HRBE
LBEEHERMERSI B EEERZHFTF L
BN EEHNBEYEREARE2019BREE
7 (TCOVID-19]) - MEEHERIZMA AR -
NEFREBMOBEFOARREER

RAFEE AEEBKFWALG7,240,0000 T
(20194 : £9108,940,000/% 7T ) * B £ F KX 1&@ &
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Provision of private educational services

Secondary tutoring services

The Year was a difficult time to the private education industry,
especially for the segment of secondary tutoring services. In
the second half of 2019, the Group encountered significant
impact from the prolonged political issues such as protests
and demonstrations in Hong Kong which once resulted in class
suspension of schools in Hong Kong. Worse still, since 2020, the
Group’s business operations have been further adversely affected
by the outbreak of COVID-19. The Group had actively formulated
the business strategies to deal with this hard time. In the time of a
pandemic, online learning is the need of the hour and an inevitable
trend due to social distancing measures to prevent the spread of
COVID-19. The Group was using its best endeavour to adjust its
business model by moving more classes online. Therefore, the
Group had downsized the scale of its traditional classroom setting
lessons. 6 out of 7 learning centres operated by the Group under
the brand of “Modern Education” (ZRXZ & ) (“Secondary Tutoring
Centres”) were closed during the first half of 2020.

For the Year, revenue recorded from secondary tutoring services
was approximately HK$28.76 million,
decrease of approximately 46.63% as compared to approximately
HK$53.88 million for the last financial year. Rental expenses took

representing a significant

up approximately 32% of this segment’s expenses before the
closure of 6 Secondary Tutoring Centres. The closure has allowed
the Group to reallocate resources for developing the Group’s online
learning infrastructure and promoting the online course enrolments.
The Group acknowledged that the traditional way of classroom
setting teaching is irreplaceable in some sense, therefore, the
Group retains a Secondary Tutoring Centre to serve the needs for
those students who prefer face-to-face classes. The Group will
consider re-opening the Secondary Tutoring Centres subject to the
social and market conditions.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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RULABFTRY
FBFERY
AEBHRLABBITELEZTFEHBRSE D EM

5 R—REBHENKE - N2019F T+F  AEEXE
EENNBEL TR EDERABAFENEATE
ZEEMBERBBERER  EEENR - B2020F
AT - RE BRI EEE — P X BICOVID- 198 1
IR - AN 5% B T8 15 1l i 36 7% B s DA JIE 39 L SR FE By
H-REBET BR A IECOVID-19EE M BT

RipREEE W EREREMMAT  TRLABE X
SEEEFAZSNABEEKEN BELZRENR
WEHZ-At AEECBREERRERRNR
18 o N2020F L5 REBE TN [BRAHE | 2
EENTRREPLO([HEFHBH])EPMeRER
BH o

RAFE AEEEGHEFETRBUAL
28,760,000/ 7t - 8 & — {fE Bt Bt 4F [Z #) £953,880,000

7B TC R I8 R > £946.63% © 76T 1 24 B 11 B8 B AT -
MEIEZ D MBI X KI32% - AR B2/ EBELEARE

EEUENHRER AEEARENE - BTER
BRI EREE LR ARERAERRERS
MR MREEE ERHRTARR B AEE
REBIMG 2B AHRERTERROS L0
Fo AR B RIR IR & RS MR T B E B
BB -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

5



Management Discussion and Analysis
EREHRR AR

The following table shows the number of course enrolments, the
number of tutors and the average course fees for each category of

secondary tutoring courses covering the two years ended 30 June

2020.

TR#BFIEE2020F6 4308 L MAFES BT 25
BRENREHEAR GHAMRTHRE -

For the year ended 30 June

B EGA3HLLEE
2020 2019

2020% 20194
Number of course enrolments (approximately) 2R AKX (BEAT)
Regular courses AR ERTE 35,000 65,000
Intensive courses FE 8 IE 3,500 12,000
Summer courses ZHRRE 8,500 12,000
T.I.P.S. courses FER R TIIE 1,500 6,000
Special courses HEIRE 1,000 5,000
Number of tutors (Note 1) BEMAB (KaZD)
Regular courses BIRGRIE 23 35
Intensive courses BB 16 22
Summer courses ZHIRE 21 29
T.I.P.S. courses fE S B 17 2L 11 16
Special courses HRIRE 13 13
Average course fees (HK$) (Note 2) BB (Kir) (Mit2)
Regular courses B ERE 558 533
Intensive courses fEE 617 572
Summer courses ZHRIE 564 458
T.I.P.S. courses FER R TIIE 604 565
Special courses HRIRE 460 381
Note 1: Tutors may provide secondary tutoring services for all or certain Bl - BER]ARTESRE THEANRERHEPEHER

categories of courses. Thus, the sum of the number of tutors for the
provision of regular courses, intensive courses, summer cCourses,

T.I.P.S. courses and special courses is not equal to the total number WAERBRAANE -

of tutors for the year.

Note 2: Being revenue divided by course enrolments for the year. Kiizz . BAFERABRURERSE AR

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

o Bt AFEAREEHARIE HEIL 28
RIE BRI R EMRIZOGEA BN



English language training and test preparation courses

During the Year, the Group continued to deliver high-quality English
language training and examination preparation courses for the
International English Language Testing System (IELTS) and Test of
English for International Communication (TOEIC). These courses
are required to be conducted on site to qualify for the subsidy
from the Continuing Education Fund set up by the Hong Kong
government. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has
decided to suspend the classes temporarily out of concern for the
well-being of its staff and students since February 2020, which
were resumed in June 2020. The number of course enrolments
dropped significantly from approximately 5,500 to 1,300 during the
Year and the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$2.27
million, representing a significant decrease of approximately
75.39% compared to approximately HK$9.23 million for the last
financial year.

Given the global recognition of IELTS and TOEIC, the Group
believes there is market demand in Hong Kong for professional
English language training and test preparation courses. These
courses benefit from being reimbursable courses under the
Continuing Education Fund and thus are popular with the working
population. Further, these courses are also crucial for those seeking
to apply to universities overseas or emmigrate. The Group plans to
continue operating courses once face-to-face teaching suspended
due to the outbreak of COVID-19 is allowed to resume. The Group
will earmark a certain amount of internal resources to explore
methods and expand sales channels to continue the operation of
this segment.

Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR iRk

FEIEHI R E R AR

RAFER AEBESEHERRBIRER ()
EEIRRREEEH (R RHEEMNEEEI R
EHRE - ZERELDARRERGET HEER
ESEEBRRRINFEEECESOMHB - AR
COVID-19  REEBTI RBAMBEEER AEEDIR
E B2020F2 A R EEZERE - WER202056 A&
R MAERE  RIZHMA AR AK5,5008 KiEH D=
1,300% @ AL B K 2492,270,0008 7T 8 E—
18 B B & B9 499,230,000/ JT K 18R 4 #)75.39% ©

EXNHEEREXZNE2HRRAE AKEEEHEETS
HEENRERINEAREFEFT R -ERFEL
EESHETEMPHNRE ZFRERIERALR
0o BN R BREBFFINEREABRHALME
HZERETEFEE - HXCOVID-19Z B IERAE R
RERE-BRENRER AKREAIBELLLTF
RIE-AKEREERETAMERRRRTRLE
REERE  NEELSE D
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREHRR AR

Primary tutoring services, skill courses and test preparation
courses

Given the steady and increasing number of course enrolments
recorded over the past years, the Group is optimistic about the
market demand for the primary tutoring services in Hong Kong.
The business strategy to promote primary tutoring services and
enlarge the services network through the franchisee scheme
(“Scheme”) has strategically satisfied market demand and
contributed strong revenue to the Group. In the first half of 2020,
the COVID-19 pandemic brought certain negative impact on
the business operation. The Group has taken immediate action
and moved some classes online due to COVID-19-related social
distancing measures. Some classes were conducted in the centres
when the situation allowed. The Group makes every endeavour
to provide quality services to students to meet their needs even
under the impact of COVID-19. Nevertheless, the number of course
enrolments has shrunk for the Year. There were approximately
14,000 (2019: approximately 17,000) course enrolments recorded
from directly-owned education centres which recorded revenue of
approximately HK$16.51 million (2019: approximately HK$18.56
million). Total revenue to the Group from franchised centres
amounted to approximately HK$4.77 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 16.39% compared to approximately
HK$5.70 million for the previous year.

In late June 2020, one of the directly-owned education centres was
newly opened to replace another directly-owned education centre
in another location. The Group is confident of the prospects of this
segment and is willing to invest further even during this difficult
time. There has been a steady increase in number of the franchise
partners over the past few years and 6 new franchisees have
already signed agreements to join the Scheme and the franchised
centres are expected to be operational by around March 2021. The
Company plans to allocate more resources and expand its network
by promoting the Scheme and attracting more business partners.
As at 30 June 2020, there were 7 directly-owned education centres
and 37 franchised centres operated under the brand of “Modern
Bachelor Education” (3R NE+) |

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

DEHBRY RERERESRE

ERNBABFRERBANFERBTEHRE  ASEY
BN/ EHEBREOTISHE RFLEBEE - BB
e st El ([axaTal]) #HE/ ) 288 R% RIEARS
RSN ESRBERBEERETM SR K RALAEER
A o8 S AY UL 2S - FA2020%F E ¥4 - COVID-19/@ B ¥ %
BEETR—TNEEFE - AR EITEHCOVID-19
MRS AEBEYAREITEREES T3
REBREELRE - BHRERATER TERFA L
NAETTIRER - BIE R B|COVID- 19 & » AL E {518
NEBERBELERFURCEZT R -BE L &K
FENRBREAXBAT B HEEHBEPOHRE
B AN RER1S4914,000% (20194 : £917,0004 ) K 8%
13 4 A 4916,510,0007% 7T (20194F : 918,560,000
TL) R E RO AR S B BRI A 494,770,000
B TT B E FEH 495,700,000 TR #716.39% ©
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KBRS —RESHE R - B S ERERS
B AREDAY LS BONBEBED  LEEM
B —SRENBELE BHEEAEBERE
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ARBRRAESER  BBREZ B RREES %
75 & (E BB A A £ 484 - 120204F6 9308 + [B
NEt ] BIEETA7EESHE LRI A TGS
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Dance tuition services

While the competition for dance industry in Hong Kong is intensive,
the Group continued to provide quality dance tuition services and
attract students to enrol in the Group’s dance classes. During the
first half of the financial year, the Group has arranged students
to participate in various dance competitions to gain performance
experience, launched overseas study tours and enhanced the
provision of courses to respond to changes in market trends so as
to expand the Group’s business coverage and broaden the student
base.

Unfortunately, dance tuition faced the hardest hit since the
COVID-19 pandemic has begun. As the Group was conscious of
the pressing need to protect its staff, tutors and students from
possible exposure to the COVID-19 pandemic, some dance classes
have been temporarily suspended. Due to the mode of dance
tuition which does not allow for easy online teaching compared to
secondary tuition and primary tuition, all business activities have
been severely affected. As a result, the enrolment has dropped
sharply in the second half of the financial year. After serious
consideration of the difficult operating environment under the huge
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had downsized the
scale of operation by closing some of its dance colleges so as to
control the operating costs. 5 out of 6 professional dance colleges
operated by the Group under the brand of Shelly Lo Jazz and
Ballet School were closed. As at 30 June 2020, the Group has
retained 1 professional dance college which continues to provide
the courses of ballet and jazz dance. The Group is taking effort
to formulate appropriate business strategies to cope with such
adverse changes and making good use of any opportunities to offer
more diversified dance services to students.

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from dance tuition
services of approximately HK$10.89 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 38.03% as compared to approximately
HK$17.57 million recorded in the last financial year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR iRk

FENBRE

BERENERETERTFIN AREEERHTED
SFEHBRY WK BEREA KB FEEERIE
RAFBREEN L F RNEBRHEELNEHE
B BARER R B - FRBIMNE 2 R Noa sRIB
EARHTHBE N EMBARNRENEBE
EHRENERSLER-

TNERE  FHEHEBECOVID-19FBREREERE
Bl -ARAEESHIENFTERELET - Ga M2
B R REACOVID-196 @ » PRABE D SEEERECE
R iF 1k - IR SEEREM BRI KA AR EH
BRI EHRERETHENS LR HAEEKE
BHRIBEEFE A RBEABRAPRFET
FERK - AEENBRENKERETEBREEE
COVID-19RIEME AF &1L - B BEAME D 2
PARE/ME SRR MG 2R A - NREE R
BTAZRRAKEERE T RERNMEEENHE
2 5R I 2 B P 95 © 70202066 A30H - REE IR
BIREXZRESER #ERHETERBLERRE-
AEELSNHEEE N EBRE  UEREARETH
gE YROMNAEARESBLERHELT(EHSE
BB BRTS -

RAFEFER AEEHEEEHERE VALY
10,890,000 0 &R E— A B FEHESHLH
17,570,0007% 7T % 4> 4938.03% ©
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Investments

Assets investments

Financial assets at FVPL

During the Year, the Group adopted a relatively prudent and
diversified strategies for securities investment. The Group had
acquired listed securities in 9 listed companies in Hong Kong and
disposed of 7 listed securities in its investment portfolio during the
Year. Throughout the second half of the financial year, the stock
market in Hong Kong was volatile, Heng Seng Index dropped
from 28,543.52 points on 2 January 2020 to 24,427.19 points on
30 June 2020. As at 30 June 2020, the Group had financial assets
at FVPL with a fair value of approximately HK$48.55 million and
recorded a loss on change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL
of approximately HK$10.75 million for the Year.

Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial
assets at FVPL with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s audited
total assets as at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

"E

EERE

R FEFAEBRN G EE

RAFER AEEYHFFARERITEHEERZ T
tMRB - AEERAFEANERBEEELTA
A EMHES WHEEREHATHNIELTES-
RATBREEOTEF FERMEE BEEEHS
202041 A2 H #928,543.5224 ¥ £202046 A30H &
24,427 192k - R2020%6 A30H * KEE K A F{Et
AIBZH € @& B H A F{E 4948,550,000/8 7T I R
REFHEBRAFEFABSENEREENRA FEE
& 538 4910,750,0005% 7T

#2020F6 A308 A FEF A BEH S RAEE
ANEAEEEERAEESRL N O ERREH
BT

Percentage Percentage to
held to the the Group's
total issued Fair value audited total
Number of share capital as at assets as at
Description of investments Principal businesses shares held  of the company  Investment cost 30 June 2020 30 June 2020
R2020%
6A30H
ERFERT 1#2020% Hx%E
RF#EN 6A30H HEZARE
REEd TERHB F&ERABE FRESL RERF HAFE HaEskt
(approximately) HK$000 HK$000  (approximately)
(#47) FET FET (#47)
Significant investment
EXRE
Convoy Global Holdings Limited Financial advisory business, money lending 348,904,000 2.34% 122,116 30,321 20.15%
(“Convoy”) (stock code: 1019) business, proprietary investment business,
asset management business and securities
dealing business.
REBRERBRAR ([RE]) BYBREE EEER BEREER
(A5 1019) AEEREBREFEEER
Other investments
RURE
Other listed shares* - - - 38,639 18,227 12.11%
Hth ke
Grand total for financial assets at FVPL 160,755 48 548 32.26%

HATEH BN BEERH

z Other listed shares included the shares of 7 companies which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the shares of 4 companies which are
listed on GEM of Stock Exchange. Each of the investments included in
the other listed shares does not exceed 5% of the Group’s unaudited
total assets as at 30 June 2020.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

* HAMETRGERIIREEHEXSHERAE ([H
K] ) FRETHI L 72 R0 RAZK P T GEM L 7
HY 2 B]Z B © BM_E R 17 B & 8 &5 B E WA
MK EE B R2020F6 H30H FKASE AR B EHI5% °



Details of the change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL during

Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR iRk

RAFER BRAFEFABENEBEEZ A TE

the Year are as follows:

SHHELT

Realised Unrealised Dividend
fair value fair value received
gain gain (loss) during
for the Year for the Year the Year

FEE FEE
=% -k} REHANTE FEE
Description of investments (stock code) BREEE (BRRRR) LFEEKS B (BiR) =883
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Convoy (1019) B2 (1019) - (1,487) -
Other listed shares* Hib Fmfkine 1,500 (10,889) 21
Unlisted convertible bonds FLEMARRES - 103 =
Grand total BEt 1,500 (12,273) 21

* Other listed shares included the shares of 14 companies which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the shares of
4 companies which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income (“FVOCI”)

The Group also held significant investment under financial assets

at FVOCI with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s audited total

assets as at 30 June 2020 as below:

B ETREEFIAFI BRI R LT R EZR
15 RAK R AT GEM_E T A9 22 8],.2 BR 17

BRFEHARMZEK R ([HLFEAARYE
iz )R HEE

R2020F6 A30R - AEBERR A FEF AEMBE2E
BaEmEREER NI ABEEASELERRE
ES%HIA EHERKREWT

Percentage Percentage to

held to the Carrying the Group's

total issued amount audited total

Number of share capital as at assets as at

Description of investment Principal businesses shares held of Gransing  Investment cost 30 June 2020 30 June 2020
120205

HER 20205 6A30A

ERTRFEEE 6A300 WMFKEREL

RE# IERH FisRHABE BERESL BRERE WEEE ®BEENESL
(approximately) HK$000 HK$000  (approximately)

(#4) FHET FHET (#49)

Gransing Financial Group Limited Dealing in securities, securities 26 8.41% 30,831 12,429 8.26%

(“Gransing"), incorporated

outside Hong Kong asset management and wealth
management services and money
lending in Hong Kong.

REBRFEHFEER EFEM-
CEREBERN AEEER
HEERREUAREE-

EReReEaRAR ([AR]
REBFIMNEMHLZ R F)

advisory, corporate finance advisory,
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Performance and future prospects of the Company'’s significant
investments
(1) Convoy

Trading in the shares of Convoy has been halted since
7 December 2017 and remain suspended up to the date
of this annual report. From the announcement of Convoy
dated 5 June 2020, Convoy received a letter from the Stock
Exchange on 29 May 2020 stating the decision of the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange made on 28 May 2020 to
cancel Convoy'’s listing under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules
(“Delisting Decision”). Convoy lodged a written request to the
Listing Review Committee of the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Chapter 2B of the Listing Rules to review the Delisting
Decision. From the announcement of Convoy dated 28 August
2020, the review hearing date is to be scheduled in due
course.

According to the announcement of Convoy dated 21 May
2020, the board of directors of Convoy (“Convoy Board”)
confirmed Convoy is financially healthy and continues
to maintain a healthy level of operations in its principal
businesses. Convoy has transformed from an independent
financial advisory business into a one-stop omni-channel
financial service platform since 2018 and its business strategy
comprises of three core priorities, including (i) growing and
strengthening the fundamental pillars by proactive recruitment
of the financial advisory salesforce, potential acquisitions
of small competitors and increasing product coverage; (ii)
diversifying the business portfolio by launching new products
and services related to Fintech investments and partnerships
in the United Kingdom, the United States and Europe;
and (iii) optimizing operational performance with powerful
infrastructure through investment in product intelligence,
technology and operations for improving customer experience
and driving efficiency across the businesses.

Convoy also continues to focus on strengthening its overall
risk management capabilities and maintains its commitment
to build a new corporate culture by upskilling its work-force
and institutionalizing the achievement culture based on
three core values of professionalism, integrity and passion
through promotion of open communication across the entire
organization, provision of training programmes to upgrade
employees’ capabilities, and launching trainee programmes
and Hackathon to nurture young talents in Hong Kong.
Convoy believes that it has successfully rebuilt its brand and
is investing across its businesses and bringing advanced
technology and expertise to serve the customers.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

EREAEXREMFETR KR

(1)

Vo

BRERMNE B2017F12R7R R EFEBELEHE
REH B D AIFIE - RIBERZ B 182020456 A
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2)

From the joint announcement of Convoy and National Arts
Entertainment and Culture Group Limited (“National Arts”), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8228), dated 29 July 2020, the board of directors of National
Arts approached the Convoy Board about a conditional
voluntary share exchange offer by National Arts to acquire all
of the issued shares in the share capital of Convoy subject
to fulfilment of certain conditions (“Possible Offer”). From
the joint announcement of Convoy and National Arts dated
28 August 2020, discussions are still on-going between the
parties on the Possible Offer, including as to how and when
the Possible Offer will be made, which will be subject to,
inter alia, the timetable and outcome of the review of the
decision of the Stock Exchange to consider the Possible Offer
a reverse takeover of National Arts under Rule 19.06B of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and it would treat National
Arts as a new listing applicant under Rule 19.54 of the
GEM Listing Rules if the Possible Offer were to proceed, the
financial information of Convoy and other information which
would be required to be included in documentation to be sent
to shareholders of National Arts and Convoy in relation to the
Possible Offer. The Directors would continue to closely monitor
the development of the Possible Offer and the recent situation
of Convoy and formulate appropriate strategies to protect the
interest of the Group.

Gransing

In December 2019, an independent third party (“Subscriber”)
has subscribed for 35 shares of Gransing (together with
its subsidiaries, “Gransing Group”) in consideration
of 594,430,000 new issued shares of the Subscriber
(“Subscription”). As a result, the shareholding of the Group
in Gransing has been diluted from 9.49% to 8.41%. As
explained by the management of Gransing (“Gransing
Management”), a synergy effect is expected to be created
in Gransing Group after the Subscription, especially in the
segment of money lending business.

2)
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Based on the financial information provided from the Gransing
Management, the Directors noted from the unaudited
financial results of Gransing Group for the six months ended
30 June 2020 that a decrease in loss by approximately 20%
was recorded as compared to the corresponding period in
2019, and cost control measures continued to be carried
out for reducing the operating costs in order to minimize
the losses. Looking ahead, the Gransing Management
mentioned that Gransing Group is actively conducting a
business transformation and making its endeavour to develop
technology in the application of financial services. In the
second half of 2020, Gransing Group is going to launch
various technology applications in respect of its securities
brokerage segment. The enhancement is to provide fast
response to potential clients so as to boost the client base and
also, provide value-added services to existing clients through
an advanced services platform. In the long run, Gransing
Group targets to become one of the high-quality securities
brokers in the industry.

The Directors would keep monitoring the business
development of Gransing Group and formulate appropriate
strategies to protect the interest of the Group.

Other investment — early education

Full Profit Hong Kong Development Limited (“Full Profit”), a joint
venture of the Group, is focused primarily on providing early
education management and consultancy services. Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19, school for all kindergartens in Hong Kong
was suspended since February 2020 and school was resumed only
for kindergarten 3 students in mid—June 2020. As a result, revenue
recorded by Full Profit during the Year decreased by approximately
28.20% as compared to the previous financial year. Due to the
unfavourable business environment, the Group will work closely
with the joint venture partner to monitor the situation and take
necessary steps to maintain a reasonable return to Full Profit and to
the Group.
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Money lending business

China Rich Finance Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, is a holder of money lender’s license under the Money
Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The Group has adopted money lending policies and procedures
for handling and/or monitoring the money lending business in
compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$4.05 million (2019: approximately HK$4.01
million) from granting loans to both corporate and individual clients.
The outstanding principal amount of loan receivables as at 30 June
2020 was approximately HK$33.85 million (2019: approximately
HK$40.30 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$67.24 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 38.28%
as compared to approximately HK$108.94 million recorded last
year, revenue generated from the segment of provision of private
educational services is as below:

—  Secondary tutoring services: a significant drop in revenue to
approximately HK$28.76 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 46.63% as compared to approximately
HK$53.88 million recorded last year.

— English language training and test preparation courses:
a significant drop in revenue to approximately HK$2.27
million, representing a decrease of approximately 75.39% as
compared to approximately HK$9.23 million recorded last
year.

—  Primary tutoring services, skill courses and test preparation
courses (including franchising income): a decrease in revenue
to approximately HK$21.28 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 12.30% as compared to approximately
HK$24.26 million recorded last year.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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—  Dance tuition services: a decrease in revenue to approximately
HK$10.89 million, representing a decrease of approximately
38.03% as compared to approximately HK$17.57 million
recorded last year.

—  Money lending business: the Group recorded relatively
stable loan interest of approximately HK$4.05 million (2019:
approximately HK$4.01 million).

Other income, gains and losses, net

For the Year, the Group’s other income, gains and losses recorded
net loss of approximately HK$42.66 million (2019: net gain of
approximately HK$0.41 million). Such loss was mainly due to (i)
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$18.67 million;
(ii) impairment loss on other loan receivables of approximately
HK$18.25 million; (iii) impairment loss on a loan receivable
of approximately HK$6.57 million; and (iv) loss on write-off of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$4.60 million
recorded during the Year.

Staff costs

The Group’s staff costs decreased by approximately HK$10.19
million or approximately 19.87% compared with the last financial
year. Such decrease was mainly due to downsizing of business
units in secondary tutoring services and dance tuition services
during the Year.

Tutor contractor fee

The Group’s tutor contractor fee decreased by approximately
HK$9.73 million or approximately 43.56% compared with the
last financial year. Such decrease was in line with the decline in
revenue derived from secondary tutoring services.

Lease payments

The Group's lease payments decreased by approximately
HK$16.45 million or approximately 39.17% compared with the
previous year. Such decrease was due to the initial adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) 16 since 1
July 2019 where the lease payments were treated as repayment of
lease liabilities and finance costs.
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Had the impact of HKFRS 16 adoption been excluded for both
years, the amount of lease payments for the Year would have
been approximately HK$31.16 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$10.84 million or approximately 25.81% as
compared with the last financial year. Such decrease was mainly
due to the closure of certain Secondary Tutoring Centres and dance
colleges of the Group during the Year.

Marketing expenses

The Group’s marketing expenses decreased by approximately
HK$2.76 million or approximately 52.45% compared with last year.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction in various
marketing activities during the Year.

Other operating expenses

The Group’s other operating expenses (“Other Operating
Expenses”) were daily operation related and were mainly comprised
of the following:
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Rental related fees and charges (including building HeREER R T

management fee, air conditioning charges and (BREEFEESE T=ABUR
government rent and rates) BT e A & 2= ) 7,147
Sundry expenses MIEMAX 2,718
Repair and maintenance HIERREER 2,355
Related expenses for copiers s ED AR R R 2 1,413
Legal and professional fee FREMEEEA 1,423
Other daily operation related expenses* HtAEEEREmRT 8,144
Total mat 23,200

* Other daily operation related expenses mainly consisted of electricity
and water charges, other interest charges, cleaning charges,
consulting fee, sales commission, printing and stationery, telephone
and fax charges, postage and courier fees, computer expenses and
electronic payment charges.
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For the Year, the Other Operating Expenses decreased by
approximately HK$11.14 million or approximately 32.44%
compared with the previous year. Various operating expenses,
including but not limited to rental related fees and charges,
legal and professional fee, related expenses for copiers, sales
commission, printing and stationery, electricity and water charges,
decreased by approximately HK$13.18 million in total. On the other
hand, repair and maintenance fee and sundry expenses increased
by approximately HK$3.68 million in total. Such increase was
mainly resulted from termination of the tenancy of certain premises
of the Group.

Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$1.52
million during the Year (2019: approximately HK$0.04 million),
in which approximately HK$0.63 million were interest incurred
on other borrowings and approximately HK$0.88 million were
the finance costs recognised on lease liabilities upon the initial
adoption of HKFRS 16 since 1 July 2019.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$107.19 million (2019: loss of approximately
HK$77.44 million), which was mainly due to (i) impairment loss on
goodwill of approximately HK$18.67 million; (i) impairment loss
on other loan receivables of approximately HK$18.25 million; (iii)
impairment loss on a loan receivable of approximately HK$6.57
million; and (iv) loss on change in fair value of financial assets at
FVPL of approximately HK$10.75 million recorded during the Year.
Loss per share was HK$0.20 for the Year (2019: loss per share of
HK$0.14).
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Other loan receivables

Included in the Group’s other loan receivables as at 30 June
2020 are (i) the book value of the Balance Payment (the details
of which are set out under the paragraphs headed “Advance to
an entity” under the section headed “MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS” in this annual report), and (ii) the book value
of the outstanding balance of the convertible bonds (“CB”) issued
by Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (“Larry Jewelry”),
which was unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 7.5% per
annum and matured on 4 September 2019.

In respect of the Balance Payment

As at 30 June 2020, the Balance Payment was in the amount of
HK$28 million. Since the end of the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, Mr. Wong Kui Shing (“Mr. Wong”) has repaid HK$10
million of the Balance Payment. Impairment loss of HK$18 million
in respect of the Balance Payment was recognised during the
Year, details of which are set out under the section headed
“IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES”. Accordingly, the book value of the
Balance Payment amounted to HK$10 million as at 30 June 2020.

The Group has always been able to contact Mr. Wong and has been
in the course of discussing a further revised repayment schedule.
The Directors understand from Mr. Wong that due to the political
issues and social incidents such as occupations, protests and
demonstrations in Hong Kong in the second half of 2019, Mr. Wong
has difficulty to pay the Balance Payment in accordance with the
revised repayment schedule. At that time, the Directors considered
that after these political issues and social incidents, Mr. Wong
would be able to repay the Balance Payment. Unfortunately,
the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 has further affected
Mr. Wong's repayment ability. Therefore, in March 2020, the Group
considered to commence legal proceedings against Mr. Wong.
Such plan was delayed as court services in Hong Kong had been
suspended. With the resumption of court services, the Group is
considering to commence necessary legal actions to recover the
overdue Balance Payment.
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In respect of the outstanding balance of the CB
As at 30 June 2020, the outstanding balance of the CB was in the
amount of approximately HK$2.25 million.

As at the maturity date of the CB on 4 September 2019, the
outstanding sum under the CB amounted to approximately
HK$8.05 million. Shortly after the original maturity date, the parties
agreed on a repayment schedule of CB pursuant to which Larry
Jewelry shall settle the outstanding sum in five instalments with
the last instalment on 31 December 2019. As at 31 December
2019, Larry Jewelry repaid HK$3.50 million and the outstanding
sum amounted to approximately HK$4.55 million. Subsequent to
31 December 2019 and up to the end of the Year, Larry Jewelry
has further repaid HK$2.30 million.

The Company has been using various means to give numerous
reminders to Larry Jewelry to request repayment, including
issuance of statutory demand dated 23 January 2020 by Fastek
Investments Limited (“Fastek”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to Tung Fong Hung Medicine Company
Limited, a subsidiary company of Larry Jewelry, for payment of
debt in an aggregate sum of HK$4.20 million from two returned
cheques incurred on 31 December 2019 which had been drawn
for settlement of the CB. Subsequently to the end of the Year,
on 9 July 2020, a statutory demand was served on Larry Jewelry
by Fastek for repayment of the balance of the CB in the amount
of approximately HK$2.25 million and the default interest of
approximately HK$0.74 million.

Since the end of the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
Larry Jewelry has further repaid HK$2 million of the balance of the
CB. Impairment loss of approximately HK$0.25 million in respect
of the outstanding balance of the CB was recognised during
the Year, details of which are set out under the section headed
“IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES”. Accordingly, the book value of the
outstanding balance of CB amounted to HK$2 million as at 30 June
2020.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

BT HRR RS R EREER
R2020%6 A308 » A #2 Ix & 7 1Y i K B8 4 R 4
2,250,000/ 7T ©

R2019F9A4R AI A REZM B M B - /] B RE =
BY 1= 7K {8 4R 48 %8 498,050,000/ 7T - MR TE B #3 A A~
AR FHSTREARRESHEERER B
EXEABIIHEERNAEERARE KRR BB
2019%F12H31H - R2019F12H31R - B X BAEE
#3,500,0007% 7T i 4 7 18 42 48 88 £94,550,00078 7T °
R2019F12A3IHEREEAFER AXBEAEHE
—#{8182,300,000% 7T

AAR—EFEAZEFARNEXEARLZEENX
BRMIET BEAQFZEEE2ENEQ FFastek
Investments Limited ( [Fastek | ) 5202091 A23H [
BXBEEN—MWBARRAAAEZESRAREL
BMEEERERE ERXINREETRRES MR
2019F12A3IA MMM KR RETZEEANEL S
$#4,200,0007% 7T o A AN F X R 12 1920207 98 -
FastekmE X EARLZET BERKEEBE  EREEM
R E 5 45 52 492,250,0007% 7T &2 38 49 F) 8. 49740,000
ETT

BAFEREREEANFHREN BXEACE—F
188 " AR (& 5 45 #422,000,000/8 7T - B B A AL & 25
1l AN 1B 22 45 84 1O RL(E 5 18 49250,0008 TR A E A
FERR - FEIBEI [ E A 8 W B 3 I o b B WO TR RO R
B — & Bt - R20205F6 A30R - AT iR & %
B 1) A 1852 45 R 10 BR T8 {8 432,000,000/ 7T



OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the business environment for the industry of private
education remains tough as it is uncertain when the COVID-19
pandemic will end. The adverse impacts to the industry of private
education persist. Despite the difficult situation, the Group is
flexibly adjusting its business strategies in order to strengthen the
core businesses. In view of the decreasing DSE student numbers
and the high rent situation in Hong Kong, it is believed that the
closure of the Secondary Tutoring Centres as a result of a revised
and decisive business strategy will benefit the Group in the long
term.

The COVID-19 pandemic has presented an opportunity for the
Group to accelerate its endeavour in exploring the transition from
the traditional face-to-face classroom teaching to online classes.
The Group is actively managing the drastic change by focusing
and strengthening its online services for long term sustainability.
The Group remains confident in the demand for private education
in Hong Kong. The secondary and primary tutoring services,
which are provided through the brands of “Modern Education”
(AR #BE)and “Modern Bachelor Education” (IR /s £
+), continuously serve as the key income drivers of the Group.
Especially for the primary tutoring service, the Group will continue
to explore more new potential franchisees and seek opportunities to
expand its presence to better serve the demand for primary tuition.

In addition, the Group’s management team will make dedicated
efforts to explore potential education-related business partners
for business collaboration and to seek for potential merger and
acquisition opportunities in both Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China for business diversification in order to maximize
returns to the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has established an appropriate liquidity risk
management system to manage its short, medium and long-term
funding and to satisfy its liquidity management requirements.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s total balance of cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$5.44 million (30 June
2019: approximately HK$6.84 million), of which 98.64% is held in
Hong Kong dollars and 1.36% is held in Renminbi. Current ratio
(defined as total current assets divided by total current liabilities)
was 2.99 times (30 June 2019: 5.26 times).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREHRR AR

As at 30 June 2020, other borrowings of the Group from
independent third parties amounted to approximately HK$7.82
million held in Hong Kong dollars were unsecured, repayable within
one year and carried a fixed interest rate at 12% per annum.

As at 30 June 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group was 28.20%
(30 June 2019: 14.03%). Gearing ratio is total debts divided by
the sum of total equity and total debts. Total debts refer to total
liabilities minus the sum of tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and
dividend payable (if any).

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON OTHER LOAN
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

For the Year, impairment loss on other loan receivables consisted
of impairment loss of HK$18 million in respect of the Balance
Payment and approximately HK$0.25 million in respect of the
outstanding balance of the CB.

Impairment loss on other receivables for the Year consisted of
reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$2.49 million
relating to provision of private educational services, impairment loss
of approximately HK$3.12 million in respect of the interest accrued
on the Balance Payment and impairment loss of approximately
HK$0.73 million in respect of the default interest accrued on the
balance of the CB.

Impairment loss on the Balance Payment and the balance of CB,
and the respective outstanding interest was recognised during the
Year in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy based on
the expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment required under the
HKFRS 9 applied by the Group.

In determining the ECLs of other loan receivables and other
receivables, the recoverability of these receivables was assessed by
the management taking into account the credit quality, likelihood
of their collection and the past settlement history and records.
For the Balance Payment of HK$18 million, the balance of CB
of approximately HK$0.25 million and their respective interest
receivable of approximately HK$3.12 million and approximately
HK$0.73 million, the Directors considered that the recovery of
the unsettled balances were remote and impairment losses were
recognised during the Year.
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IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL

For the Year, impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$18.67 million in respect of a cash-generating unit of dance
tuition services (“CGU") was recognised by reference to valuations
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer. The
assessment of the recoverability of goodwill is based on the future
business prospects and the forecast business performance of the
business.

The recoverable amount of CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculation using discounted cash flow method
under the income approach. The calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average growth rate.
Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which included budgeted
revenue, such estimation is based on the CGU’s past performance
and management’s expectations for the market development
including the fluctuation in dance tuition services business in
the current economic environment in Hong Kong. The Directors
believe that any adverse change in the assumptions used in the
calculation of the recoverable amount of the CGU would result in
the impairment loss.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group consistently employed a prudent treasury policy during
its development and generally financed its operations and business
development with internally generated resources and equity and/
or debt financing activities. The Group also adopted flexible and
prudent fiscal policies to effectively manage the Group’s assets and
liabilities and strengthen its financial position.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and as such the impact of foreign exchange
exposure of the Group was considered minimal. Hence, no hedging
or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk have been
implemented.

Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR iRk

2 O 0

RAFE SZERERENESELEM (REeEL
B eEE 2 REREEL18,670,000/ 7T JhE 2
EZBEUAERNEEGEMELNGEETIARER - B
BRI O] 1 B RS TOAR B L IS O R R E TS AT == M TR
BIEFERIHETT

ReELBMMARESEIMERBAETHRR
EREEREABEFEEE -ZAETEERER
EEEMENTEFERH M BREFELNRSR
BN - AFHRNORSREVER G NEFHE
RXHEZ - FRAEBEEFENEAIERRERSAA
St (BREEERA) BEETER - ZEDENRR
TELEMMNAERANEEBHTHERNEAY
(BREEARERBEBEETEZMKERETHRK
H) EXRRTERSELBEUNTTRESEMRE
PR ER AT TN B B S S BORE R 18

REEMEEHRE

AEENEEROFAE —EXRNEEROEHBEK —
MRARNBELERAEBEAL,REHBEESHR/E
BENEBRRRERES AKETRAREEERN
MBBER  WARMERAEENEENMB BN
58 7N 5% [ # B A5 R0 ©

b B R, B

AEBHRARAXETENETEE ARt AEER
RONERBRFZEBE B WEBBE T EM L
BEABEE R R -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis
EREHRR AR

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had a total of 136 employees
(30 June 2019: 216 employees). They receive competitive
remuneration packages that are constantly monitored with
reference to the market circumstances, with incentives such
as discretionary bonuses based on the Group’s and individual
performance. The Group provides comprehensive benefits
packages and career development opportunities. In-house and
external training programmes are provided as and when required.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
11 June 2011 (“Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant
options to eligible persons, including employees and Directors, to
subscribe for shares of the Company. During the Year, no share
options have been granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, there was no capital commitments
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group had neither pledged any assets nor any general banking
facility as at 30 June 2020 and 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Year, the Group had no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Advance to an entity

On 7 September 2018, Rosy Lane Investments Limited (“Rosy
Lane”, as vendor), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a loan disposal agreement (“Loan Disposal
Agreement”) with Mr. Wong, as purchaser, pursuant to which Rosy
Lane has conditionally agreed to sell and assign, and Mr. Wong
has conditionally agreed to purchase and be assigned, Rosy Lane's
rights, titles, benefits and interests in and to a loan (including the
aggregate outstanding principal sum and the interests accrued
thereon in the amount of approximately HK$54.48 million owing by
Mr. Poon Chun Yin (“Mr. Poon”) to Rosy Lane as at 7 September
2018, the promissory note issued by Mr. Poon (as debtor) to Rosy
Lane dated 30 December 2016 and the share mortgage (executed
in favour of Rosy Lane over the shares of Seasoned Leader Limited)
at the consideration of HK$48 million. Completion of the loan
disposal took place on 17 September 2018 and the Group has
ceased to have any interest in the said loan. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 7 September 2018 and
10 September 2018 for further details of the loan disposal.

Pursuant to the unsecured promissory note issued by Mr. Wong
to Rosy Lane pursuant to the Loan Disposal Agreement,
Mr. Wong shall pay the balance of consideration in the amount
of HK$43 million (“Balance Payment”) to Rosy Lane in three
instalments in accordance with the following schedule:

HK$15 million repayable on or before 17 December 2018
HK$15 million repayable on or before 18 March 2019
HK$13 million repayable on or before 17 June 2019

Such promissory note is unsecured but interest is chargeable on
the Balance Payment at the interest rate of 10% per annum and
repayable on 17 June 2019.

On 31 August 2019, Mr. Wong settled the first instalment of the
Balance Payment in the amount of HK$15 million. As at 30 June
2020, the balance of HK$28 million and interest accrued was
still outstanding and exceeded 8% of the audited total assets of
the Group as at 30 June 2020. Subsequent to the end of the
Year, Mr. Wong has settled the Balance Payment in the amount
of HK$10 million and as at the date of this annual report, the
outstanding Balance Payment amounts to HK$18 million.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 30 June 2020, the
Group did not have any other plans for material investment or
capital assets.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

ESREHREREBRERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, aged 33, is an executive Director. Mr. Tsang was
appointed as an executive Director on 24 October 2017. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Tsang obtained
a Bachelor of Economics and Finance Degree from The University
of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr. Tsang has been a senior manager of
a publisher of a newspaper focusing on finance and investments
news since 2015.

Mr. Wong King Hoi, aged 33, is an executive Director. Mr. Wong
was appointed as an executive Director on 10 November 2017.
Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Nursing degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 2011. Mr. Wong was the president
of a newspaper in Hong Kong which focused on finance and
investments from 2015 to 2017 and is currently a financial
columnist in various newspapers and magazines in Hong Kong.
Mr. Wong has over 12 years of experience in the investment sector.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 November 2017.
Ms. Jor obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) degree and
a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Auckland,
New Zealand in 2005. Ms. Jor is qualified as a Chartered Financial
Analyst of the CFA Institute and as a Chartered Accountant of the
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. Ms. Jor has
over 14 years of experience in the accounting and finance sector,
in particular, corporate finance and financial advisory services.

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 19 January 2018.
Mr. Leung obtained a Master of Commerce degree from Macquarie
University, Australia and a Bachelor of Business (Accounting)
degree from the Central Queensland University, Australia in 1999
and 1998 respectively. Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
Mr. Leung has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and
finance sector, in particular, internal control and corporate financial
management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Fenn David, aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 May 2018. Mr. Fenn obtained his
bachelor of laws degree with honours from The University of
Hong Kong in December 2002. He was awarded the postgraduate
certificate in laws by The University of Hong Kong in June 2003.
Mr. Fenn further obtained a master of laws degree in banking and
finance from University College London, University of London in
the United Kingdom in November 2006. Mr. Fenn was admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 2005 and is specialised in
the field of securities compliance, disputes resolution, winding-up
and restructuring. He was appointed as an adjudicator of the
Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong from November
2013 to October 2019 and is a disciplinary panel member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
February 2016 and a member of the Appeal Panel (Housing) of the
Transport and Housing Bureau of Hong Kong since April 2017. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of Stream Ideas
Group Limited (stock code: 8401) and Sun Kong Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8631), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip, aged 46, joined the Group in November
2017. He is currently the financial controller and the company
secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales, Australia. Mr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
Mr. Lam has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and
finance sector, in particular, financial advisory services.
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Report of the Directors

EF8BWHRES

The directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong Education (Int’l)
Investments Limited (“Company”) present the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020
(“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries as of
30 June 2020 are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year, the material
factors underlying its financial performance, and the outlook of
the business of the Company can be found in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
These discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties related to the business of the
Group are as below:

Sourcing risk

The Group depends on its tutors to provide tutoring services
to its students who look for quality test-taking skills, unique
complementary teaching methods and stable tutor-student
relationship. The service contracts of the Group’s tutors with
the Group may not be renewed upon expiry. The business may
be adversely affected if the Group is unable to recruit other
experienced tutors or retain the existing tutors to provide the
tutoring services. The Group will keep searching new quality tutors
to join us in order to reduce the concentration of revenue generated
from our existing tutors who receive the highest tutor contractor
fees.
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Business interruption risk

The Group rents education centres for its business to provide
tutoring services to students. Renewal of leases of education
centres at reasonable price is important for stable development
of the business. The leases may not be renewed upon expiry and
relocation of education centres may be needed. The business may
be adversely affected if the Group is unable to maintain the existing
education centres or to find suitable locations for new education
centres. The Group will renew such leases or licences situated
in prime locations in a timely manner before their expiration and
maintain an updated portfolio of potential premises as back up
options in order to minimise the adverse effect on business re-
location.

Competitor risk

The industry in which the Group operates is in fierce competition.
Decrease in the number of students and increase of small-
scale tutoring centres in the market have intensified the market
competition. The Group also faces significant competition in major
programmes offered and geographical locations operated by its
competitors. If the Group fails to retain and attract students, the
market share may drop and the profitability may be adversely
affected. The Group will enhance its competitive advantage through
maintaining of a high-quality teaching team and a good brand
image continuously in order to keep and further increase its market
share.

Infringement risk

Protection of intellectual property rights is of great significance
in society and to the Group’s business. Generally, the laws and
regulations affecting the Group include the Trade Marks Ordinance
(Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“HK Laws”) (“Trade
Marks Ordinance”)) and Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of
the HK Laws (“Copyright Ordinance”)). Violation of such laws and
regulations may expose the Group to litigation risks, which will
adversely affect the financial position as well as the brand image of
the Group. The Group will stay alert to the relevant legal issues and
update its internal policies when necessary to avoid any breach of
the regulatory requirements.
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Report of the Directors
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Health risk

The outbreak of the coronavirus disease 2019 in Hong Kong
severely affects the Group’s operating environment as students are
refrained from attending classes at the Group’s education centres.
The education centres shall be mandatorily suspended by the
Education Bureau’s order and voluntarily suspended if any infected
case is found among students, tutors and staff for thorough
cleaning. The Group’s business operation will be interrupted if
offices and education centres are closed. In order to protect our
students, tutors and staff, several measures are taken to combat
pandemic, such as measuring body temperature before entering
the offices and education centres, setting hygiene guidelines and
instructions to remind staff and help them develop better hygiene
habit, delegating helpers to clean offices and education centres
additionally, and procuring and maintaining sufficient stock of
surgical masks and cleaning products. The Group will stay alert to
the updated situation and adopt appropriate measures in order to
avoid spread of pandemic at our offices and education centres.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group are shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to long-term environmental sustainability.
We strive to encourage higher environmental protection awareness
at our offices and education centres by promoting the culture
to consume electricity and natural resources wisely among our
employees. The Group also commits to the principle and practice
of recycling and reduction. The Group implements green office
practices such as encouraging the use of recycled paper for
printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying, reducing
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings, air-conditioning
and electronic and electrical appliances.

The Group will continually review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance
considerations into operational processes. The Group also promotes
green awareness amongst and maintains dialogue with employees
and business partners. The Group is determined to improve
environmental performance of the daily business operations
towards establishing a sustainable environment.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and has taken measures to minimise the risk of
non-compliance with such requirements which may otherwise lead
to adverse impact on business operation and financial position of
the Group. The Group has on-going review on the newly enacted
laws and regulations and has established various management
systems and measures such as internal control procedures and
staff training. The Group constantly monitors the operation of
its business to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

On the corporate level, the Group has complied with the
requirements under the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) including the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) under
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the HK Laws) (“SFQ"), relating to, among others,
disclosure of information, dealings in securities, and corporate
governance.

On the operational level, the Group has complied with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the HK Laws)
and the guidelines recommended by the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data when collecting and processing
data from students. The Group has also paid attention to the
Copyright Ordinance when preparing and delivering teaching
materials. Besides, the Group has complied with the Education
Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the HK Laws) in application of
applicable certificates for running education centres and the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the HK Laws) in
preparation and publication of advertisement.
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On the human resources level, the Group has abided by the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the HK Laws), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the HK Laws),
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the HK Laws),
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the HK Laws), equal opportunity legislations (including Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the HK Laws), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the HK Laws), Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of the HK Laws) and
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the HK Laws)) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the HK
Laws) to safeguard the health, safety, interests and benefits of the
Group’s employees. Details of the Group’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations are set out in the environmental, social and
governance report (“ESG Report”) which is set out on pages 60 to
90 of this annual report.

To the best of knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed in the
ESG Report, the Group has complied in all material aspects with
relevant laws and regulations, that have a significant impact on the
Group during the Year. The Group is not aware of any other material
breach or non-compliance with the laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers

(a) Employees

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of the employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard. The Group
is also passionately committed to developing the staff and
provides them with rewarding career paths and people-friendly
working environment.

(b) Customers

The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability in
providing quality services to our customers. To ensure
continuous improvement of the quality of services, the Group
regularly reviews its teaching materials in order to meet the
students’ demand and the market trend. The Group believes
that maintaining good relationship with students can help
strengthen its market competitiveness in the industry.
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(c) Suppliers
The Group understands the importance to work closely
with our suppliers (who are mainly our tutors) to ensure the
sustainability of our business. The Group has established long
standing relationships with our suppliers and ensure they
share our commitment to quality and ethics.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s operation for the Year by business
activities is set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements and the paragraphs headed “Business Review” under
of this

the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis”

annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 103 to 104 of this annual report.

The board of the Company (“Board”) does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Year (2019: nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 240 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$23,688 (2019: HK$31,950).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the shares of the
Company (“Shares”). If the Shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing
in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are
advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 108 of this annual report and the
statement of financial position of the Company in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in Note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Income from the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
contributed to less than 30% of the Group’s total income during the
Year.

During the Year, tutor contractor fee paid/payable to the Group’s
top five tutors, who entered into service contracts with the Group,
accounted for 64.17% of the Group’s total tutor contractor fee for
the Year (2019: 56.47%), and tutor contractor fee paid/payable to
the Group’s topmost tutor accounted for 32.21% of the Group’s
total tutor contractor fee for the Year (2019: 27.02%). None of the
Directors, their close associates as well as substantial Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) was anyone out of such top five
tutors (2019: none).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

BEMER

AR Z AR ([2EAR]) kB REHNEPIIE
TAEBRANRRBRUEAIRAARBIRABRER (15
RDE2HENWRONEEBEEKRN -

RARE

ARBLE T HMBRRAFEARARBA ([BH]) M
AEEARARR - WRREER K6 HE -BE
SITEEFNEBERD CEMNNRGEERR REE
A B R

ik i

AEERARARAFEERNNREESFED RIER
AERFEIVANG A RER IR LGS P ERERHM
EZZEIRN/NIEY Py O

] # 53 I 5 1

ARBRAFREANAHDKEBERZBFEHREE
B H5 R K544 -

FEERRMUER

REAKREAAREFPHRAGRERARERAEER
B A B 30% ©

RAFER Bt/ EBAAEEEAREM (Z5E
MEEAEETIRESN)NEMADBEASER
RANFE AW G RN R B B FEM64.17% (20195
56.47% )+ MEAN,/ BN EE Y 2 EMA BRI AR
ELWASERAFEANEMASBAREN3221%
(20194 :27.02% ) - I BEEE - HEFTHBEAURE
ERF(BESHAEEARADBEITRAS% L)
AZEERZEMP AT AL (2019F &) -



Contracts with the other five largest suppliers of the Group,
excluding the independent tutors, combined by values which are
not of a capital nature, contributed to less than 30% of the total
value of supplies purchased by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai

Mr. Wong King Hoi

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffery (resigned with effect from
24 February 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James
Mr. Fenn David

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“Annual General Meeting”), one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years and the retiring
Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Mr. Leung Ki Chi James
and Mr. Fenn David will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received from each of Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung
Ki Chi James and Mr. Fenn David an annual confirmation of
independence. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of such Directors to be independent.

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

AEBEEEMAANEER (TEEBLEM)NEL

EBEAE (FEXR

HEEREERAFEAMRE

EmBEETE30% -

EE

RAFERARRAFRAL - EFMT

EMEB LA (FRA2020%F2 A24 B B T)

BIAFRITES:

ERRL L
REBRE
BRELLE

RIEARMAAEMG RARFEERRBEAR
(TRRBFAG L =02 H#EER (IMEF
ABA =2 FE RREOETIR=ZDZ—HH
B)RWERE EEBUEFHAELE=FRIE—
R-MEEEEHANTAERBREET - REE L
KeEREERNEERRESF KNS LRE HNE
BRI RS B R B

BIUFRITEEZH/IM

R LRSS
REBFELENER

13 ARARERI LA L
BEESBREBIL M FLHF

FHERK - REZSFHRL ARARRZEEEY

BB AL

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

35



36

Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into either a service contract or a

letter of appointment with the Company as follows.

Name

4]

Contract type
Lk

EFENRBEH

Directorship term

EEEN

BRERCDHEARABF LA TRES KB ERMS -

Prior notice of
termination

BIEZEREHN

Mr. Tsang Ka Wai

ERERE

Mr. Wong King Hoi

=HEEE

Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee

LRkt

Mr. Leung Ki Chi James

REBERE

Mr. Fenn David

BRELE

Service contract

RiEEH

Service contract

R#BEH

Letter of appointment

ZER M

Letter of appointment

EERH

Letter of appointment

ZERM

Fixed term of three years commenced on
24 QOctober 2017
B2017F10A24R T EEHR A=

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 November 2017
B2017411A10B st A BRA=F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 November 2017
B2017411A10B AT HRA=F

Fixed term of three years commenced on
19 January 2018
B2018F1A19R BETEE SR A =45

Fixed term of three years commenced on
10 May 2018
B201865R 10A R ETHRA=F
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These appointments are subject to directors’ retirement from
office and retirement by rotation under the Bye-laws. None of
the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has entered into a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 26 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
an existing or a former Director or an entity connected with such
Director had a material interest, directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the Year, nor was there any contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the share option scheme of the Company (“Share Option
Scheme”) disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the Year or at the end of the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate, nor had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ OR OTHER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2020, there was no any other person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into by the Company or subsisted during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director is, subject to the provisions of the applicable laws,
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their offices
pursuant to the Bye-laws. The relevant Bye-law was in force during
the Year and as at the date of this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY OF THE GROUP

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence, and comparable market statistics. The Directors’ fees
and other emoluments shall be determined by the Remuneration
Committee, with the delegated responsibility, with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results
of the Group. The employees and directors of the Group may be
rewarded with share options for the securities of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme as detailed in the section headed
“EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - Share option scheme” below.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed below, during the Year the Company has not
entered into, or there has not subsisted at the end of the Year,
any other equity-linked agreement (as defined in section 6 of the
Companies (Director’'s Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the HK
Laws)).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a
resolution passed on 11 June 2011 so as to attract and retain the
best available personnel and to provide additional incentive to the
eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme. Pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme, the Board is authorised, at its absolute
discretion and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to
grant options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (in such
form then existing and subject to adjustment) to any employees
(full-time or part-time), directors, consultants, supplier(s),
customer(s), joint venture partner(s), business associate(s) and
advisor(s) of the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 4 July 2011
(“Effective Date”) and expiring on the business day immediately
preceding the 10th anniversary of the adoption date of the Share
Option Scheme, i.e. 10 June 2021.
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An offer for the grant of options, which may specify the minimum
period for which the options must be held before they can be
exercised, must be accepted within 21 days inclusive of the day on
which such offer is made. The amount payable for the grant of an
option by the grantee to the Company on acceptance of the offer
is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a share of the Company in
respect of any particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of grant of the option.

The initial total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the
Effective Date. The Company may at any time refresh such limit,
subject to the Shareholders’ approval and issue of a circular in
compliance with the Listing Rules, provided that the total number
of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company then in issue unless approved by the Shareholders
in accordance with the Listing Rules.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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During the Year, no share has been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of securities available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 54,757,088 Shares of
HK$0.05 each, which represented 9.42% of the issued Shares.
As at 1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020, there was no share option
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme and details of
movements in the share options are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the Year are set out in Note
41 to the consolidated financial statements and none of these
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group are set out in Note 43
to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events occurring after the end of the Year
of the Group are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (“CG Code”) as its own corporate governance
code. During the Year, the Company has complied with all the
provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules except for the
deviations as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report which
is set out on pages 43 to 59 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules during the Year and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2020 were audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”)
who will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Baker Tilly as auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Baker Tilly have been appointed as the auditors of the Company
with effect from 23 May 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which took
effect from 23 May 2018. Save for the above, there has been
no other change in the auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Tsang Ka Wai
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 September 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”) is committed
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within
a sensible framework with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is essential to the
success of the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) and the
enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions of the corporate governance code set out in Appendix 14
(“CG Code”) to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) as its own corporate governance code. During the year
ended 30 June 2020 (“Year”), the Company has complied with all
the provisions of the CG Code and the Listing Rules except for the
deviations as disclosed in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors (“Code of
Conduct”). Having made specific enquiries of the Directors, each
of the Directors confirmed his/her compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
members, two of whom are executive Directors, namely Mr. Tsang
Ka Wai and Mr. Wong King Hoi. The other three members are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Jor Stephanie
Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and Mr. Fenn David.

During the Year, Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey served as an executive
Director until his resignation which took effect on 24 February
2020.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profiles
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 26 to 27 of this
annual report.
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Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performance. The Board has established various
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith
and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders (“Shareholders”) as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflicts of interest), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
During the Year, five Board meetings were held to perform the

above-mentioned duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”), to ensure that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each Director
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request to
the Board.

Management functions

While the Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction and
governance by considering and approving the Group’s strategies,
policies and business plan, the functions of implementing the
approved strategy and policies as well as managing the day-to-day
operations and administration are delegated to the executive
management. The functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed by the Board.

Appointments of the Directors are subject to retirement from office
and retirement by rotation under the bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws”) and the CG Code.
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In accordance with the CG Code, any new Director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after the appointment, and according to the
Bye-laws, any new Director appointed as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, at every annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors (or, if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director is eligible for re-election at that general meeting.

Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG Code provides that appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against directors should
be arranged. Currently, the Company does not have insurance
cover for legal action against its Directors. However, every Director
is, subject to the provisions of the applicable laws, indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of their duty in their offices pursuant to
the Bye-laws. In view of the above, the Board considers that the
Directors’ exposure to risk is manageable and that benefits to be
derived from taking out insurance may not outweigh the cost.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the Year, all of the
Directors received regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments of the Group’s business and the legislative and
regulatory environments in which the Group operates. All Directors
were also encouraged to attend relevant training courses. Effective
from September 2012, all Directors are required to provide the
Company with his or her training record on a yearly basis. During
the Year, each of the existing Directors, Mr. Tsang Ka Wai, Mr. Wong
King Hoi, Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee, Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and
Mr. Fenn David participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by ways of attending training or reading
materials relevant to the Company’s business, amendments on
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Hong Kong Laws) and
the Listing Rules, or directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the chief executive officer of the Company and
the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) have been vacated since
9 November 2017 and 19 December 2017 respectively and remain
vacated as at the date of this annual report, which constitutes
deviation from Code Provision A.2 of the CG Code, as the Company
has not been able to identify suitable candidates for the positions.

Since 19 December 2017 when the position of the Chairman has
remained vacated, to facilitate discussion of all key and appropriate
issues by the Board in a timely manner, the executive Directors
have actively co-ordinated with the senior management of the
Company to provide adequate, complete and reliable information to
all Directors for consideration and review.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has during the Year met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third of the
Board with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise under the CG Code. All
independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific
term of three years.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received a written annual confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors during the Year. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yick Tung Philip was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 21 December 2017 and is responsible for facilitating the Board
processes, as well as communications among Board members,
with Shareholders and management. During the Year, Mr. Lam has
taken not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEEE

As at the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company comprises
one executive Director and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Fenn David and Mr. Tsang Ka Wai.

Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey was a member of the Remuneration
Committee until his resignation as an executive Director with effect
from 24 February 2020. Mr. Tsang Ka Wai was then appointed as a
member of the Remuneration Committee in place of Mr. Yip Chung
Yin Jeffrey on 24 February 2020.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on
such remuneration; (ii) determining the remuneration packages
of all individual executive Directors and the senior management
and making recommendations to the Board of the remuneration
of non-executive Directors; and (iii) reviewing and approving
compensation payable to the executive Directors and the senior
management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the relevant contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive.

Directors’ remuneration policy

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
to review the remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and assessed the
performance of the executive Directors in accordance with the
Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference. The
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management are determined by the Remuneration Committee,
with the delegated responsibility, with reference to the duties,
responsibilities and performance of such executive Directors or
members of senior management and the results of the Group.
No executive Director can be involved in deciding his or her own
remuneration.
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The annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by bands for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands

i 48 B

RAFE  REFNE D 2= REREKE 2 FEFH M
I

Number of Individual

AR

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company comprises one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Fenn David (chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai and Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee.

The major functions of the Nomination Committee are to assist the
Board to identify suitable individuals qualified to become Board
members, assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, propose appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and their succession planning, review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) with effect from 1 September 2013. The Company
continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance and
recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity in the Board.
A diversity of perspectives can be achieved through engaging
directors in possession of diversified skills, regional and industry
experience, educational background, race, gender and other
qualities, etc. The composition, experience and balance of skills
of the Board are regularly reviewed to ensure that the Board
retains a core of members with longstanding knowledge of the
Group alongside new Director(s) appointed from time to time who
bring fresh perspectives and diverse experience to the Board. The
Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, with
due regard to the Board Diversity Policy. The Board will continue
to review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its continued
effectiveness on an annual basis.

Director Nomination Policy

In December 2018, the Board has adopted a director nomination
policy (“Director Nomination Policy”), which serves to improve
the transparency of the process and criteria in selecting and
recommending candidates as Directors. Under the Director
Nomination Policy, Board appointments will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective criteria
including their academic background, qualifications, skills and
knowledge, character and integrity, willingness and capacity
to devote commitment on discharging a director’'s duties, and
compliance with the criteria of independence under the Listing
Rules, if applicable. Where a candidate is proposed to be appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, his/her independence
will be assessed in accordance with, among others, the factors as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Code Provisions A.4.3 and
A.5.5, and recommended best practice A.3.3 of the CG Code, as
applicable. In the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors,
the Nomination Committee shall review the candidate’'s overall
contribution and performance, including attendance of Board
committees, Board and general meetings, and level of participation
and performance on the Board, and make recommendations to the
Board for consideration and to the Shareholders for re-election at
the general meetings.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, and
review the arrangement for re-election of all the retiring Directors
at the forthcoming general meeting of the Company, the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee and the Director
Nomination Policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEEE

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Leung Ki Chi James and
Mr. Fenn David. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board by providing an independent review of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control
and risk management systems of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as

assigned by the Board.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review
the annual and interim results of the Group and terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, and make recommendations to the Board
and the management in respect of the Group’s financial reporting
and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the Group's significant
internal controls and financial matters in accordance with
the Audit Committee’s written terms of reference and made
relevant recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee’s
review covered the audit scope and findings, external auditor's
independence and performance, the Group’s accounting principles
and practices, the Listing Rules and statutory compliance,
connected transactions, internal controls, risk management,
financial reporting matters (including the interim and annual
results for the Board’'s approval) and the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function as well as their training

programmes and budget.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference equivalent
to Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the
corporate governance policies of the Company were reviewed by
the Board. The Board also reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior
management, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
disclosure in this corporate governance report and the policy on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

The attendance of the existing and former Directors at the general
meeting of the Company, meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee during the Year are set out below:
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Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai BREEE n 00 5/5 NIAT iR NIAT R n
Note (1)
M)
Mr. Wong King Hoi LGl 1 000 55 NAT P NATER NATEF
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey (Resigned with £ %4 (520006 n 00 2P NIAT iR 1 NIAT iR
effect from 24 Feburary 2020) 2A24AEET) ot 2 ot (1)
Kt #izt)
Independent non-executive Directors BIFRTES
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee it s n 00 55 202 1n n
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James PHBREAE 1 0/0 55 202 NIATE A NIAT &
Mr. Fenn David PEERE 171 0/0 515 212 171 n
Note: Bzt
(1) Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey ceased to be a member of the (1) EEBLAER2020F2A248 B THAFMNEZE S
Remuneration Committee with effect from 24 February 2020. B o BRELEN2020F2A24BEZ X AT HEE S
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai was appointed as a member of the Remuneration ME -RAFENRN HMEEL2mN202062 7248
Committee on 24 February 2020. The meeting of the Remuneration AT o

Committee during the Year was held prior to 24 February 2020.

(2)  Two Board meetings were held during the tenure of Mr. Yip Chung Yin
Jeffrey in the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year. The
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of
the Group on a going concern basis, and have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, with applicable
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and pursuant to the
relevant statutory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”), are set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 91 to
102 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group which are designed to manage
and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and the review of their effectiveness.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covers financial,
operational, compliance procedural and risk management
functions, and considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. The
Board concluded that the risk management and internal control
systems are adequate and effective.

Main features of risk management and internal control
systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
monitor the identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of
risks, the continuous updating of risk responses for the key risks
identified to ensure the effectiveness of the mitigation procedures
are in place. Furthermore, a risk matrix approach is adopted to
determine the significance of the risk after evaluation of the risk
in accordance with the likelihood and impact of the risk event
identified.
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While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
sound and effective internal controls are maintained, the
management is responsible for designing and implementing
internal control systems to manage all kinds of risks faced by the
Group. The operating units and support functions are facilitated
and coordinated by the management, which ensures that risk
management processes and mitigation plans follow good practices
and guidelines established in their day-to-day operations.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems is evaluated
at least annually to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of events that could
influence the achievement of the Group’s business objectives.
The Group identifies outside and inside events by reviewing its
external and internal environment and stakeholders, which have an
influence or potential influence on the Group’s ability to achieve its
strategy and business objectives.

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk matrix which prioritises
risks according to the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. Following the review of the risk matrix, the
Group selects and deploys the corresponding risk responses and
investigates the mitigation procedures to be executed to ensure the
identified significant risks were managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal
audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs. The Board
continues to review the need for an internal audit function annually.
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During the Year, an independent consultant (“Consultant”) was
engaged to perform a review on the risk management and internal
control systems. The Consultant has reported findings and areas
for improvement to the Board and management. The Board and
management are of the view that no material defeats are noted in
the Group's risk management and internal control systems. The
recommendations from the Consultant are properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group's risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and no
significant control failings or weaknesses was identified for the Year.

Inside information policy

The Group has established policies for the handling and
dissemination of inside information for purposes of strengthening
the confidentiality of inside information, maintaining the fairness of
information disclosure and protecting the legal interests and rights
of the investors. The Group is in compliance with Part XIVA and
relevant parts of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Hong Kong Laws) and the Listing Rules. The Group
has reasonable measures on keeping the sensitive information
confidential and ensures that the inside information of the Group
is disseminated to the public timely, completely and accurately.
In addition, each personnel is granted a specific level of access
to the price sensitive and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with the latest regulatory
updates.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors,
Baker Tilly, for their audit services for the Year was HK$690,000.
Baker Tilly did not perform any non-audit services during the Year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company maintains a two-way communication channel to
report the performance of the Company to the Shareholders
and investors. Annual reports, accounts and interim reports
containing full details of the Company’s activities are despatched
to the Shareholders and investors. Such reports and other
announcements of the Company can be accessed on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

To ensure disclosures are made to the Shareholders and investors
effectively, and to ensure that the same information is made
available to the public at the same time, price sensitive information
is released in the form of official announcements in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with the Shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages the Shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered
Shareholders. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting.

A proxy form for use at a general meeting of the Company is
enclosed with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are
unable to be present at the meeting should fill out the form and
return the same to the branch share registrar and transfer office
of the Company in Hong Kong, so as to appoint a representative,
another Shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as their proxy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Act”) and applicable
legislation and regulation.

1. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in
each year. General meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called a special general meeting and may
be held in any part of the world as may be determined by the
Board.

2. Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Company’s registered office or head
office in Hong Kong at Room 1003A, 10/F, Exchange Tower,
33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
for the attention to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with
the Act.

3. The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of the requisitionists. The requisition will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the
Company will ask the Board to convene a special general
meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a special general meeting will not
be convened as requested.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals BREHEROERF
The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, THRFEZAQNR ZARMA - RalE MERERE
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation. EIRPTARR o

Either (i) the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of those Shareholders having the right
to vote at such meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
Shareholders, at the expenses of the Shareholders concerned,
can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at a
general meeting or a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting.

The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionists
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office
or head office in Hong Kong at Room 1003A, 10/F, Exchange
Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, not less
than six weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week in
the case of any other requisition.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for the
annual general meeting; or (ii) convene a special general
meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders,
provided that the requisitionists concerned have deposited a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Act and applicable legislation and regulation.

If a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person (“Candidate”) to
stand for election as a Director at the general meeting, documents
including, (i) a written notice signed by the concerned Shareholder
expressing his/her intention to propose the Candidate for election
as a Director at the general meeting; (i) a written notice signed
by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected,
together with the Candidate’s biographical details as required to
be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the
Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal
data, must be validly lodged at the Company’s registered office
or head office in Hong Kong at Room 1003A, 10/F, Exchange
Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or
at Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong within the period
specified in the Bye-laws (the period for lodgment of such notices
shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting).

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a Candidate
for election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www.hkeduii.com.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Specific enquiries by the Shareholders requiring the Board's
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at
the Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Room 1003A,
10/F, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. Other general enquiries can be directed to the
Company through those communication channels as shown on the
Company’s website at www.hkeduii.com.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)
which allows the Shareholders to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth.
Declaration of dividends is subject to any restrictions under the
Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The Company may declare dividends from time to time
depending on the following factors:

(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iii) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iv) the Group'’s liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Hong Kong
Education” or “Company”) is one of the services provider of
chained educational services in Hong Kong which is listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”). The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of quality
educational services for students of different age groups and
different needs.

The Group’s educational services include the provision of
1) secondary tutoring services, English language training and test
preparation courses, 2) primary tutoring services, skill courses
and test preparation courses, as well as 3) dance tuition services,
allowing students to be equipped with knowledge and techniques
for the examinations.

As of 30 June 2020, the Group had 1 learning centre operated
under the brand of “Modern Education (RR#%E) ",
7 directly-owned education centres and 37 franchised centres
operated under the brand of “Modern Bachelor Education (3R
/NE+) " and 1 professional dance college under the brand of
“Shelly Lo Jazz & Ballet School ( Bi&ME EHE T HEEK) "

In addition to the provision of private educational services, the
Group also engages in the segments of investment in securities and
money lending.

Hong Kong Education will continue to provide quality classes by
recruiting experienced and qualified tutors, and identify potential
opportunities for different business segments to enrich the existing
cooperation and explore new business relationships.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The aim of this environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
report is to allow stakeholders to gain a better understanding
on the Group's policies, measures and performance regarding
sustainability issues. This bilingual report can be viewed and
downloaded from the websites of the Company (www.hkeduii.com)
and the Stock Exchange respectively.

Reporting scope

This report focuses on the Group’s core business in the provision
of private educational services during the financial year from 1 July
2019 to 30 June 2020 (“Reporting Year”). The reporting scope
covers the ESG performances of the operation of headquarter
office, the learning centres under Modern Education (“MEHK"),
directly-owned education centres under Modern Bachelor
Education (“MBE”) and professional dance colleges in Hong Kong.

Reporting standard and principles

This report is prepared in accordance with the “comply or explain”
provisions of Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) contained in Appendix 27 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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The Group adheres to the four fundamental reporting principles set ~ RREARRE L REFEBRBIE T RELBR

out in the ESG Reporting Guide for the preparation of this report: LIRS R EEARTRERA:

Reporting Principles The Group’s Applications

HwERR TEEZER

Materiality Both material environmental and social issues were identified through an analysis of the
B responses from an online survey submitted by the Board of the Company.

EBOMARAEZERIXNPLATEE BRIERRREILEHE -

Quantitative The Group records and discloses key performance indicators (“KPIs”) in quantitative terms

Bt for evaluation and validation of the effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems.
REBNEEFTACH R REAREBER ([BREZUER 1) AT RBERIRE -
HEREABERERRSNE WML -

Balance In order to provide an unbiased picture of the Group’s overall ESG performance, this report
B | discloses information in an objective manner.

AHREGEERBEEMNP MR I E2RARENBRRE HEREARRR -

Consistency As far as practicable and unless stated otherwise, the Group applies consistent
—3 measurement methodology to allow for meaningful comparison of ESG performance over
time. Any changes in methods or KPIs used are disclosed.
ERTERT BRIESEHA TARERBER -—BNEERX  UEMRRE HERk
ERREERRETEERNLER -MEAAASARERIEEER 2 ERESE T
B

FEEDBACK MECHANISM R ER Bl

We welcome your suggestions and feedback. Stakeholder’s FMED BATRERZANE -FHENERRE
comments and opinions can help refine and strengthen the Group’s EAERMERINAAREFRBRKRIEE A2 kBB
future ESG performance. If you have any questions or suggestions HRIA - NEARERND KNG T 5B 2
regarding the content or format of the report, please contact us AUAEZEEmERBEAAANT Z AR ME ([AAIWME])
by writing to the company secretary of the Company (“Company WEEERANNEBEANRER WItAETBNLE
Secretary”) at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Room NEEERIR B33 Z P 0108 1003AE ©
1003A, 10/F, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay,

Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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MESSAGE FROM THE BOARD

During the Reporting Year, problems caused by climate crisis to
corporations primarily operating in Hong Kong are compounded
by Hong Kong's social unrest as well as the global pandemic.
Stakeholders are increasingly concerned about corporations’ way of
doing business and are putting greater pressure on corporations.
As corporate citizens, enterprises need to address sustainability
issues in order to gain stakeholders’ trust and the social license to
operate. Committing to sustainability allows us to drive innovation to
meet evolving needs and manage emerging issues.

Navigating through climate emergency can be difficult, especially
with existing local social problems. However, Hong Kong
Education is devoted to taking timely action to help combat both
environmental and social challenges in order to contribute to the
well-being of our society. We understand that sound sustainability
governance is essential to improving our sustainability performance.
Hence, during the Reporting Year, we have established an ESG
Working Group to advise on sustainability issues of the Group.
Complementing our sustainability governance and the ESG
Working Group, we have formulated numerous policies focusing
on recruitment and promotion, diversity and inclusion as well as
health and safety. By improving our sustainability governance as
well as ESG policies, we will be able to advance our sustainability
performance over time and raise employees’ sustainability
awareness.

We would like to acknowledge the hard work of our employees and
the contribution from our customers, partners and communities.
We are currently exploring different ways to improve our
sustainability performance. By working with our stakeholders, we
will be able to incorporate sustainability into our core strategy and
tackle future challenges.

This report presents our sustainability practices, approaches and
achievements throughout the Reporting Year. We hope this report
will provide our readers and stakeholders an idea on how we do at
sustainability.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiR-HEB8REISHRS

EEERR

RBEFE TERNEFELENCERRIRAEH L
MR BN EEA LS E R ERRBEMBERES
BHE-FNEHEREERE T ANEE TEE NI
FEHCERMEANBEN -EREERAR BEE
RARBEERFEUNEGHNENGEERL LS
AA-BORABEERSRMABFAFE - Um
RERFTENEHMLROME -

EHREESBRARRRNEE LESEYEHRE
MR - AT BERERNRERREEITEA
EPRERREIEENORE A e REL TR
BT BRI EEREREIRSHMANAIRHE
BRAAEMEZ A RREFE  HFSKILR
B odelkEaIF MR AKENAHEERERE
RUER -REATFEZREAULRRR HER
ERTHENME RFEHEZERBBELREN 2T
ERBEUEURBRERZENZHARK BENER
PN ERREAUNRR HEREAHE &
PIR e TEN R R MM AI R BERRRALIEEEER
AR EREE -

BARLRABRPERENFH TERRMATR, A1F
BHEMBELNER - RMBNEERRTRT
ERERMANATFEERRE - BBERNESIE
TR APTIRT BE S0 BT 455 A B R A A\ B APT A0 A0 SRS I B
RIRHIPEEL -

AHREZINEPRBEFENAIFEERER A
KBt HFIH EARE R BRMNEE RFHER
HEBRMEANKEZR S EMAENER -
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ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group regards ESG governance as the foundation of
having a strong sustainability performance. Therefore, during
the Reporting Year, the Group has established an ESG Working
Group. In accordance with its terms of reference, the ESG
Working Group is to advise and assist the board of directors of the
Company (“Board”) in managing the Group’s ESG issues, such
as setting ESG guidance and direction, supervising ESG policies
and progress, reviewing ESG performance as well as reporting
ESG related issues. The Board has the overall responsibility in
overseeing ESG issues related to the Group’s operations and overall
strategy.

Board of Directors

EFe

ESG Working Group

BR - HERELE

AEBBEE HEREERIERES RIFOAIR
BRRRAMER AL RREFE  AEEEKT
R -HEREATHEIM -RERE HE@REART
ENENBESE ERESREEARENRE
HEkEAMBRARREZS ([EFS)RHE
BB melERE L& REARESIRTR  BER
R -HeLEABRENER BHRE HE8hER
REUNREHRE HELREAEBAEE-EFSH
ERAASELSENBERRKAMBNERE HakE
AR EAEEBEL

BB e keERrTENE

Chairman - Executive Director

EHE-ATESF

|

Company Secretary
NIE

During the Reporting Year, the Group has formulated policies
regarding recruitment and promotion, diversity and inclusion and
employees’ health and safety to include more detailed guidelines
to strengthen internal communication, ensuring all employees
understand the Group’s management approach regarding
sustainability.

ESG risk management system

Effective risk management and internal control system are in
place for the Group to manage its risks. In order to reduce the
exposure of the Group’s operations to the identified risks, the
management is responsible for risk management activities. Both
the risk management and internal control systems are evaluated at
least annually on the effectiveness and adequacy of the systems.
The audit committee of the Company assists the Board to provide
independent review of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

Representatives from different departments and business units

BRI REB D EORER

RBEFE AKECHERELRER ZTERE
THENREEZREEIZ2HBORE SREFA
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During the Reporting Year, environmental and social risks were ®n

identified as below:

Risks
1]

Impacts to the Group
HEEEMHTE

BEFE EEINRER

RIF-HEBREISHRS

e R kR m

The Group's response

FREMERS &

Climate-related risk

Rz HERRR

Climate change can lead to an increase
in extreme weather, such as drought,
super typhoon, flood, etc., which can
affect the ecosystem.

The Group is dependent on paper for
note printing and consumes a huge
amount of paper. Paper notes are
essential for the services provided to
students. One of the raw materials
for paper is wood. If extreme weather
events occurred or if there is a
restriction on logging for environmental
protection purpose imposed by relevant
governments, the supply of wood will be
affected, hence, affecting the supply of

paper.

RIEZ{ G EHBm AR L H M AR T
oo R ERRRER, MK EMY
EREGERT E-

AEEFEARDBECLERAE
B - MREBCHN R T RENRE
MR D o RN E TR —ERMH AR
o i R IB R A R KRBT AR &
REHMARKERABRS - AHH
EREZE YREYEAREE-

T
Significance
EEH
Medium
a3

The Group aims to minimise paper
consumption in its operations by:

1) selecting suppliers who supply
environmentally-friendly paper and/or
carry out relevant policies to protect the
environment;

2)  reminding staff regularly to reduce paper
consumption, and;

3)  implementing measures for waste paper
collection within the Group for recycle
purpose.

For more information, please refer to the
chapter “Our Environment” in this report.

AEEEREEBATHAEEEEBETE
EROBRRTBR:

BERUBRARR, FRTRERR
AR E R

—_
—

2) THREETIRIARER: R

3 EAKEARETERDUMNER-

BHEZER F2HAHmE [RANERE]

—Bo
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Risks
1]

Impacts to the Group
HEKEHRE

Significance

EEH

The Group's response

FREMERSE

Extreme weather risk

Natural resources risk

BRmARER

BRAERER

Climate change can lead to more
frequent extreme weather. Super
typhoon may be an extreme weather
in Hong Kong. It can cause serious
impacts on the office and learning
centres’ infrastructure. Office windows
may be broken due to heavy wind and
rain. The Group’s documents, systems,
back up storage may be destroyed as a
result of typhoon.

Electricity supply is very important
for running a business. Fuel shortage
results in shortage of electricity supply
and therefore increasing the operating
cost of the Group.

REBCLSHBFRREAR - BRER
FABBNERAR AR HRAE
REBRONERRBERBELE
HRERRM WAZEFPAHKE

H-BENKESARENX ZR
RENFREXBIER-

ENHEHEBLETHEE -MMRE
RELHENHETR LAETMSAE
SEMZERANEM-

Medium

High

ot

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

All our learning centres and office will take
sufficient and necessary measures when there
is an announcement of typhoon. All documents
will be stored in a proper manner and kept
away from the window. Additionally, the
electronic version of the documents will also be
saved for backup. The backup will be kept by
the senior management and be stored outside
of the office.

The Group is always taking effort in saving
energy by encouraging staff to switch off the
lighting, air conditioner and electric power
of office equipment when it is unnecessary.
Energy saving could help to reduce the
operating cost of the Group, in the meantime,
save the world resources.

fHE MR EER RANMEEERLRRER
ERERBMAD LU BNER RAXIRER
ERERLERER 1N ZATHRFER
X ETHRAMERED - ARERD KB SR
ERERFLHEERRAZAIMET -

AEE-ERNRNERZBE IR TV ER
BLEE ZHRRRERENERALLOE
ReBEAPREIARENEERAK  RE
B RIRER
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Risks Impacts to the Group Significance The Group's response
BB HEEEMTE EEN FEEMEHSE
Health risk Community outbreak of virus, High In order to mitigate health risks, the Group

such as coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19"), may cause the Group's
operations to be suspended which can
impact employees’ and customers’
health and safety as well as the Group’s
ability to provide services.

RRER HEBERS (M20198 KK 5
(Tcovip-19)) ) - MEFEEREREP
HORRRE R 2 2 LA R AN SR B SR A AR T MO BE
N EEERAKELERY -

ot

should maintain certain storage of facial masks
and disinfectants in the Company for reducing
the risk of respiratory diseases. Timely
measures must be carried out by the Company
to deal with any outbreak of diseases in order
to protect the health of colleagues as well as
students. Depending on the situation, flexible
working arrangement, such as work from home
or flexible working hours, may be established
and online classes may be an alternative way
for providing services to our customers while
reducing social interaction.

RRERERR AEEERARAER—E
H 0  J S  A PR P RSB A e LB o

AR RASREGER R TE R SHE MR R -

NREB T RBEMERE - RFERME A
AR AT B TR (MER TIELE
HITHEER) M@ LRETEXARARES
RERBRER O XEEOERT A

For more details regarding risk management, please refer to this BHEBREENE ZH15 F2HAFR-

annual report.
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Compliance management

Effective compliance management reduces the exposure of
regulatory risks of an enterprise. Therefore, the Group has
implemented various policies, guidelines and practices to ensure
its operations uphold the highest standards of accountability and
business integrity.

Significant laws

eEREE
R A RERE
ARED iR BERR
Py = L

Compliance performance
during the reporting period
RENMNERAERE

B EMERAEE R

Al - Al

IR N ERNEREZEES
MM EENEEEE

The Group’s Response

FRENEHERE

Aspects and regulations Significant Impacts
Fi EX&RiER EXwe
Employment o Employment Ordinance The Group may face litigation
(Chapter 57 of the HK and may lose employees’ trust
Laws) if there is a delay in paying
staff's salary.
Product o Copyright Ordinance The Group may face litigation

Responsibility (Chapter 528 of the HK
Laws)

. Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486
of the HK Laws)

o Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362

of the HK Laws)

which may adversely affect the
financial position as well as the
brand image of the Group.

R o  ERZANFESIERRER WEEXNBEITE AKE
I BEEIE RN OE 2N
MfEE-
EmET o  ERLVIFSEME AKETEEERL MAR
fék 31 EEENDEZRS 3 0k v
o FHEBENIFBCEMA NERRmEESEKTHZE -
BE (TLEB) 1501
o BRENIFE2EDmM
w1 R 1
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There was 1 non-compliance
case regarding a 1-day
delayed payment of salary due
to the dispute in calculation of
the final payment between the
human resources department
and the staff.

The Group did not identify
any non-compliance cases
concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and
privacy matters.

B-ETARER BANE
RAFRE T HAEFERE
XFAFBETAFEFHEHT
BIRERIERM-

FEEYEEREMEBREE
k&2 BE BERLES
BERTERER

In order to ensure staff's salary is
paid on time, the Group requires
its human resources department
to keep staff record and should
settle dispute with staff on final
payment within 7 days and report
to the management if there are
any problems.

The Group has formulated
policies relating to product
responsibility, such as
campus safety, service quality
management, responsible
marketing and protection of
privacy to ensure its operations
fulfil the expectations of
stakeholders.

REREEXNBITE A&
BEREANBRBFAIREET
CHYEAETRARZE MR
ERAEETMRR MERE
ARE AREREER-

FEREEHEABERRINK
R REZE RBEERERE
ﬁﬂﬁwwﬁ&1 LTS DARE
REZERERFNENRE



Aspects
]

Significant laws
and regulations

EXERER

Significant Impacts

EXvE
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Compliance performance
during the reporting period
BENMBEREDR

The Group’s Response

&SR E R

Anti-corruption

Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201
of the HK Laws)

BEBEPFE201EH IE
B BE 6 91

Bribery cases can affect the
Group's reputation and may
lead to the loss of confidence
from its stakeholders.

BRRATTRYELEENE
BYAREEHRBNERER
Do

Save for the non-compliance as described above, the Group
has complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
employment, product responsibility and anti-corruption during the

Reporting Year.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance in material
aspects with relevant laws and regulations with a significant impact
on the Group, regarding emissions, health and safety, or labour
standards during the Reporting Year.

There was 1 non-compliance
case regarding anti-corruption
brought to the Group’s former
tutors, for obtaining HKDSE
examination questions through
corruption. One of the former
tutors was convicted of two
counts of conspiracy to
commit misconduct in public
office, contrary to common
law and Section 159A of the
Crimes Ordinance, and was
sentenced to imprisonment for
14 months.

B-RESAEER SR
BEETARER RIEEHA
BRBRERERTEEE
AHE - Hep —ZAIEEED
REEMRRRABARTR
BRERL BREBER
TSR 1T 15191 5 150A G - 4%
FIABI4ER -

Since tutors are not employees
of the Group, it can be difficult to
monitor tutors’ actions. However,
terms and clauses regarding
law compliance are contained
in tutors’ contracts. The Group
will terminate the contract
immediately once bribery cases
are found.

EEYFAKEEE W
REENRTT R AT Eh

IS
Eltl
WRHBBBBLTANE

M
A
A
(=)
+
b

Ko—BRBBHEMN FEE
SAEMERIERH

==

BR EXCPTt N AR FMHIN ARER RS FEREMR
g5

EXEECETHERR EmRERR

BT EE A

KSEEEAXENHBERIES -

RBEFE AEEWREERINEERNERA EM
EREFR BEEZEXGSTENTEUAEES
ERFENRBEEIERERNENR -
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT HHEEHE

Stakeholders’ opinions are of paramount importance for the Group  ##F M &EME R E A E B NENGE  IEMEUSKINE M
to achieve continuous improvement, thereby leading to its success. EE-AEEBBEBREER BREOHWTHREMEHE
Through ongoing communications, the Group will better position  PEFFRK -RFEFE AEBEBZEEBREESE
itself to understand and meet stakeholders’ needs. During the FTEEMEREBE NRERSENBERNERNES
Reporting Year, the Group engaged its key stakeholders via several FIRE e REREE-

communication channels to gauge their opinions and identify

material ESG issues.

Stakeholders Group
SinEEd

Mode of Engagement

BREAX

Employees

Students

Investors and Shareholders

BREERBRE

The Group communicates with employees through a wide range of activities, including
lunch gathering, training programmes, team building activities and performance appraisal.
Employees are also encouraged to communicate with their supervisors regarding their job
duties and supports needed.

Frontline staff engages dialogue with students on irregular basis to obtain feedback. The
Group also gathers their feedback regarding its quality of services through conducting
satisfaction surveys. Customer hotline has also been established for students to express
their concerns.

Shareholders’ meetings are held regularly to provide investors and shareholders with
updates and performance of the Group. Important information is disseminated through
annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports, company’'s website, press releases,
announcements and other disclosure documents.

AEEFEEEREPERERFAR BRFERE HIHE BFERETHMAEN
E - AEENBEERRENTERERAFE SRR FRETER-

|<

GBI TEMESBEETHE UNESREER -AKENEBRARMEREAEWSE
REHERFEENRE - ARE TR i?\ﬁﬁﬁi‘x*ﬂ@fﬁ%ii‘ékﬁfﬁc‘c%E°

AEBEHRRTERAGUAREE LRRERASENSHEARKR -EEELE
BRFERE THERS KRR LERELARSE 2B HER AFREMKE
SAFEE R
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Mode of Engagement
BREX

Government and Regulators

The Group keeps close communication with relevant government departments and keep
track of latest regulatory development.

Community The Group participates in community events, such as charitable activities and volunteering
services, to better understand the needs of the community and to support community
development.

BT & B et AEEEEAABNSPIRFRYER ITRABEEZHNEERR -

Za AEE2EEZEZTYREBBRESHERS UEFH TREEFT RIS HHRER -

Materiality assessment

Material issues can have a significant impact on the Group’s
operations as well as its stakeholders. During the Reporting Year,
the Group commissioned an external sustainability consultancy to
conduct a board survey based on ESG issues that are important to
the Group and that may have significant impacts on environment
and society, in order to gather the relative importance of the
12 aspects listed in the ESG Reporting Guide. The assessment
produced six material issues that form the priority in disclosures in
the reporting process:

Material Issues

EEEE

Relevant Chapters
HEREES

EEMFMA

EAFEAUHASENEEREFOEELAERY
B NREFE AEBCZE—RINBAIFELRE
BRMEAEEBEXBREHIRERMGEEATE
FIRE HEREARETEHETEZIALT  UWKERE-
e kERRERESIMIIEEANAEEEEH -5
B ERE T NEEEEE B THREREFEE
HEZEIE:

Use of Resources Our Environment

BEIRfE A B IRIR
Climate Change Our Environment
RIRE b B ERIR
Employment Our Employees
=1 HZFNEE
Product Responsibility Our Operations
EmERE B E 2 E
Labour Standards Our Employees
8 T8 HFNEE
Health and Safety Our Employees
EERZR HZFNEE

Climate change, employment, labour standards and health and
safety are new material issues for this Reporting Year. Other
material issues are similar to those identified in the previous
reporting year. Results were presented to the Board for validation of
the six material ESG issues for the Reporting Year.

RIREL BRE STENNERERZEZEARSE
FEFNEEFR -HOEEEHE F —EAREFE
BRI ERL - EREEREFE URERESFE
MANRBEERE HERERER.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

71



72

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RR-HE8REISHRS

OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group values the state of the natural environment and
seeks to improve its environmental performance through daily
operations. As stated in its Environmental Protection Guideline, the
Group is committed to promoting an environmentally responsible
behaviour in the office and providing tips for resources saving,

BMmiEE

AEBERRXANRERN WEBATLESKN
SHEHBRIBRI - WANEHRBREIR S| POl - NEBEH
R AEREBRFAENTY ARELETFHOER
WMLOBEERMEBERERRERER AREEBTE X
EHBRIREEBR LGN SR ELEHREN

waste reduction and recycling in its operations. By continuously FEo
improving its environmental management practices and measures,
the Group strives to reduce its environmental impacts across its
operations.
Resource management BRER
Paper Vi
Paper Consumption (kg)
AEE(TR)
Headquarter Education Education Dance

Type of resources Office  Centres (MEHK) Centres (MBE) Colleges Total

BERDL BEPL
BREER amER (FRAKHT) (RRpBELE) RERSkK #it
Paper consumption! 571 4,436 23,345 142 28,494
R E!
Water 7k

Water Consumption (cubic metres)
BKE (IFK)
Headquarter Education Education Dance

Type of resources Office  Centres (MEHK) Centres (MBE) Colleges Total

BEHD HEHRLD
BREH amER (AABEEE) (RENHEL) BHBR # it
Water consumption 0.0 192.8 9.8 0.0 202.6
RKE

In order to reduce water consumption, the Group regularly checks
water taps for leakage and repairs the taps when needed. Water
flow is also controlled at the tap to avoid over-consumption of water.
The Group obtains water from municipal authorities and has no
difficulty in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

4 Only for paper purchased (e.g. A4 paper, A3 paper and printed paper
product).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

AR AKE  AEBE T RREKEEATIRA
REZSBRTHE  FBRHKEEKRELRS
8 R o AN SR B 6 A /K e T B B 6L - B 7E SRR
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Emission management

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Group commissioned a professional consultancy to conduct
carbon assessment to quantify the greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions in its operation. The process of quantification was
conducted according to the Guidelines to Account for and Report
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HEBREISHRS

BmER
BEmBHX

(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong

Kong compiled by the Environmental Protection Department and

Electrical and Mechanical Services Department of Hong Kong.

AEBECER - REEBEMETRNGE AE(LEE
EBRBETFHAEEREBHR EUABIREZTERE
REEMMETRERENBEEZEY (BAX E=X
FRHAR) B ERBH MR OZEMHRE =
ST

GHG Emissions (tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent)
BEREEN(ZESLLHREEWME)

Headquarter Education Education Dance

Scope Office  Centres (MEHK) Centres (MBE) Colleges Total
HERLD BERD

#@E HBRER (RKAHTEHR) (RRpBE) LIRS # it
Scope 1: Direct GHG Emissions? 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
HE] ERAERBYR
Scope 2: Energy Indirect GHG Emissions? 5.6 272.0 54.1 32.8 364.5
#E2 : gRMEEREREEEHC
Scope 3: Other Indirect GHG Emissions* 2.6 214 112.1 0.7 136.8
HE3 - AR ERBEER
Total GHG emissions 8.2 293.4 166.2 33.5 501.3
BERBHREE
2 No Scope 1 emissions were recorded from stationary sources, mobile 2 FEEIWESEKREABETIRE  RBRENERS B

sources or fugitive emissions from fire extinguishing systems and

refrigerating systems.

= Scope 2 emissions come from purchased electricity.

Scope 3 emissions come from paper waste disposal and fresh water &

and sewage processing. For fresh water and sewage processing, only
the following locations are taken into account: MEHK — back office
(Tsuen Wan), MEHK — Tseung Kwan O, MEHK — Shatin, MEHK —
Prince Edward, MBE — warehouse and MBE — Tseung Kwan O. The
water and sewage of other locations were controlled by the property

management office.

KERRERZREENE GBI

BE2NBEBREBMBENE S -

1 B389 BE AR B R AR R 32 LA BOAOK 5 K BE 3R o gk
IKFIFRREME  BERUTHE : RRBEEE—
BB (ZE) RAKREFETE-HBER RAKEE
B-0H RRHBEE-ATF BANBL-RER
BRNEBL - BER B ERAAK RIS KEMEE
B ERREE -
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Waste disposal

The Environmental Protection Guideline was established to
guide employees in reducing waste appropriately. Employees are
encouraged to bring their own tableware instead of using single-use
cutlery. Both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled
and collected by waste collectors regularly. For domestic waste
water, it is being discharged to the local pipe network, where it will
enter a sewage treatment plant to process the waste water.

As 6 MEHK education centres and 5 dance colleges were closed
during the Reporting Year, the total amount of hazardous waste was
larger than those in the previous reporting year. The large amount
of hazardous waste was mostly from waste fluorescent light tubes
and waste electronic equipment.

BRNWEZE
AEBECDHERRBRERS 3 BEEE EE/W’J 3
Yo AEEZBREEEHEER #REMRUERR-

BEONREHEETRRERREEEEREY LEZRE
B £IRSKAIBEAMEEBEMLA  RMmEAISK
a3 R A B 3B 757K o

RN REFENRRAHE BTENHE T 0 K5HEFE
EERCEE AR ERRYNAER L —EARE
FEAMEM REAEERVMEIZREERAER
BERETRE

Waste Disposal® (tonnes)

EEMEE (W)
Headquarter Education Education Dance

Type of Waste Office Centres (MEHK) Centres (MBE) Colleges Total

BEHRL BEFL
EEHER MBER (AKBTEE) (R h@t) -fifd it
Hazardous Waste B ERE 2 1Y) 0.0005 667.0 5.0 150.0 822.0
Non-hazardous waste fEZEEEE ) 0.11 2.0 2.0 1.5 5.6

Environment and natural resources BRERXAER
Apart from emissions and use of resources, the Group’s business Br T B R EIRE AN K%@M%WL EHIRIE
operations do not have a significant direct impact on the RAAERVESAEETE -BENL  NEBEH

environment and natural resources. Nonetheless, the Group strives
to strictly abide by the relevant environmental laws and regulations
in its daily operations to reduce such impacts.

Climate change

Climate change has been an alarming issue all over the world.
Some may even coin it as climate “emergency”. For instance, the
results from a changing climate can cause more frequent extreme
weather, which can have a significant impact on the Group’s
operations. Hence, in the coming reporting year, the Group will
formulate policies regarding measures to identify and mitigate
significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact the Group.

OUR EMPLOYEES

The Group attaches great importance to its employees. The Group
aspires to foster a supporting and safe working environment that
treat employees fairly and equally, safeguard employees’ rights and
interests, and support employees’ career development.

3 Assuming 1 piece of toner cartridges (containing selenium) is 0.25kg.
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Employment system and labour standards {& 0% & B & 55 T 481

The Group strives to provide a fair, respectful and inclusive work ~ AEBEBRNEYAF HEBEEMRBANIIEXE- 8
culture. Staff Handbooks and Staff Rule clearly state the various — T F &8 TAMBEHE5REEMBBENTREHE -
aspects of employment including but not limited to compensation BEBTRERENEFE BEREA  TIEHS- &
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest B FPE#E St RRERAREMEFBNER -
periods, equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination, and

other benefits and welfare.

Compensation and dismissal

Recruitment and promotion

Working hours and rest periods

Benefits and Welfares

Equal opportunities and
anti-discrimination

IHEHRERY

FBRET

FERERRIER

In order to attract and retain talents, remuneration packages are in place and reviewed
annually to maintain the competitiveness of the remuneration made to existing and
potential employees.

During the Reporting Year, the Group has formulated the Recruitment and Promotion
Policy, where it clearly listed out the policy and process for recruitment and promotion.
As stated in the policy, promotion opportunities will be offered to employees who have
contributed to the Company, so as to avoid the loss of high-performing employees.

The Group embraces a work-life balance culture. Number of working hours and rest
periods are clearly stated in Staff Handbooks.

The Group offers attractive welfare and benefits including but not limited to annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and compassionate leave and medical
insurance.

The Group endeavours to promote equal opportunity and anti-discrimination. Employees
should be treated equally regardless of sex, disability, pregnancy, family status, race,
religion, age, sexual orientation, and nationality. Those who encounter or witness
any conducts of sexual harassment can report directly to the Human Resources and
Administration Department or the Company Secretary for investigation.

BRI EBREAT  AREESTEHFMFTERR UBFETRT URFHRBRA
BHEENHFMEF S -

RBEFE AEECHERBREABE  EhBREIBBEREAHBELRE -
MZBEML AARFAAEEHEMNEEREEARE UBRRAARALEDN
’E-

AEEHEETEREAZFEN UL - ETFMABARATE T TIERERRE-

REBRBEARSINNENEFE BRETNRRFR BR ER FERIKERNAR
BERR-

AEEHIRNREFERERRER BEBEFEHAF M AWER BK 22 R

BN Bk REEM Fit ERALEE EXXERERBTANEENEEN
ANBERRATRE R AR WERR A EEL AL -
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Diversity

Prohibition of forced labour

Prevention of child labour

£S5 4

The Group respects the differences in the workforce and welcomes a diverse team that
can bring broader development opportunities to the Group. The Group has formulated
the Diversity and Inclusion Policy, where it listed out measures to promote diversity and
inclusion in the workplace.

The Group ensures that all employees work on voluntary basis and they can resign
according to the requirements of their respective employment contracts.

During the recruitment process, the Human Resources and Administration Department
checks the identification documents of candidates to avoid the hiring of child labour.

AEEEERTHER YBIZTENERAARE T REANERHEE - AKEHE
HEZTHBMBE  EhIIRERETIESAZT(CRBRMENEM-

EILERSET

FFILET

Development and training

In order to support employees with skills to face future challenges,
the Group support employees’ career training as well as
development. The Group believes that through development and
training, employees will be able to unleash their full potential in
both personal and career development. Training plans are detailed
in its Staff Handbooks. The Group offers employees with financial
subsidies and sponsorship for them to participate in training
and development programmes. For MBE, employees are offered
monthly on-the-job training and meetings to enhance their job
skills.

Since performance appraisal allows us to assess employees’ growth
and development, the Group conducts regular appraisal in order for
employees to track their performance and to achieve improvements
based on feedback from supervisors. During the Reporting Year,
89% of employees received performance appraisal.

Due to business suspension caused by COVID-19 and company
restructuring, the number of trainings and performance appraisal
had been reduced. The Group is considering the feasibility of
online training for staff and will arrange when possible as gathering
of staff for training is inappropriate under the social distancing
policy.
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Health and safety

The Group is devoted to creating a healthy and safe working
environment for all its employees. While protecting the physical
and mental health of our employees, the Group believes that
a safe working environment can boost productivity as well as
performance. During the Reporting Year, the Group has formulated
a Health and Safety Policy, where measures are stated for
employees to follow. The Group will regularly review and update the
policy when necessary.

To raise employees’ awareness of safety issues, the Group will
organise trainings and distribute guidelines. Additionally, the Group
will regularly inspect offices and education centres to ensure
that facilities fulfil legal requirements. Fire escape and extreme
weather guidelines are also provided in Staff Handbooks to ensure
employees’ safety.

To promote mental health awareness, the Group regularly circulates
health tips to its employees and encourages them to exercise
regularly. To remind employees to beware of potential safety
hazards, such as slippery floor and improper use of electrical
equipment, the Group also places safety posters at conspicuous
places.

Employees’ well-being is equally important. To improve their health
and well-being, the Group organised recreational activities such as
hiking and barbecue party along with other team building activities.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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COVID-19 response measures

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has formulated
measures for its employees in order to prevent virus from
spreading. Below are the summarised measures:

e Send memo or email to staff about updated COVID-19
information

° Provide guidelines about reporting system and customer
handling

e Arrange helpers to clean offices and education centres more
frequently

° Purchase surgical masks for staff

° Measure staff and customers’ body temperature before
entering offices and education centres

° Offer flexible working arrangement, such as work from home
or flexible working hours, to avoid peak hours, thereby
increasing social distancing on public transport

During the Reporting Year, there was no work-related fatalities or
injuries.

OUR OPERATIONS

Maintaining the highest possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability enable the Group to operate in a responsible
manner, thereby, earning trust from its stakeholders. The Group
has formulated a series of policies relating to campus safety,
service quality management, supply chain management and
ethical business to ensure its operations fulfil the expectations of
stakeholders.
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Campus safety

Campus security management is crucial to the operation of the
Group. To ensure students and employees know the fire escape
route, floor plans and exit signs are put up at conspicuous places
in the education centres, which can indicate the route in case of
emergency. The Group also provides safety training to employees
to strengthen safety awareness among them. Due to COVID-19,
any staff and students coming to the centres will have their body’s
temperature checked. The Group also arranged helpers to clean
education centres and dance colleges more frequently to avoid
spread of virus and ensure campus safety.

Service quality management

The Group is committed to providing the quality educational
services to all of its students in order to help them achieve
their goals. It seeks to continually improve its service quality
management through communication, responsible marketing and
protection of students’ privacy.

Student satisfaction and feedback

Students satisfaction is one of the key indicators of the quality of
the services that the Group provides. Hence, to improve student
satisfaction, the Group established the Complaint Handling Process
and reviews students’ feedback regularly to ensure it meets their
expectation.

In order to gather students’ feedback on lesson materials and
arrangement, MEHK conducts surveys which focuses on the
quality of lessons, arrangement and location of education centres.
Besides, in order to incentivise staff to provide high quality services,
MBE carries out an annual assessment where the top 10 teachers
and top 5 education centres are awarded with cash prizes as an
encouragement to keep the good services.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group received 43 complaints,
which were 50% less than the previous reporting year. The
complaints were mainly related to refund, class arrangement, and
tutor’s quality. Investigations and appropriate follow-up actions were
immediately carried out to ensure students’ demands are met. All
cases were settled and customers accepted our explanation and
arrangement. To prevent the same future complaints, the Group
provided training to relevant staff.

Responsible marketing communications

The Group understands the importance of communicating clear
and reliable information about its services. As stipulated in the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance Policy, all promotional materials,
including advertisements, leaflets, online promotional images and
videos must not contain exaggerated or false claims. Additionally,
the head of marketing department and management of the Group
are responsible for the review and approval of manuscript of
promotional materials before distribution or publication.

Protection of privacy

With a large student base, the Group is determined to safeguard
students’ personal data. The Staff Handbooks and Employee Code
of Conduct clearly state the Group’s requirement on protecting
confidential information. Without management approval, employees
shall not disclose any confidential information and all internal
documents must not be disclosed to any parties outside the Group.

Supply chain management

Since the Group’s business nature is provision of private
educational services, its major suppliers include providers of
printing, stationery and uniform. During the Reporting Year,
the Group has established three preliminary selection criteria,
supplier’s environmental protection practices, good corporate
culture and price, regarding its procurement practices. Suppliers
with better ESG performance are prioritised. To further manage its
supply chain, the Group will establish related policies and set out
supplier selection process and evaluation in the coming year.
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Ethical Business

Protection of intellectual property

The Group attaches great importance to the protection of
intellectual property rights. According to the Staff Handbooks, all
employees should not infringe or violate any patents, trademarks,
copyrights or intellectual property rights of any third parties.
Employees must also abide by the provisions of the Copyright
Ordinance. To download or use software that are not provided by
the Group, employees should provide sufficient reasons and seek
department head and management'’s approval.

Anti-corruption

As a responsible educational service provider, the Group is
committed to upholding integrity in order to produce positive
influence and promoting fair and sustainable development of the
society. Hence, the Group does not tolerate any forms of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

In order to strictly prohibit employees from disclosing confidential
or insider information outside the Group to obtain benefits, the
Employee Code for Securities Transactions was established. As
stated in its Staff Handbooks and Employee Code of Conduct, all
employees are prohibited from soliciting or receiving any forms
of advantage from any business associate. Whenever employees
receive gifts that are of high commercial value provided by
business partners or clients, they should submit the “Receiving
Entertainment or Gifts Form” to the head of department in order to
decide how to deal with them.

In addition, to avoid conflict of interest, the Group requires its
employees to complete the Declaration and Disclosure of Interests
Form to disclose any matter that raises a conflict with their duties
and particulars of any pecuniary or other personal interest that they
have.
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OUR COMMUNITY

As a corporate citizen, the Group believes that it has the
responsibility in supporting local communities in where it
operates. Through various community activities, donations and
participation in charitable activities, the Group contributes to the
local community in which it operates. The Group will continue to
strengthen its ties with the community and understand citizens’
needs.

Care for the community

Mid-autumn festival is a holiday where family members spend time
together. Continuing last year's effort in helping injured workers and
family members of deceased workers, during the Reporting Year,
the Group donated HK$23,688 to Egive For You Charity Foundation
for the benefit of the Association for the Rights of Industrial
Accident Victims. Additionally, 10 of our staff volunteered to join a
mooncake making activity and the mooncakes were then sent to
members of the association to bring warmth to families during this
holiday.

Supporting youth’s education and development

Young people are the society’s future pillars and are key to
sustainability. Therefore, during the Reporting Year, the Group
cooperated with non-profit organisations to provide different
courses for young people with special discount.

Besides offering special discount to students in need, the Group
also provide intern training to university students who are seeking
for working experience as well as to develop their career in the
education industry. 17 university students were hired to intern with
us during the summer holiday.

The Group is delighted to be awarded the “5 Years Plus Caring
Company Logo” from the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
for the eighth consecutive year, recognising its commitment to
corporate social responsibility and performance in community
services. In the coming year, the Group will formulate policies
regarding community investment in order to understand the needs
of the communities in where it operates and to ensure the activities

take into consideration the communities’ interests.
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KPIs SUMMARY
Environmental KPlIs

Environmental KPls

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data
Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
Sulphur oxides (SOx)
Respirable suspended particulates (RSP)

Greenhouse gas emissions
Scope 1

Scope 2
Scope 3
Greenhouse gas emissions in total

Greenhouse gas intensity (by floor area)

Hazardous waste produced
Total hazardous waste
Hazardous waste intensity (by floor area)

Non-hazardous waste produced
Total non-hazardous waste
Non-hazardous waste intensity (by floor
area)

Energy consumption
Indirect energy - electricity
Total energy consumption
Energy intensity (by floor area)

Water consumption
Total water consumption
Water intensity (by floor area)

Packaging material used for finished
products

BRRRRNER

HHYERR AR RS

—E/LR(NOX)
&/ F(SOX)

] IR F BRI (RSP)

BEREEN
gE1

HE2

#E3

FELREERN
REREMEE
BERERNEE

(HrEmER)

FEERERRN
BERENAE
BERENER

(RREmR)

iR
BERER-EN
RERAREE
RERRREE
(RREmR)

HKE
HFKE
FRERE (REE

Ei)

RERMRAARMHE
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MERYEREE

BERBRMER
Quantity Quantity
BE BE
2019/20 2018/19
2019/20% 2018/19%
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00
364.50 535.80
136.80 355.30
501.30 891.10
6.56 9.32
822.00 0.20
10.75 0.002
5.60 5.60
0.07 0.06
700.70 999.20
700.70 999.20
9.16 10.45
202.60 409.00
5.70 10.35

Not applicable. The Group's operations did
not involve the use of packaging materials.
TER AEEEBTYRERBEM
Ko

Unit
B

kg 72
kg T7
kg F7

tonne of COz-e
“EREEWH
tonnes of CO2-e
ZELREEHH
tonnes of CO2-e
“EtiREEWE
tonnes of CO2-e
“EiE 2B
tonnes of COz-¢/
thousand square feet
“alREEREY
FEFER

tonnes 1
tonnes/thousand square feet

B/ TEHER

tonnes 2
tonnes/thousand square feet

W/ FERER

MWh JKFLE

MWh JKFLE
MWh/thousand square feet
KRB/ FERFER

cubic metres 3 J7 3K
cubic metres/thousand square feet

YRR/ FERER

N/A
TER
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Social KPIs HERRBEWER
Number of employees (by gender and employment type)
EEAH (BRENRERERES)
Employment Type Total Gender ratio
EREER employees (male to

Gender Full-time Part-time by gender female) Total

BERNES :3:11:4:0]
1:3:1) 2R £ ] HE R (Bt Ek) # it
Male 3 1% 30 14 44
Female %t 64 28 92 b 136

Number of employees (by gender and position)
BEEAH (BENRBUES)
Position
1]
Gender Director grade Managerial grade Non-managerial grade
:3:]] EER EERK FEER
Male 55 4 36
Female &M 0 22 70
Number of employees (by gender and age)
BEEAH (BRENRERES)

Age group

FicHER
Gender Below 18 18-29 30-39 40-49 50 or above
& 7Y 18&LLTF 18F 291 30E39% 40F49% 508 B Ll L
Male S 1% 0 20 15 6 3
Female 21 0 43 33 8 8
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HERRBEAYER (F)

Number and percentage of employees trained®
ZEUHEREABRB S

Position
T £
Non-managerial
Gender Director grade Managerial grade grade Total
:3:]) EER EER FEER #st
Male 1% 4 (100%) 4 (100%) 13 (36%) 54 (40%)
Female 2% 0 (0%) 11 (50%) 22 (31%)
Average training hours
T 1 5 R R 8
Position
T fir
Non-managerial
Gender Director grade Managerial grade grade Total
:3:]) EEH EER FEER # it
Male 14 48 6.6 4.4 >
Female 21 N/A i@ M 33 2.2 '

6 Breakdown of trained employees by gender: Male (39%) and Female 6 EHERE S 2XEINEE: B (39% ) R
(61%); Breakdown of trained employees by employee category: (61%)  ZHEEBEANE D ZZFIIEE EFR
Director grade (7%), Managerial grade (28%) and Non-managerial (7% ) - E1EBH(28% ) RIEEIRA (65% ) °

grade (65%).
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

BR HERELIBREESIATRSI

Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEE@m AE BERES sk
A. Environmental % %
Al Emissions #EH9
General Disclosure Information on: 69, 72-74
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
— AR EE FHEBERKREREBHENR RKRTHOEES FEREEEEVNESE
& :
(@) BHE: R
(b) ETHETABEAXENEBMERLERNER -
Al.l The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 73, 83
R A N AR R B -
Al.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. 73,83
BERBEHREREE -
Al.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 74, 83
MELEEEEMREREE -
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 74, 83
MELABREERNEEREE -
Al.b Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 72-74
i URUE BERUE B0 58 b S PTG AR
Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 74

reduction initiatives and results achieved.

WRREAERBEEEMNT L REELENEERAEKRR-
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Content

AR
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Page Index/Remarks
BERES s

A2 Use of Resources & i {E H

General Disclosure

—RBER
A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

ERFERER (BEER  KEREMEME) BBE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.
RENESMNEER SMEEEREAEEREE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BEKERTE-

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

it B IR E A A ER A B SR PRI BCR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

U SREUGE AR L] BT ERE - A REABKRSEAEI RAEKRR-
Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
HEmAREMHNEE R (WER) BEEEMEE-

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources B8R XX &iF

General Disclosure

— MR EE

A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BIEBFEITAHBRRERRAAEREKERZEHBR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

MR EHHRERRARERNEATEREKNER BT ENT
o

72-74

73, 83

72,83

73-74

72

83

74

74
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Material Aspect Content
EEEG AE

Page Index/Remarks
BERES s

B. Social i1t &
B1 Employment {& {i§
General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.
—RRIE AT EEE BERES IERS REA FTEHE b RE
R LA Be B 155 38 Se Az I &Y
() HE: Kk
(b) BTFHETAGEAXENHBERZIERNER -
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical
region.

RIER - EERL  FicAR MtES DNES AR -

B2 Health and Safety @RE =2
General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

— MR E FARMZ2THERRERREEEREBELREEN:
(@) EXE: Rk
(b) BIFHBETAGEAXENHBERZERNER -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they

are implemented and monitored.
BTN B ERRET 2 ARBBENTRER A

B3 Development and Training % & & 1 &l

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.

—RRIE BHARMESRIT LEBRE M MBS MR BUR - it IFEE -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.
BRMFIREERMNEISOZIEER D -

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and

employee category.

R REBEAIE D BRERETKIIN TR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiR-HEB8REISHRS

Material Aspect Content Page Index/Remarks
EEEME AE BERES s

B4 Labour Standards % T #HI
General Disclosure Information on: 69, 75-76
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— = EBEPIEET LT :
(a) HXE: Kk
(b) BFHETAGEAXENHBERZIERNER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 76

forced labour.
Hll BEESRNERUEEE T RigH5 o

B5 Supply Chain Management {3t FE §8 & 18

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 80
—MRIKE ERHEFENRREIMERAREGE-

B6 Product Responsibility & & & {F
General Disclosure Information on: 68-69, 78-80
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

—RH = FAMRMERNBRENERELS BES REIMESTEURERS
AR
(@) H%E: Kk
(b) BFHBETAGEAXENHEBERRERNER -
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 79-80

are dealt with.
EEMNERMRBHRFEHE A REEITE-
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 81
property rights.
R RARIE A ER G AN E R -

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 80
HilEERTBAEREREKER -
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 80

implemented and monitored.

HWUUH B EBRRERLBRBE  ARBERTRERT A
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RIF-HEBREIBHERS

Material Aspect
EEERm

Content

AR

Page Index/Remarks
BERES s

B7 Anti-corruption X &35

General Disclosure

—RIKE

B7.1

B7.2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
B ILARRE B1R  BEF ROE R
(@) W% &

(b) BFHBETAGEAXENHEBERRERNER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
REBRAAHETASIEEEREVEELENEGTHARGENEE RF

AN\ 4t
AAER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how
they are implemented and monitored.
P MIEE M RRER URBEBRITRER A

B8 Community Investment it &8 &

General Disclosure

—REE

B&8.1

B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

AN R2ERTHREEMEHENTENBREEZEB TG E R
I T &5 BB o

Focus areas of contribution.

ErEREE-

Resources contributed to the focus area.

EEIHEMBANER-
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ ? bakertilly
yN::E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HONG KONG EDUCATION (INT'L) INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

=

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (“Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) set out on pages
103 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 30 June 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

B % RS

BEERT (ER)RRKEARLF
(RESHEEMK LR EREFEZBERIAE])
i1 % 3R

BER

TEEERBINFEIOSE29EFEHE (BRI
BEBEARQR([ERA) REMBAR (5MHE &
£E ) WERE B RER (B R202056 A30H MR
BMBHRRKARBEZB IEFENGRSEE LEMD
zﬁﬂﬁz iR ARG RLGARTRER) A
REFBHRRNE (EREIESBEME) -

EERE GEVBRERCBEESSHAE ([F
Eermae ) BHENEST B REEDN ([EEH
BREEANDEEMAFib R &5 ERN2020F
6A30BMRE VBRI REEBEZR EFENGE
MBERBEMMEARERE  YERBESAIENH
BEERMESHRE -
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

1. Valuation of financial instruments classified as

Level 3 under fair value hierarchy

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Notes 21 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
of financial instruments recognised by the Group as at
30 June 2020. Further details of the valuation technique(s)
and unobservable input(s) of financial instruments classified
as Level 3 under fair value hierarchy are disclosed in Note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter
RRERFER

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting to
approximately HK$12,429,000 and HK$30,321,000
respectively, in aggregate representing 39.60% of the net
assets of the Group as at 30 June 2020. In which listed
equity securities of approximately HK$30,321,000 included
in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were
suspended shares which represented 28.09% of the net
assets of the Group as at 30 June 2020. The remaining of
approximately HK$12,429,000 are unlisted investments held
by the Group as at 30 June 2020. These financial instruments
are valued with inputs that were not based on available
observable market data and were classified as Level 3 fair
value financial instruments as at 30 June 2020.

The Group considered the aggregate amount of Level 3
financial instruments is material to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as at 30 June 2020.

M2020F6 A30H " BEBEBEHE A H 512,429,000 7T
%30,321,0008 TR A FEFAEME2EEZEN S R
BERMEAFEFABENESREE 6X4G E5£ERN
202056 A30H B E HEM39.60% £ - IZ A FET AR
mHEREERE LMRAZES (BFRRM) 430,321,000
BT BEHEERN202096A308 & E FER28.09% ° &
THI#12,429,0008 LA BEHEBER2020F6A30RF AR
FELETRE -ZEEMITANRIIEER AT ESHITERT
BEE N AR B ETHE B R2020E6 A30R ED A
FE=RAFESHMIE-

EEERR/F=-RETWMIANREY
6A30EMGEEMBERERMEBEAX

B £ B M2020%F
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1.

SEBLTFERBZEZRZEMIALZ
{8 (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ESRERPNNEEER

Our audit procedures included:

==
=

i

evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external
valuation experts engaged by management;

assessing and evaluating the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies used by the
independent external valuers in estimating the fair
value and key assumptions used by management
in different valuation models by reviewing the
contract terms and the relevant market conditions
and businesses of each Level 3 financial
instrument;

reviewing the contractual agreements, relevant
legal document and the calculation made by
management and obtaining the investment
confirmation to verify the existence and accuracy
of the Group’s ownership and/or number of
shares in each Level 3 financial instrument; and

MWEZEFBRE:

AEEEBREBMINSEEERNBILIE B
B REBIE:

BEREHMANKIUARBTEE=ZRERIT AN
MEETR MR fF i R BN D E AR
A EEBRTRGEERAMB AT EKER
RREEAOBETEEREN

ERA OIS BREEXN RETEBET
MEtE YERSRERRE URE EEESE
HEZREBMITANMBERHBMHEE K
T R RN R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

1.

Valuation of financial instruments classified as
Level 3 under fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The key audit matter
RAEEXER

In light of the unquoted and illiquid nature of these Level 3
financial instruments, the assessment of fair value was highly
subjective and required a number of significant estimates and
critical judgements to be made by management. The fair value
of each of these unlisted investments and those suspended
shares were based on the best available information to
management and do not necessarily represent amounts which
might ultimately be realised. The fair value of these Level 3
financial instruments were subject to change depending on
future circumstances and cannot be accurately determined
until each of them is disposed.

There is a risk that inaccurate judgements made in the
assumptions and the key inputs of the valuation models could
lead to an inaccurate valuation of the unlisted investments
and those suspended shares. In turn, the amounts at which
these financial instruments were carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position, the net changes in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income could be materially misstated.

ERZEF—AeRITEANERERIETHEL A TFED
FEAEEBRENEEE YREEEREELZEEANGR
BEHE - FEZSEF LIMREARZSEERMHATE
DEREBERVRAGNEAEE YT —ERKATERK
KRERNSHE ZEE-ReMIANQAFEAREEAER
RIGEAMEMEE MELESESM T AR LERET
BERTE-

FERRLEERANERE AZRIBAEN TN ERA RS
BRHFLMRERZFFER DO T ERGENRR -
G ERZEeRIAEFEMBEIRARNSIEIA
kEFeaBa kM2 ERERNRATFESFABRENS R
BERBRAFEMAREMSZARGNEREENRTEZS
FREMBEAER -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPNMERER

e  evaluating the appropriateness and adequacy of
the disclosures of the valuation of the financial
instruments in the consolidated financial
statements.

o MEmaMBHmRTEHSRMTIAMBMENRKED
EEERTERME-



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables, other loan receivables and loan
receivables

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Notes 23 to 25 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures of
trade and other receivables, other loan receivable and loan
receivables recognised by the Group as at 30 June 2020.

The key audit matter
REEXER

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s trade and other receivables,
other loan receivables and loan receivables amounted
to approximately HK$12,779,000, HK$12,000,000 and
HK$36,250,000 respectively.

In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment loss over these receivables and consider whether
the impairment provision for trade and other receivables, other
loan receivables and loan receivables is adequate require
management judgement.

2020F6 H30H - HEEE S R %A £12,779,0007 7T -
12,000,0007% 7T £ 36,250,0007% 7T #) & 5 & E fth & Y 50 1A
JE W E B R e FE MR B K o

REERERFEZSFREFEEREBRNEBRERALE

Fé%&ﬁ@fw AR AR T 0
BRERAE BEEREFLHN-

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % S e RS

MEBEFXER (&)

2. BAREMEERE BRAEMEREE
Wir 5 2Rk (B BT 4

B B @B R R R A
MEANBRRONEIRA  AREH B
ﬁéQM%Hmaaﬁw%%&ﬁM§wM
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

ESRERPNNEEER

Our audit procedures included:

o understanding, evaluating and validating the
key controls over impairment assessment of
the receivables, which relates to management’s
identification of events that triggered the provision
for impairment/expected credit losses of the
receivables and estimation of the amount of these
provisions;

e  carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to
test the accuracy of the aging of the receivables
as at the end of the reporting period;

EENEREFBTE:
o TH FEEZEEREVRGERETGHOBEE
THIEE - 2 SR HEE T IR T A8 B IR UNGRIE
BEEE,/ BHEEBENEHNMRI LY
ZEBECEMNMGET

o DAmMBEEITRMITRER  ORFBUGIER RS
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

2.

Impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables, other loan receivables and loan
receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEFERER

In determining the impairment provision/expected credit
losses of trade and other receivables, other loan receivables
and loan receivables, the recoverability of these receivables
was assessed by the management taking into account the
credit quality and likelihood of their collection.

REETE B 5 N H At FE YRR - B WLt B 3R % R M B R B R
EEE/TAREEBHER EEELZREEEE KM
] BE M T 7T 5% 5 B MR TR Y T LR B 1 o
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPUNMERER

e evaluating the management’s process for
reviewing the collectability of the receivables by
reference to the credit quality, likelihood of their
collection and the past settlement history and
records;

e tracing a sample of the actual cash settlements
during the year to bank receipts; and

e tracing a sample of the post year end subsequent
settlements to bank receipts.

. ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ,\E% W [a] 1 AT BE 1 Ko i
EREEFE L MO8 R M T e U R IR /Y R YR [E] 14
E"]/}IL%EE’
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to Notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies and accounting
estimates and judgements and refer to Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures of
goodwill recognised by the Group as at 30 June 2020.

The key audit matter
REEXFER

As at 30 June 2020, the net carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,110,000 of the Group’s goodwill was mainly allocated
to a cash-generating unit, namely, the provision of private
educational services in Hong Kong, which the activity arose
from the acquisition of Wind Fly Dragon Int'l Limited (“Wind
Fly™).

The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill is based
on the future business prospects and the forecast business
performance of the business.

R2020F6 A30H © BEHEEEERREFEX)5,110,0007%
TEIBORE—EARSELEM IREFBRELAKER
B RERBUBTEREERARAB (ITEREZE
7% o

i A B M B R D RIR X R R R R TS A = I FEOBI 3
BRIRAETT -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

ESERERPMNEREIR
Our audit procedures included:

e evaluating the independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity of the external
valuation expert engaged by management;

e evaluating the valuation methodologies and
assumptions including comparing source and
market data used in the underlying assumptions
for the valuation of Wind Fly with reference to
comparable companies;

BEENERERFEHRE:

48

HEEEEZREMNIBEEEROBLIE B
- PINES A

o HMEREITERER BREUKSEAELETR

ARHTEREETHENEBRRAANE
AR N 5 BRI
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

3.

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

The key audit matter
HAEERER

There is inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows, which are the basis of the
assessment of recoverability of goodwill and, accordingly,
this is one of the key judgemental areas upon which our
audit focused on. There is a risk that the key assumptions,
estimates and judgements on which the calculations are
based are inappropriate and that goodwill is misstated as a
consequence.

BEZ A RE TR BARMBRERIRSRE
EFRTARRE I&tﬁﬁzﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%iﬁ&Zﬁqﬂ—flﬁﬁﬁi

HI 005 - B R AR ET E AT KR 2 B RAR b5t RHET L
TEE  SIBERRAEE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERERPUNMERER

assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions, including budgeted revenue,
pre-tax discount rate and growth rate beyond
the five-year period, used for calculating the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
as adopted by management for the goodwill
impairment assessment; and

evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the impairment
assessment of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements.

TR EREAETHEREMATRAL AR
STERSESBEMMAIRESEMBRRR (2
FEERA BAMRERAFHEZEEER)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

=
£

REMMERGEMERRARBHRE

BEENEERAERTHEFFAVBHREABEME R
BT EAERR KGR AR MG ERHERRA - I
ZHEEESEANRBMBE AREEREAR
ZIBIFRRDEAFROKAELSERN B TEL - T
EEMRE BEFMIRABRERNTRETAEMAL
AEEXE FEMEE-

EEBEBESERNKE ERTREREEBE
HAETHEZ TEESIRREREMFENERER
BRI - 88 RR R AL m] R BR R SR 88 AR 1 22 AE - i 1 Bl SR BB
BESEBHABRATAREELAEREZSRAME
BRELNEERTER  ARRSEXBRRAL

REFBBRTENETERR EFERFTEHL -
VTREFEFZBETREEXEREE -BF

- BRI RFHEBERAGF R M BB A M RE

FHEBABRBANER R RATERER
FEH 25 E - AR T & ME B N EZR
BEREEERMNEAR - AR KA S RS
W R BRER  ERRIEOZE N ERESIA
B E R BE IR RAFF M B MM ERFERR
A ER SR REE R RN ERMEHMERHR
BR st 9 L B

R -BYERYE BEREAMEH A RIEE

fREEZEBORNBES ARHEENEX
RER-

- FHEEFRFAEASFBERNEEEREL S A

AR EN AR -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (Continued)

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % bh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 September 2020

Tong Wai Hang
Practising Certificate Number P0O6231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GelRankEMRDNSE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B it F#T FEr
Revenue L ON

— Provision of private educational services — AL AHE RS 63,191 104,934
— Interest income from money lending —EFF B A 4,052 4,006
7 67,243 108,940
Other income, gains and losses, net HaUg A - Uz K Es1E - 558 8 (42,656) 405
Staff costs 8 T A 10 (41,097) (51,286)
Tutor contractor fee EEEAR B (12,608) (22,337)
Lease payments HERK (25,550) (42,004)
Marketing expenses MISHERERX (2,504) (5,266)
Printing costs EN Rl & A (733) (367)
Depreciation and amortisation & K5 (13,159) (10,202)

Change in fair value of financial assets at BRAFEFABES
fair value through profit or loss TREENQATEE (10,752) (19,826)
Other operating expenses Hi &M% (23,200) (34,341)
Finance costs W% EA 9 (1,518) (40)
Share of results of a joint venture i R /NS E 20 (726) (571)
Loss before tax B 75 A& 18 10 (107,260) (76,895)
Income tax credit Frigfif e 12 53 65
Loss for the year FEBR (107,207) (76,830)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GEelREEREMEERSE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H I EE

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B it F#ETT FET
Other comprehensive (expense) income, Hth2m (X))
net of income tax B BR
Items that will not be reclassified FTEEFHSHEERZH
to profit or loss: FE:
Fair value changes on movements in equity 1ZAFETAHMEME
instruments at fair value through other WA T EEE)
comprehensive income RN EE (2,993) 6,816
Items that may be reclassified REGEEHFEERZH
subsequently to profit or loss: FE:
Exchange differences arising on HE G MK TSR
translating foreign operations EEMELEZR (8) (85)
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEEME2E (FAZ) k-
for the year, net of income tax MBRFA1EHL (3,001) 6,731
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEZ2EASTH#ETE (110,208) (70,099)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: INTATEEFE (BEB)E:
Owners of the Company KRNBEB A (107,194) (77,438)
Non-controlling interests IR (13) 608
(107,207) (76,830)
Total comprehensive (expense) income WTFATEAEEEEZA
for the year attributable to: (X)) ha4EE:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE N (110,195) (70,707)
Non-controlling interests IR ER (13) 608
(110,208) (70,099)
Loss per share B|ERER 13
— Basic (HK$) —E R ET) (0.20) (0.14)
— Diluted (HK$) —858 (Eor) (0.20) (0.14)

The notes on pages 112 to 239 form part of these consolidated FII2E20E ATE NI AN SHRETBRERA— 2

financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
el IIRinE

At 30 June 2020 202056 530H

2020 2019
20205 20194
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
it FET FET
(Note)
(Hizz)
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB R 15 4,786 16,829
Right-of-use assets HREEE 16 6,886 =
Goodwill e 17 5,170 23,843
Other intangible assets Hih P& E 18 99 297
Interest in an associate R—HBERRNER 19 = =
Interest in a joint venture R—EEERAINER 20 3,325 4,851
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAEMEERES
other comprehensive income TREE 21 12,429 15,422
Non-current deposits JEMEBIRE 22 1,902 9,260
34,597 70,502
Current assets mEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 RE M ERFIA 23 12,779 25,908
Other loan receivables E R E K 24 12,000 43,000
Loan receivables JEUE X 25 36,250 40,900
Current tax assets BNERTRIE & B 72 72
Amount due from an associate JE U — eI Bt 8 R B 3R 26 793 780
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFFABERN
profit or loss TREE 27 48,548 65,984
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 28 5,437 6,839
115,879 183,483
Current liabilities nEBRAR
Other payables and accruals B ENRIBE N ERE R 29 15,470 15,606
Contract liabilities EHaE 30 5,790 10,336
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 4,247 =
Current tax liabilities BERFIE B (& 25 74
Amounts due to related parties JFE <t BE Bt 5 K08 32 5,368 5,868
Other borrowings HEMER 33 7,816 3,001
38,716 34,885
Net current assets mENEERE 77,163 148,598
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTBAR 111,760 219,100
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IRIKINE
At 30 June 2020 72020465308

2020 2019
2020% 20194
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt F#T FiET
(Note)
(Kiat)
Non-current liabilities ERBDAR
Deferred tax liabilities REMIBEE 34 104 137
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 3,044 =
Provision for long service payments RHIRS 2B E 35 663 806
3,811 943
Net assets BESHE 107,949 218,157
Capital and reserves BEREH
Share capital fi& AR 36 27,379 27,379
Reserves A 80,485 190,680
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE AEGER
the Company 107,864 218,059
Non-controlling interests AR = 85 98
Total equity EEWME 107,949 218,157

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 239 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on

28 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tsang Ka Wai
£ 3
Director

EF

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 July 2019. Under the
transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated.

(See Note 2)

The notes on pages 112 to 239 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &FEH# A (BE)BREEEAR AT
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Wong King Hoi
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Consolidated

Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Company

mm
For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202096H30H [t F &

il'-- Ay

gL

ARAREAES
Fair value Attributable to
Share Share Contributed Merger Capital reserve Translation ~ Accumulated non-controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve  (non-recycling) reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
NFERE Fik
e BHEE et AlER BAgE  (FTEE) EXRR ZitEE It Rkl 3t
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FEr 7z FEr TEr &z & & & AT & TET
(Note ) (Note 1) (Note i)
(Hi#i) (Histi) (Hiii)
At 1July 2018 H201857818 21319 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (26,103) (18) (474,759) 288766 (510) 288256
(Loss) profitfor the year 8 (BiB)&F = > S = = - - (77438) (77438) 608 (76,830)
Eichange differences arising on AERNEEEBRELY
translating foreign operations EXZE - - - - - - (85 - (85) - 85)
Fair value changes on movements in equiy instruments  RATFEH AL b2 TR
at fair value through other comprehensive income BRATAZSHHATERY - - - - - 6816 - - 6816 5 6816
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year FEAENE (RR)EE - - - - - 6,816 (85) (77438) (70,707) 608 (70,099)
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal of HERAFEIALBZERES
financial assets at far value through other SHEERNENHEAE
comprehensive income - - - - - 38718 - (3878) - - -
At 30 June 2019 H2019865308 21319 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (15,409) (103) (556,075) 218059 %8 218157
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

22 £ g=g

MOEREEE

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATNEABG
Fair value Attributable to
Share Share Contributed Merger Capital reserve Translation ~ Accumulated non-controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve  (non-recycling) reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
ATEER R
kx ERHER R#ER AHER REgE  (FUEH) ESHE RitER i Ham @
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note i)
(ki) (Hitii) (Hitiii)
At 1 July 2019 H201987818 21,379 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (15,409) (103) (556,075) 218,059 %8 218,157
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - (107,194) (107,194) (13) (107,207)
Exchange differences arising on BEEMISERRELY
translating foreign operations EXZE - - - - - - ) - [t3] - [t]
Fair value changes on movements in equity instruments  RAFEH AL B2 EREN
at fair value through other comprehensive income RATAZONLTEED - - - - - (2,993) - - (2,993) - (2,993)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ERPARTLE - - - - - (2,993) @) (107,194) (110,195) (13) (110,208)
At 30 June 2020 R2020%6A308 21,379 403,188 386,954 (28,321) 446 (18,402) (111) (663,269) 107,864 85 107,949
Notes: Btaz -
(i) The contributed surplus of the Group represented the credit arising () AEBZEGARSBIEADRN2015F5A AT ElkmnE

(1)

(ifi)

from the cancellation of share premium account and the reduction
of share capital of the Company in May 2015. The balance may be
utilised by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws, including to
eliminate the accumulated losses of the Company.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of Sino Network Group Limited (“Sino Network”)
and the Company issued in exchange for the entire issued share
capital of Express Education Limited in 2010 and Sino Network
pursuant to group reorganisation in 2011.

The capital reserve represented capital contribution arising from
transfers of interest in subsidiaries to shareholders and waiver of
amount due to a shareholder in prior periods.

The notes on pages 112 to 239 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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ARBEARAZABRMARAEER AR ERZLE
7 BREANEHEARR R EE-

(i) A PFEE# HESino Network Group Limited ([Sino
Network |) B2 K 2 5] 1R 5 £ E E 42 R 20104F 3t &
HExpress Education Limited & 720114 5t # EXSino
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
miﬁ IQE"IIE?Y

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % Z2020F6A30H I-F[E

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
NOTES F# T FET
(Note)
i3 (K1)
Cash flows from operating activities BETDRENALNE
Loss before tax B 5 A E 48 (107,260) (76,895)
Adjustments for: BATIEB EHFAE:
Share of results of a joint venture i R /NS E ¥ 726 571
Bank and other interest income HRITREMF S WA 8 (1,117) (3,866)
Finance costs s ER 9 1,518 40
Change in fair value of financial assets BEATEFAERD
at fair value through profit or loss TREENRNFES 10,752 19,826
Loss on write off of property, plant and MBI - BB R
equipment &8 8 4,601 903
Depreciation of property, plant and YIRS R EREITE
equipment 15 7,654 10,004
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 16 5,307 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b A A 18 198 198
Impairment loss on goodwill e 7 REEE 8 18,673 1,665
Impairment loss on H e W sk IE 2
other receivables, net EEE - FEE 8 1,260 3,135
Impairment loss on other loan receivables Efth JEU B 3k 2 B EE 18 8 18,249 -
Impairment loss on a loan receivable FEWEF 2 RmEEE 8 6,574 =
Write off of trade receivables 88 2 FE U GRIE 8 2 -
Write off of other receivables Hift 5 B b FE URRIR 10 - 1
Write off of other payables Hif 8 b FE S 5ROR 8 (3,251) -
Reversal of provision for long service REIRRH € B RO
payments 35 (109) (456)
Dividend received from listed equity Bl ETRABHFNRE
securities 21 20
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

meHENEXR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H I EE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
NOTES F# T FET
(Note)
M it (H1at)
Operating cash flows before movements BESEEAIMN
in working capital KERERE (36,202) (44,854)
Decrease in deposits, trade and other 2% 85 REMBERFIERLD
receivables 20,189 6,373
Increase in loan receivables JE W & SR 38 0 (1,924) (9,140)
Increase in listed equity securities TR AR E L N (1,237) (12,774)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilites & #1 & & (J 4> ) 1 hn (4,546) 10,336
Increase in other payables and accruals — Efth J& (< 7038 & & 51 8 F & N 2,413 5,968
Decrease in deferred income Y AR D - (10,851)
Decrease in long service payments RHRB 2R (34) (5)
Cash used in operations LEMMARS (21,341) (54,947)
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refunded (B ERBBAER (29) 22
Net cash used in operating activities KEEE ARG FEE (21,370) (54,925)
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHMEHEERE
Interest received BB 150 647
Dividends received from a joint venture BEl—HEEE FMNKRE 800 1,000
Advance to an associate M — S QRN (13) (168)
Repayment from other loan receivables HE W ERAER 20,651 5,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment % 5 %% - &&= K& E (177) (2,272)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAFEFAEMEME
at fair value through other WM SR EEMB IR
comprehensive income - 10,382
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H&IR A FEF AEBFH
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSHIA = 490
Proceeds from partial redemption of BRI IEAFEFAEBRZHN
financial assets at fair value through SREEFERIA
profit or loss - 1,100
Net cash generated from KEEHFAENIREFE
investing activities 21,411 16,179

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&# A

(B REEEHRAR




Consolidated Statement of Cash FIows

nﬂ' o Iq i 2 lllli

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # £20206F6H30H IFFE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
NOTES F# T FET
(Note)
i3 (K1)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRENEESRE
Repayment to related parties EZ R 7 708 39 (500)
Other borrowings raised I E b {5 3R 39 14,500 5,000
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER 39 (9,700) (2,000)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERAERE 2 E RIS 39 (4,378) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERS 2 EES 39 (746)
Interest paid AR E 39 (611) (39)
Net cash (used in) generated from BEEB (FTA) T2
financing activities R 558 (1,435) 2,961
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR & NI & E B D F58 (1,394) (35,785)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNEeRREEEYD
beginning of the year 6,839 42,709
Effects of exchange rate changes EEREFHrTE (8) (85)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRNREEREFEY
end of the year 5,437 6,839

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 July 2019. Under the
transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated.

(See Note 2)

The notes on pages 112 to 239 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

it REEDR2019F7AIRERERTEMBRESE
AIFE165E - BIBFMERNBER L LBEHTTE

5l o (R MiEE2)

11282398 FTE i RERE

BUBHRE —

=
_4

|:|

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

111



112

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman lIslands on 26 January
2011 and continued in Bermuda on 7 May 2015 (Bermuda
time). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda. With effect from 2 March 2020, the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong has been changed
to Room 1003A, 10th Floor, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Its shares have
been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 4 July 2011.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of private educational services, investment in
securities and money lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H (- EE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:
HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(FRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015
HKFRSs — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases
— incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It introduces a
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a lessee
to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases, except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought forward from
HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

ERHIIRESTERMGEEER
(FEEMBEHEE])

REFERAEMOMITRIEBITESE
M IR 4ER)
AEECRAFEEREATIHEESAMD
G ([EREFMAG]) RANFTREEBTE
ARG £

FRM RS LR HE

F165

55 (BERMB®RE MEHEENTHETES
ZRRELZESE)
—BREBE23N

BB WRE AR BB A ENIRA
FEIEMIBE] 5 SRR 1

EBETEREIR  FTEEET  WREEE
MIEET

BB ERE28H REERRRAEQF
M1EET MRS

BB B WS ER 2015F 201 7F B
BHEET BEMBREEL 2

FEE

BRTXFatEIN RAFERBHE REETER
AUBHREENHAEERTERELBEFEN
BBRBERMRAR, SiFa BRI E
WEERBEATE

FEMEREEAEICRER
EEMBHRELENZIHEDRAETB ST ER
FI7FHE RERERE B8 (BRY B H
TREZE)REBELN [EELHRTEEE
5 AR (EBREZEG)REFISR(KLE
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B[ FHE S REEZRRVANRZEL | - A5lA
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EREREEELHERGE HHEHEHNA T @
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MERIN - BEANEARENABRETES
FHERIELI7RMRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

mwh O

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 July
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 July 2019. Comparative information has not
been restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied
are set out below:

(i) New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into
or changed on or after 1 July 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 July 2019, the Group has used
the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that were
previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17 continue
to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS 16 and
contracts previously assessed as non-lease service
arrangements continue to be accounted for as executory
contracts.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to

previous accounting policies and the transition options applied

are set out below: (Continued)

(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalise all leases when it
is the lessee, including leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, other than those
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets which
are exempt. As far as the Group is concerned, these
newly capitalised leases are primarily in relation to
properties as disclosed in Note 38. For an explanation of
how the Group applies lessee accounting, see Note 3.

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 July 2019),
the Group determined the length of the remaining lease
terms and measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1 July 2019.
The weighted average of the incremental borrowing
rates used for determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 12%.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied
are set out below: (Continued)

(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)
To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied
the following recognition exemption and practical
expedients at the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(A) the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e.
where the lease term ends on or before 30 June
2020; and

(B) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied
a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment).
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERWMAIREEITIEREMBEREER
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (IERMBEEER]) (&)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to

FEMBREENEIGRER] (&)
BT ST RREDNEENZERAEAN
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied EEMEENE - SEEY T (&)
are set out below: (Continued)
(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) (i) REAANBGHEBERBRELE (Z)

TR ABR20199F6 A30H AI4E & &R R

R2019F7A1R RN EE R BEHNAR

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as at 30 June 2019 to the opening balance

for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019: HY 5 ER
1 July 2019
2019%7H1H
HK$'000
FET
Operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019 A201946 H30H K48 & TH & A IE 64,130
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from B EEENMeEE AR
capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases with remaining lease — s T E HI 70202066 A30H
term ending on or before 30 June 2020 AR EHEAE R
HEwHE (9,497)
— leases early terminated on or before 30 June 2020 — 20206 A30H 2k
ZHIRRIRIEMEE (48,355)
Less: rent concession received during the year R AFEERNKRERNESER (52)
6,226
Less: total future interest expenses B RRA B 4258 (556)
Present value of remaining lease payments, discounted T ENFIRE (ER20194F
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 7A1BMFEIE B RFIEREEIR) 5,670
Analysed as: XK
— Current portion —BNEAER & 3,570
— Non-current portion —JERNEAER & 2,100
5,670
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H I EE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied
are set out below: (Continued)

(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised
at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 30 June 2019.

The following table summarises the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position:

2. ERWIIRESTERMBGHEER
(IrEBMBHEEMN]) (&)

FEMBREERNEICRIEAR] (&)
BRBTEETBREGNEENTE MAERAN
BEMERE—SFBERIIDOT : (F)

(i) REAANGHEZRBREEE (&)
EBEDEAKERENHERBNERE
BECRBESNIAFSKEERERINESER
MR WHE201956F6 A30R &7 & M ik R
RAER M EZHE BB ATEN &R
HENRECRETHE -

TREULRAE S 58 EAIE 165 EA
EENGAVBRARNTE:

Carrying  Capitalisation of Carrying
amount at operating lease amount at
30 June 2019 contracts 1 July 2019
®20195% ®20195
6A30HH BERS 7R188
REE EHEFL REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Line items in the consolidated 2B EEMBEHE
statement of financial HERAFEIcELEN
position impacted by the FaMBRARN
adoption of HKFRS 16: HAE:
Right-of-use assets FREEE = 5,670 5,670
Total non-current assets WERDHEE 70,502 5,670 76,172
Lease liabilities (current) HEaE (RIEEHS) = 3,570 3,570
Total current liabilities HWRBAaR 34,885 3,570 38,455
Net current assets mBEERE 148,598 (3,570) 145,028
Total assets less current HEERTDAR
liabilities 219,100 2,100 221,200
Lease liabilities (non-current) A& & & (FERNERES 5 ) - 2,100 2,100
Total non-current liabilities WIERDAERE 943 2,100 3,043
Net assets BRESRE 218,157 - 218,157
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to

previous accounting policies and the transition options applied

are set out below: (Continued)

(iii) Impact on the financial result and cash flows of the
Group
After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on
the outstanding balance of the lease liabilities, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use assets, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. This results in an insignificant impact on
the reported loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss, as
compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied
during the year.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group
as a lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their capital element and interest
element. These elements are classified as financing
cash outflows, similar to how leases previously classified
as finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather
than as operating cash outflows, as was the case for
operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash
flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore
results in change in presentation of cash flows within the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Except as mentioned above, the adoption of HKFRS 16
does not have significant impact on certain line items
on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of cash flows if HKAS 17 had
been applied during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 3
Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent Concession 2
HKFRS 16
Amendments to Definition of a Business °
HKFRS 3
Amendments to Definition of Material !
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to Hedge accounting !
HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
HKAS 28 Venture #
Conceptual framework Revised conceptual Framework for
for Financial Financial Reporting !
reporting 2018
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

e Effective for business combination for which the acquisition date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these new standards, interpretations
and amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
applications. So far, it has concluded that the adoption
of them will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEstEHE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset take into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9,
or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy for
share-based payments arrangements below); and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liguidation may be initially measured either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interests were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy for business combination above)
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or
groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and a
joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that
has not been classified as held for sale shall be accounted
for using the equity method. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint
venture (see the accounting policy for impairment of other
non-current assets below).

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, an associate
and a joint venture, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date of the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, please see Note 6. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into

one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost: if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see the accounting policy for revenue and other
income recognition below).

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) — recycling: if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses (“ECLs”), interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL: if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

3. EXEHBE (&)

REREFEESRE (£)

BRERFERELIIGRE
AEERFH ZEBRAREDBRATES — @5

B8R

o BN MHMEREDNFKELARGHATR
B AAEAXNEERHE - REMSH
BRATIERBERMEE (R TXHRERA
REMBEER 2GR RER)FTE-

s BAFEFARMEEWE ([RAFER
ARMEEEE]) —ATEE: HREZA
NREREEERASENEMFK BRE
DA B RREKRNAMNRERE R
EZEBEARE A VFEESREMEE
W AR - R EEER ([AREES
B FBRA(ERERMEEFE) R
PE 3 W sk Ko B IR B s A FERRRIRR SN« B 4%
BWRIEHER REMEERGE R 2R
BREDEEEEEE-

o BAFEARE: MRETTEREHK
A A FEFARMEE S (7] 25)
AEZERE RENDNTEEZD (2EME)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

133



134

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purpose and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained profits/accumulated losses. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the accounting policy for revenue and other
income recognition set out below.

Revenue and other income recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the provision of services and sale of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Franchising income includes initial fees and continuing
franchise fees. Initial fees are recognised when the Group has
performed substantially all initial services and other obligations
required of the franchisor (the Group) under the franchise
agreements. Continuing franchise fees represent fees charged
for the use of continuing rights granted by a franchise
agreement, or for other services provided during the period
of a franchise agreement, are recognised as revenue as the
services are provided or the rights are used.

Income from provision of tutoring and education services is
recognised when the tutorial and educational services are
rendered.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the products.

Supporting services income is recognised when the services
are rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment have been established.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see the
accounting policy for credit losses from financial instruments
below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue and other income recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows: (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Policy applicable from 1 July 2019:

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2019: (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see the accounting policy for
impairment of other non-current assets below). Depreciation is
calculated to write off the cost of right-of-use assets using the
straight-line method over the lease term.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 July 2019: (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as
separate line items in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Policy applicable prior to 1 July 2019:

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

BEXEEE (&)

HAERE (&)

EBRBEA (&)

B2019%F 71 H#EFHABE - (&)
AEBEGEVBRRRBERAREENEESR
B2 A®IEE -

H2019%7 A1 H Fi 8 89 B K -

REMENR (BEKEHSRTHANKEL
HWHKA) DR ERNEREERRB R
BRI AEREEFRRREEEERERGE
2z RBEBELAER® KEHETELZHA
HeREEAHRERR/FAX

AT LR EHERWNEEESR RIARESME
RRABE - BRANEUNEREERR/ESMAX
WM BRIERBERGEEFRRRBEEELE
o 18R

M E Rz R EER ﬁ‘H’EE‘Jm °

e
a

I

RESBEISEERNYBHRRE UZEEHN

WREEBIMIMNER NS ETTHR S B 5
ié?EIE@EETTE%ﬁ?’Eau\°EA§E¢HHﬂi’DA?\\M@HE
WEBKEBAE ANRITERENRE - URQF
BRI AINESIER FFERIAE ?ﬁ?z*"ﬁﬁ
HEMRITEREMIAE « R LA ASNEA
FRREEHWIER T TEHMBRE



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial
disposal of the Group's interests.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those asset until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Short-term employee benefits and retirement
benefit costs

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are carried at their present values.

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss as and when employees have
rendered services that entitling them to the contributions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for long service payments

Provision for long service payments under the requirements
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is recognised when
the employees have rendered services entitling them to the
benefits. The amounts recognised are determined at the
management’s best estimate of the future cash outflow for
settlement of the obligations and measured on a discounted
basis, if the effect is material.

Share-based payments arrangements

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve).

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H I EE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense for the year represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from (loss before tax) as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy for
impairment on other non-current assets below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy for impairment
on other non-current assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses
(see the accounting policy for credit losses from financial
instruments below).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in

accordance with the accounting policy for credit losses from
financial instruments below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on financial
assets measured at amortised cost (including bank balances
and cash, trade and other receivables, other loan receivables,
loan receivables and amount due from an associate).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
securities measured at FVPL and financial assets designated
at FVOCI (non-recycling), are not subject to ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the debt
is drawn down), discounted when the effect of discounting is
material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

mwh O

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs which result from possible
default events over the expected lives of these financial assets.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The 12-month
ECLs are losses that are expected to result from possible
default events within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the end of the reporting period with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 1 year past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal and interest on
their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

mwh O

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised (see the accounting policy for
revenue and other income recognition above) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity instrument below its cost or
disappearance of an active market for a security because
of supervision of issuer’s shares trading.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;

—  right-of-use assets;

- goodwill;

— other intangible assets;

— interests in an associate and a joint venture; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a CGU).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the CGU to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if determinable).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see the accounting policy for revenue and other
income recognition above). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also
be recognised (see the accounting policy for trade and other
receivables above).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy for borrowing costs
above.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical accounting judgement

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible
assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and other
intangible assets have suffered any impairment in accordance
with accounting policies stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell, whichever are
higher. These calculations require the use of judgments and

estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical accounting judgement (Continued)

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible
assets (Continued)

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the valuation models for impairment review purpose.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in
assessing impairment could materially affect the result
of the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations. If there is a
significant adverse change in the key assumptions applied,
it may be necessary to take additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Please refer to Notes 17 and 18 for
details.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment allowances on trade and other receivables, other
loan receivables and loan receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and other
receivables, other loan receivables and loan receivables by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of the reporting
period. Where the estimation is different from the previous
estimate, such difference will affect the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables, other loan receivables and loan
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period in
which such estimate is changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4., EEEHHEHREIRAEBEEMNE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY BRR(EZ)
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for long service payments

The provision for long service payments is based on the
best estimate of the future payments required to settle the
obligations under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in
relation to the employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

In making this judgement, the management mainly considers
the number of current employees who have achieved the
required number of years of service to the Group, at the
end of the reporting period, who are eligible for long service
payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the
employee turnover rate as well as salary growth. Any change
in these estimates will affect the provision to be recognised.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where observable market data are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation and works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. The use of
valuation models and assumptions in valuing these financial
instruments is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement. Note 6 provide detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT o8

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new shares issues and debt financing.

The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of net debt,
which includes lease liabilities and other borrowings less bank
balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital to monitor its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio. The ratio is expressed
by as a percentage of total debts less bank balances and cash
over the total equity. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

The gearing ratios at 30 June 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

BxERER

AEBEEEEN URARAEE ZERETF
B2 RANEABLCETERER TEHARRS
REAOH AEBENERRBME EFERFTT

EEETEHRANEARE - ERARTH— B
D EEEREARANEZRHNELREBHRE
B BB A E  BITH R EHRE T
BMHBEEANRE-

AEENEARBIERRFES (REHES
EREMEFRRITEHERS)  URARQR
FEANEGEZ AEBZEERNKARSER
BEAEENRR AERNEEBEHRETHEAR
B RABEGRIBITEGIIESHR LA
2 B AL BRI N E £2020F
K2019F6 A30R IE FE#EIF & o

2020 M2019F6 A30EMEEB B I
T

2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FAET
Total debts (Note) REB (M) 15,107 3,001
Less: Bank balances and cash WRITEHR KRS (5,437) (6,839)
Net debt FEB 9,670 (3,838)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 &1 A A FE/E kE 2 107,864 218,059
Gearing ratio BEEBELE 9% N/A 136
Note: Bt -
Total debts included lease liabilities and other borrowings of the Group BEEEEASENTHEEBEREMER FER

as detailed in Notes 31 and 33.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVOCI, trade and other receivables, other loan
receivables, loan receivables, amount due from an associate,
financial assets at FVPL, bank balances and cash, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related parties, other
borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate the effects of these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. & TITH
Categories of financial instruments eI RHRN
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BEATFEFAEZSNEREE 48,548 65,984
Financial assets at amortised cost BEER AT ENEREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREReER2EEY) 68,216 125,190
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAEMEERED
TREE 12,429 15,422
Financial liabilities EMER
Amortised cost B # 85 A 29,253 12,593
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERBEEARRBEK

AEENTIESMTARERATFEFAREMSE
EWENEREE B5REMEBKRIA i
M E R - BUE R - Rl — BB E R RIFR - 3%
AFEFABRSENERMEE RITEHLERE
HENREREFER BABHIHERE B
ftERLHERE - ZFE R T ANFEREM
HEPRE -AHRE R T ANE R K0 e
ZERRZEENERRHEN T -EREEER
EEZRTRR  URRIE RBARIE EEE S
Hg
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank balances. The Group is also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk related primarily to its fixed-rate
other loan receivables, loan receivables, other borrowings and
lease liabilities. The Directors consider the Group’s exposure
of the fair value interest rate risk on fixed-rate other loan
receivables, loan receivables, other borrowings and lease
liabilities and the cash flow interest rate risk on its bank
balances are insignificant. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in listed equity securities which included in
financial assets at FVOCI (see Note 21) and financial assets at
FVPL (see Note 27). The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on listed
equity securities.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective listed equity securities had been
10% (2019: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,522,000
(2019: approximately HK$2,203,000) as a result of the
change in fair value of listed security investments.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, trade and other receivables, other loan receivables,
loan receivables and amount due from an associate. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

(i) Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has a certain concentration of credit risk as 11% (2019:
9%) and 33% (2019: 29%) of the trade receivables
was due from the largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

In respect of trade receivables, management has a
credit policy in place and the exposure to the credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The Group allows an average credit
period within 30 days (2019: within 30 days) to its trade
customers. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. Management considers the aggregate
risks arising from the possibility of credit losses are
limited and to be acceptable.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(ir)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases. The management estimated the
expected loss rate is zero based on past experience and
industrial data.

Other financial assets

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

— internal credit rating

—  external credit rating (as far as available)

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that

are expected to cause a significant change to the
counterparties’ ability to meet its obligations
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMTITA (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERBREEABRRBE (£)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmE (&)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued) (i) Atz @EE (£&)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's
ECL model is as follows:

AEBzRREEFEREEXENNBRREE
LIINE

Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of ECL provision
A MRmES REARHGEHGHEBHROEE
Stage 1 Exposures where there has not been a Portion of the lifetime ECL associated with the

significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit-impaired
upon origination.

FE—FEER B YRR R 2 E 5 R b I A E IR
EREARITEEERELZIFR -

Stage 2 Exposures where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition
but are not credit-impaired.

FRE BURERBCEERBEELM
N EEEREZIER-
Stage 3 Exposures are assessed as credit-impaired

when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred.

E=FER EREGHREENGBARRERE
ERTMEEZ —RARZREN NEH
BRERFER/LREERE-

probability of default events occurring within
the next 12 months is recognised.

BRERR T —EALRENEF AN
BNz HEREREERNIS -

Lifetime expected losses (i.e. reflecting the
remaining lifetime of the financial asset) is
recognised.

BREMEHEE IRLEREENFHT
B

Lifetime expected losses is recognised and
interest revenue is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost
(net of provision) rather than the gross carrying
amount.

HRTHEREE WHEBEAERMN XN E
AR (AR EE) MIEBRE A E E A 2
Ao

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group'’s BRAARS B E E b e R IE - AR E R E
exposure to credit risk arising from other receivables, WEZMEENEERKRNE —P2LHEED R

other loan receivables and loan receivables are set out in M 5E23 ~ 24 K225 ©

Notes 23, 24 and 25 respectively.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

6.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(A) Other loan receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 93% (2019: 100%)
of the other loan receivables due from the Group’s

largest debtor.

The management of the Group assess the
collectability on the carrying value of the other loan
receivables at the end of each reporting period.
Management considers that the exposure to credit
risk is mitigated in view of management’s dedicated
effort in monitoring the outstanding balance and
positive development on settlement arrangement.

Having assessed the other loan receivables under
the ECL model, as at 30 June 2019, the Directors
concluded that there had been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but
are not credit-impaired. As a result, the other
loan receivables at 30 June 2019 are classified as

stage 2.

At 30 June 2020, other loan receivables of
approximately HK$18,249,000 (2019: HK$nil)
were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to debtors
that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables was
expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific

loss allowance was recognised.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

(A)

(B)

Other loan receivables (Continued)
ECLs allowances of other loan receivables

An analysis of changes in the corresponding

6. &MTIR (&)
MERBREEERERBE ()

ERmAE (&)
(i) EftrzmMEE (&)
(A) HEfpEUER (&)
HtEWER AMEEEERE
HENTEMEEERBRBZESH 2N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # E2020F6A30H [ FE

ECL allowances is as follows: o
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—RE ERE EZER @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FHT FAT FHET
Balance at 1 July 2019 R2019F7A1H 2 &% - - - -
New receivables originated  ¥7TE 4 U FRA 249 - - 249
Transfer to lifetime ECLs that BEZEEEREZ 2 HBES
are credit impaired FEER (249) - 249 =
Impact on year ended ECLs ~ FAZREER  HERHFREH
of exposures transferred FEBBRR Y E
between stages during
the year - - 18,000 18,000
Balance at 30 June 2020 202056 A308 2 & - - 18,249 18,249
Loan receivables (B) EUER
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REmEHRR AEENEERR S

a concentration of credit risk as 83% (2019: 82%)
of the loan receivables due from the Group's three
(2019: three) largest borrowing customers.

The Directors consider that the credit risk arising
from the loan receivables is significantly mitigated
by the collaterals held, if required. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans and interest receivables to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by

management.

e REAAEWE K H83% (20194 :

82% ) KB AEE=1{E (20195 : =1&)
RREREP -

EERA MEARE HFANERRA
KigRERKREREENEERR A
%ﬂﬁlrﬁ*@i&%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂ ¥
FERBES UEEREEERR T

BEETMENANGH-
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @MTIA (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HMERBREEABRRBE (£)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmE (&)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued) (i) BEttzmEE (&)
(B) Loan receivables (Continued) (B) EUWER (&)
Movements in the gross amount of loan receivables JEWERBREB 2 EEHMT

are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
el 1 BB BoRER #xt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2018 M2018%F7A1H 31,760 7,493 - 39,253
New loans originated HELER 15,006 = = 15,006
Repaid during the year REAFEBERE (5,866) - - (5,866)
At 1 July 2019 M2019%F7AH1H 40,900 7,493 - 48,393
New loans originated HELER 4,052 = = 4,052
Transfer R (6,574) (7,493) 14,067 =
Repaid during the year RAEEBEER (2,128) = = (2,128)
Write off during the year R R4 Z i 85 - - (7,493) (7,493)
At 30 June 2020 1202046 A30A 36,250 - 6,574 42,824
By class at 30 June 2020 7202056 A30H i R E o
— Loans receivable —EWRER 33,850 s 6,396 40,246
— Interest receivables —RULFI B 2,400 = 178 2,578
36,250 - 6,574 42,824
By class at 30 June 2019 7201946 H30R & B A& 2
— Loans receivable —ERER 40,296 6,378 = 47,174
— Interest receivables — U E 604 615 = 1,219
40,900 7,493 - 48,393
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(B) Loan receivables (Continued)
ECLs allowances of loan receivables

An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z202096H30H [- F /&

6. &MTIR (&)
MERBREEERERBE ()

ERmAE (&)
(i) EftrzmMEE (&)
(B) BEUWER (&)
FBUESR BREERBREE
HENTEMEEERBRBZESH 2N

allowances is as follows: o
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BE—RER BB BERR oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&ET FET FET
At 1 July 2018, M2018%F7A1H »
30 June 2019 and 20196 A30H &
1 July 2019 2019%7A1H - 7,493 - 7,493
Transfer to lifetime BEREEEREZ
ECLs that are 2HEBEEER
credit impaired - (7,493) 7,493 -
Impact on year ended ECLs A% [ B 2 48 5 0 FF R IE A5
of exposures transferred ~ EEBEERR Z F 2
between stages during
the year - - 6,574 6,574
Impairment loss written off 4 A3 855 (B E5 18
during the year - - (7,493) (7,493)
At 30 June 2020 $2020456 8308 - - 6,574 6,574
By class at 30 June 2020 7220206 A30H A 5l &l 5
— Loans receivable -l ER = s 6,396 6,396
— Interest receivables — B F B = = 178 178
- - 6,574 6,574
By class at 30 June 2019  R20199F6A30R L RIE %
— Loans receivable —EWER = 6,378 = 6,378
— Interest receivables - F B = 615 = 615
- 7,493 - 7,493
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

6.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(C) Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables, amount due from an associate
and bank balances. The Group accounts for its
credit risk by appropriately providing for ECLs on a
timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category
of receivables and adjusts for forward looking

macroeconomic data.

At 30 June 2020, other receivables of
approximately HK$4,395,000 (2019: approximately
HK$3,135,000) were individually determined to
be impaired. The individually impaired receivables
related to debtors that were in financial difficulties
and management assessed that only a portion of
the receivables was expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific loss allowance was

recognised.

6. &MTIR (&)
MERBREEERERBE (£)

EREmAE (&)
(i) EfttzmMEE (&)
(C) MEBHAATENHMEREE

RHEAAAENEBEREERRE
H b FEURIE - B e — R BgE 2 X B 508
AR RITHS ARBEREEERRE
B METIREMEEBR Rt EA
HEEBERXK AEESZEXERE
WHRRZELEBREXLAEEZR
BIOBEBURELRE-

H2020%F 6 A30H » H b fE R IB LY
4,395,0007 7T (20194 : 493,135,000
BT EREE AERE - @52
BERNEKRRIEEGBERE - EBEAR
B mERETHES 5 EYKIE
TEEARI U [E - A I - % E BB R
BERER -



6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets (Continued)
(C) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
ECLs allowances of deposits and other receivables

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

&MIR (&)
MERBREEERERBE ()

ERmAE (&)
(i) EftrzmMEE (&)
C) HEHERANENEMEREE (&)
BeREMERFBECBREERRE

B
An analysis of changes in the corresponding ECL HEMNEREERERE 82D
allowances is as follows: HranT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Ll 424 -l 124 BERE #et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Balance at 1 July 2018 MR20185F7 A1 H 2 &tk - 7,626 - 7,626
New receivables originated ¥ 4 fE K 5 A 129 = = 129
Transfer to lifetime ECLs ~ SEEZWREEREZ
not credit impaired T HIEEEEBE (1) 1 = =
Impact on year ended ECLs F % B& B 2 F S8 T K
of exposures transferred ~ BHIEEBERR 2 F2
between stages during
the year - 3,007 - 3,007
Impairment loss written off 45 A H $5 5L (B /&5 18
during the year - (7,627) - (7,627)
Balance at 30 June 2019 720196 A30H &
and 1 July 2019 201947 A1A 2 £ 128 3,007 - 3,135
New receivables originated ¥ 4 FE M 318 687 - - 687
Transfer to lifetime ECLs BB ZEERMEZ
that are credit impaired >HBEHREEER (784) (448) 1,232 -
Impact on year ended ECLs F A& 2 FEEEF R
of exposures transferred ~ BHIEEBERR 2 ¥ 2
between stages during
the year - - 3,163 3,163
Reversal of impairment loss 4F A5 & /&5 18 # 0]
during the year (31) (2,559) - (2,590)
Balance at 30 June 2020  #A20209F6 A30H 2 & - = 4,395 4,395
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets (Continued)

(C) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Except for the abovementioned receivables, the
Group has assessed that the ECL rate for other
financial assets at amortised cost is immaterial
under 12 months expected losses method. Thus no
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised
cost.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which are
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Group has no available
short and medium term banking facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay and includes both interest and
principal cash flows for non-derivative financial liabilities.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

6. &MTIR (&)

MERBREEERERBE (£)

EREmAE (&)
(i) EfttzmMEE (&)
(C) ZEHEKANENEMERMEE (&)

B it W RIR SN AR BB R12E A
BEHERATHREBEXATENE
MEREELRMEEBFRELTE

Re Bt WEMIZHHEK AT ENHE

b & BB E DR EERERE-

Vo g4 14

REBRBDEZARE AEBEEERERREE
EREEBYENEEERRICHIKF AR
NASENZEENRERSRERINTE -

20204 K 201946 H30H » 78 & & 3 #& 7] (&
RN HRITES-

"F?E%Zﬁ”ﬁ’%lﬁ’]?ﬁﬁié\%ﬁ%%ﬁ% é%’]@J,ﬁ
B - IRTDREAREAEAEFRNRT R
,HH’?ziz@raﬂi%%ﬂ’\ﬁiﬂﬁiﬁfﬁ’i\ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ% B
FTESREBENMNERASRERE-

&

~—\+



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. #MIA (#&

Financial risk management objectives and policies MERBREEABRRBE (£)
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELmEE (&)

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. NRHFEFEERAGRERE -EFNBREBRF
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the BRI EMEENRN  RERESBIHIARSHE
undiscounted amount is derived from market interest rates RIRITIIGH RGH o

prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

More than
Weighted 1 year
average  On demand but not Total
interest or within more than undiscounted Carrying
rate rate 1 year 5 years cash flows amount
1M E KAEH
Inig BRERH BxEsd Be&nE
FEFIE 1£/R 5% #E IEEE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TET
As at 30 June 2020 #2020%6H30H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FE{T4£ 2 @B (&
Other payables HA A N/A RiE R 8,778 = 8,778 8,778
Lease liabilities HEEE 12% 4,863 3,353 8,216 7,291
Amounts due to related parties JEA R B 75 5k 3B N/A RiEF 5,368 = 5,368 5,368
Fixed-rate other borrowings TR R EMER 12% 8,023 = 8,023 7,816
27,032 38353 30,385 29,253
As at 30 June 2019 #2019%6HA30H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FE#T4 &G B 1&
Other payables HA A RE N/A 7~ A 3,724 = 3,724 3,724
Amounts due to related parties JE A< R B 7 7B N/A 7~ A 5,868 = 5,868 5,868
Fixed-rate other borrowings &7 F = A H b fE K 12% 3,060 = 3,060 3,001
12,652 - 12,652 12,593
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

SMIR (&)

SMTRZATFENE
HHERBRARBIAEES TEREENRD
FERHER-

BREREELRLTEHBNFEAEHAE
BLFE

AREBS 2 MEENSREBREATE
B TRAMENNANAREREEMEEY
AFAE (F R G E AR ARE) -

RTINAMMHLTFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 hierarchy  and key input(s)
2020 2019F &FE GEFER
SEMEE 6A30H 6H30H #E REmANE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FHETT
Financial assets at
FVOCI (Note 21)
— Unlisted equity interest 12,429 15,422 Level 3 Market approach
Major significant unobservable inputs:
(i) Price-to-book (“P/B”) ratio of
comparable listed companies; and
(i) Discount for lack of marketability
BROAFEARMMZEAWRS
HWEMBEE (H721)
—JE AR A HE SR 12,429 15422 HE=#& 5%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

&MIR (&)
EMIAZAFEANE (&)

RIEER B EZELFHENEN T EAEHEE

at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BN FE (&)
Fair value as at
RTIABMHLTE Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 hierarchy  and key input(s)
20205 2019% 4&FH BERER
eMEE 6HA30H 6H30H #E REnANE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFETT FrET
Financial assets at
FVPL (Note 27)
— Listed equity securities 18,227 26,379 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market
— Suspended listed equity 30,321 31,808 Level 3 Index Return Method
securities
Major significant unobservable inputs:
(i) Change in share price of
comparable listed companies
during the suspension period; and
(ii) Discount for lack of marketability
— Unlisted convertible bonds - 7,797 Level 3 Discounted cash flow model for debt
component and
the Black-Scholes Model
Major significant unobservable input:
(i) Discount rate
BATEHARSH
SMEE (Wi27) \
— LR AFE S 18,227 26,379 F—H ERTISFME AR
—EiE ETRAES 30,321 31,808 H=# B E W=
FESRTAEEEABUE:
() EEEEBRA L& E A A
(i) BERZ THZ AT &
—3E AR & 5 - 7,797 E=% ARReREEN (BBEHD)

KN R —FRHER
TRERTHABEBABE:

(i) BAIR=
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @MTIA (&)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EMIAZLAFEHE (&)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured RIFEEEEERLNTFENENIEELHETE
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) B FE (EF)
There was no change in valuation techniques during the year REE2020F6 A30H IEFE (HEF AW &E
ended 30 June 2020. The Directors believe that the estimated o EERAMHBEFEFSH2EFTATE (R
fair values resulting from the valuation technique(s), which are AV BMRARAR) MABAFLEZSE (RS
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, BahkHEmrERERAR) B  MARTR
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded HHREEEZEE

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable input(s) to MR2020F6 A30H « I~ A] B &R g A BUK A F(E
fair value, significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of NER BT AGMEZERTAIERE A SR
financial instruments together with a quantitative analysis as at HERTES>THHENT

30 June 2020:

Relationship of Significant
unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique  to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  to the input(s)
AURRBANESR EXTIHE
SMEE HERE LEEHRE BARE BE/28 WABEATEZRRE
Unlisted equity interest Market approach Higher the P/B ratio, P/B ratio 1.17 times 5% increase (decrease) in the
- approximately higher the fair value (2019: P/B ratio would result in
HK$12,429,000 and vice versa 1.37 times) increase (decrease) in fair
(2019: HK$15,422,000) value of approximately
HK$621,000 (2019:
HK$771,000)
Higher the discount rate Discount for lack of ~ 9.6% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability (2019: 20%)  the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value marketability would result
and vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$66,000 (2019:
HK$193,000)
el ot sk mREge ATEMS WRE L17f& mEREEM (AL )% EH
#912,429,0007% 7T R 2 % (2019% ATEL M (R ) £9621,000
(20194 : 15,422,000 7T 1.37%) 7 (2019 : 71,0008 7T)
BrmERAENERE pRZmERAE  9.6% e G RAEMEEREM
e ATERE i3] (2019 : (R )5%eBHATE
RZ TR 20%) (R ) B n4166,0007% 7T
(20194 : 193,000 7T
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # E2020F6A30H [ FE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @MIA (&)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EMIAZATFHERE (£2)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured RIEEERBEEELNTFENENIEFLHEE
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BN FE (&)
Relationship of Significant
unobservable input(s) unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
Financial assets Valuation technique  to fair value Input(s) Range/amount  to the input(s)
AURRBARER EXTAEE
SMEE HERE LFENRE BARE BE/28F BARBLATEZARE
Suspended listed equity Index Return Method  Higher the share price Change in share price -60.82% to 5% increase (decrease) in
securities — approximately of the comparable of comparable 43.28% share price of comparable
HK$30,321,000 companies, higher the companies during (2019: companies would result
(2019: HK$31,808,000) fair value and vice versa  the suspension -35.05% to in increase (decrease) in
period -2.99%) fair value of approximately
HK$86,000 (2019:
HK$303,000)
Higher the discount rate  Discount for lack of ~ 45% 5% increase (decrease) in
of lack of marketability, marketability (2019: 35%)  the discount rate of lack of
lower the fair value marketability would result
value and vice versa in (decrease) increase in
fair value of approximately
HK$1,240,000 (2019:
HK$856,000)
EEEE LMRAE REERE THRAANRELES EEEEHHILER -60.82% AHLRARMKRELM (HL)
#930,321,0007% 1 ATEMR RZTA AEMBREZD £43.28% 5% L BHATAEEN
(20194 : 31,808,000/ T ) (2019% (L) #186,0007% 7T
—35.05%% (20194 : 303,000/ T
~2.99%)
BEMERAENEREE BRZHERAE  45% B S RALRNEEREN
e NTENE E30) (2019 : (AP )R8 BHATE
RZ T 35%) (B ) 32 i471,240,000% 7T
(20194 : 856,000/ TT)
Unlisted convertible bonds - Discounted cash flows Higher the discount rate, ~ Discount rate N/A N/A (2019: 5% increase
HK$nil (2019: approximately  model for debt lower the fair value (2019: (decrease) in the discount
HK$7,797,000) component and the  and vice versa 15.93%) rate would result in (decrease)
Black-Scholes Model increase in fair value of
approximately HK$10,000)
FITAARES-THET URBEMERS  ARXES ATEUE HRX @A TR (20194 : B &g
(2019% : 497,797,000 L)  (EHHH) R RZ R (2019 : (R )5%eBHATE
B - SRAER 15.93%) (R 0#710,0005 7T )
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. #MIA (&)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EMIAZLFENE (£)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured RIEEERBEEELTFENENIEHLHEE
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) BIRFE (E)
Fair value hierarchy N FERE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1# ot BE® it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FHET FHET FHET
As at 30 June 2020 202056 A30H
Financial assets at FVOC BRAVEGFAREMEE KR
BeREE
— Unlisted equity interest —JE TR A RE R = = 12,429 12,429
Financial assets at FYPL BRAFEFABZS
CREE
— Listed equity securities excluding — TR AES (TBE
suspended shares TEEERNRD 18,227 = = 18,227
- Suspended shares —THEEBEMNRG = = 30,321 30,321
18,227 - 42,750 60,977
As at 30 June 2019 120196 A30H
Financial assets at FVOCI BRAFEFAHEMEE R
WemEE
~ Unlisted equity interest —JE EMRAE RS = = 15,422 15,422
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFT ABRS
TRIEE
— Listed equity securities excluding —ETRAES (TRIE
suspended shares TIEEEMNRMD) 26,379 = = 26,379
- Suspended shares —EEEENRD = = 31,808 31,808
— Unlisted convertible bonds —JEEM AR ES = = 7,797 7,797
26,379 - 55,027 81,406
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 30 June
2020 and 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # E2020F6A30H [ FE

6. &MTIR (&)
EMIAZAFEANE (&)

RIERER B EZL
B2 FE (&)
B E 20204 220196 H30R L F/E - F— AR AE
“RELEEMER TEEARERE=H-

YFEHENFRELHEE

The details of movements in fair value measurements in NFEFENEFHEBTHOT
Level 3 are as follows:
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements B FEHENEH IR
2020 2019
20205 20194
Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets assets assets assets
at FVPL at FVOCI at FVPL at FVOCI
BROTHE RBRAYE
BROTE AAEM BAYE FTAEAM
HABEEK 2EKRE88M HFABZHN Z2HKEN
eMEE SHMEE TREE TREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FHET
At beginning of the year RET] 39,605 15,422 47,098 16,114
Redemption B (7,900) - (1,100) -
Change in fair value recognised in RNEZERNATEES
profit or loss (included in change in (FFABR D FE AEmH
fair value of financial assets at FVPL) é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ’]’&?@“ ) (1,384) - (6,393) =
Change in fair value recognised in other \,\ﬁE%EHﬁZ S TER
comprehensive income (included in NEBEEE (GFAR ?T
fair value reserve (non-recycling)) B (Raf ) ) - (2,993) - (692)
At end of the year RER 30,321 12,429 39,605 15,422

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 30 June 2020 and 2019.

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of Group’s
financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost or amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values as at 30 June 2020 and 2019.

A& B 20204 201996 A308 I EE AR A
FEFEZEREE-

dFERIFAE R B ER L TFEH BN ETL B
EERAGHLFE

B ERBRN20204F K& 201946 A30 B iR AN 5 #
HARGENBRREENAEBRSEER
BEMNEONEREATEES-
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

Hong

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating and reporting segments have been
identified on the basis of internal management reports
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies conform
to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the executive
Directors, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
of the Group, in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performances.

The Group’s operations have been organised based on
three operating divisions as described below. Similarly, the
information reported to the CODM is also prepared on such
basis. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving the reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

o Provision — secondary tutoring services,

of private primary tutoring services, skKill
educational courses and test preparation
services courses, franchising income,

English language training and test
preparation courses and dance
tuition services
° Investment in —  trading of securities
securities

e  Money lending -  providing loans as money lender

Other operating segments which do not meet the quantitative

thresholds prescribed by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” for
determining reportable segments are combined as “Others”.

Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited ZF&# B (HER) B EEBMAR A A

BWARSBEH

AEENKERRENHEREBET B BN R
RN BORRAEN AR EEREEET A
#Al AREBREHESAEENEREERESE
([BEREERREDNRTESTEHEHNNUR
DED B EIR R R EE R

AEENZEZERTXAdm =L =05 A
Ao R MEREERRERENENTCR
BERELERH THERAKEARE D
VESEEEFERLERREMBHEEDE -

ARME ARENARERELEDHMMOT -

2B R /N2
WHERE RERRE
KEFHRE HFLE
B REB IR
S RIEIA M SE R

BRH

o R#EALAHE -
AR%%5

ERERARKER

ANEEFEMHREEAFSHR [KENE B
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M
For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

7. WARSEHEH (&

(a) SEBUTA K KR
RERBIRAEE K A s D AR TR RA R

results by operating and reportable segments: EOWT
For the year ended 30 June 2020 B FE2020F6F30HILFEE
Provision
of private
educational Investment Money
services  in securities lending Consolidated
RELA
HERS BEES HE it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT FET FETT
Disaggregated by timing of R AEZERES
revenue recognition
Over time R — R E 62,765 - 4,052 66,817
Point in time P — {5 P B 426 - = 426
Segment revenue D EWA
(revenue from external (RBEIBEFPEA)
customers) 63,191 - 4,052 67,243
Segment results DEELE (61,121) (10,681) (2,586) (74,388)
Interest on other borrowings H & 50 8 (626)
Share of results of a joint venture B/ —fAE R RIEE (726)
Unallocated corporate income AP E A AIWA 1,117
Unallocated corporate expenses &% Bt A 7] B 52 (32,637)
Loss before tax BRI AIEE

(107,260)
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
and results by operating and reportable segments:

7. BARSEHEH (&)

(a) FPBBARRE (&)

REBILEE R A HE D B
BT (&)

THA R

(Continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2019 B 220196 H30H I F/E
Provision
of private
educational Investment Money
services in securities lending  Consolidated
REFA
HE RS REES EBE BEr
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FHET
Disaggregated by timing of BRig A EZERES
revenue recognition
Over time — BB ] 103,687 - 4,006 107,693
Point in time T — {IE B ] B 1,247 = = 1,247
Segment revenue
(revenue from external 2 EUA
customers) (REMBEEWA) 104,934 - 4,006 108,940
Segment results DEELE (47,838) (20,977) 3,939 (64,876)
Interest on other borrowings H 5505 8 (40)
Share of results of a joint venture [EIE—H&E A RIEE (571)
Unallocated corporate income RO A FIWA 3,366
Unallocated corporate expenses &% Bt A 7 F X2 (15,274)
Loss before tax BRI ATEE (76,895)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 3. The CODM assesses segment results using
a measure of operating loss whereby certain items are
not included in arriving at the segment results of the
operating segments (i.e. interest on other borrowings,
share of results of a joint venture, unallocated corporate
income and expenses).

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

RED WS BOREM FE3MABRIAE
B BORER - AR K EARRENRLE
ERNF R A BEE EPETHEE
EAEEEN AN MEEARTEBREE
W BIEAMERF B BIE—HEERRE
B RDERRIBMA R -



7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

7. BARGEHEH (&)

(b) HBEERRAR
REBREERARE

DEETHEENRA

liabilities by operating and reportable segments: BEOTT :
As at 30 June 2020 2020566 H30H
Provision
of private
educational Investment Money
services in securities lending Consolidated
REMLA
HERE RERS HE it
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FETT
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 25,624 49,171 36,940 111,735
Unallocated assets RAOBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEH RS 4,827
Other loan receivables Hip e ER 12,000
Interest in a joint venture R—BAERRNER 3,325
Financial assets at FVOCI BATEFAREMER
WHHEREE 12,429
Other corporate assets HipARIEE 6,160
150,476
Liabilities afe
Segment liabilities PEEE 31,234 1,177 50 32,461
Unallocated liabilities AHBEEE
Current tax liabilities BIEAREA & 25
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 104
Other borrowings HitE®R 7,816
Other corporate liabilities Hitb R al8aE 2,121
42,527
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5
For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating and reportable segments:

BARSBEH (&

(b) *BRERAR (&)

REBIREE R AR

EOWMT : (&)

EDREITNEENA

(Continued)
As at 30 June 2019 201946 H30H
Provision
of private
educational Investment Money
services  in securities lending  Consolidated
RIEFLA
HRE R KEES BE At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets DHEE 63,201 73,367 41,636 178,204
Unallocated assets ANREE
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRIRE 6,174
Other loan receivables Hib e ER 43,000
Interest in a joint venture R—BARERRNER 4,851
Financial assets at FVOCI BRAFEFAEMEZR
WENEmEE 15,422
Other corporate assets HiRAEE 6,334
253,985
Liabilities =
Segment liabilities NEEE 30,475 911 50 31,436
Unallocated liabilities AHEERE
Current tax liabilities BIEAEaE 74
Deferred tax liabilities ELEREARE 137
Other borrowings HibtER 3,001
Other corporate liabilities Hib a8’ 1,180
35,828

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M
For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z202096H30H [- F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BARSHBBEH (&
(Continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) PPEERAR (&)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances MEESBRFARR DB 2B EERN B

and allocating resources between segments: B E -

e all assets are allocated to the operating segments o KRIFTHEBRRS GTAEBEYIER
other than bank balances and cash (other than SN HMERER R—HEE&E QA
those included in the money lending segment), BHESS AT EFARMEE KD
other loan receivables, interest in a joint venture, STRHEEREMARIEEN FREEE
financial assets at FVOCI| and other corporate HORELEDH: K&
assets; and

e all liabilities are allocated to the operating segments e REHWEBEAE EEHBEEE Hb
other than current tax liabilities, deferred tax BREEMATAEIN IEAEHES
liabilities, other borrowings and other corporate IS o i
liabilities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3% 185



186

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Other segment information

7. BARSEHEH (&

(c) Rt S EMEH

Provision of
private
educational Investment in Money
services securities lending Others  Consolidated
RHLA
HER% REAES fih & it it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6A30HLEE
Capital additions BRRE (209) (3) - - (212)
Amortisation cost of intangible assets BN EENEHEKR (198) - - - (198)
Depreciation charge on owned property, BEYE BEREHEN
plant and equipment nEER (7,121) (463) - (70) (7,654)
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets  {E A ENFEER (3,940) - - (1,367) (5,307)
Reversal of provision for RERKSRERE
long service payments 109 - - - 109
Change in fair value of BOTFEFAERN
financial assets at FVPL SRHEENATEZY - (10,752) - - (10,752)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZREBSE (18,673) = = = (18,673)
Reversal of impairment loss Hib EYGRE 2 R EEERE
(impairment loss) on other receivables (REFSA) 2,491 (701) - (3,050) (1,260)
Impairment loss on other loan receivables  E B E 2 2 FiEE R - (249) - (18,000) (18,249)
Impairment loss on a loan receivable ERERHBEER - - (6,574) - (6,574)
Write off of trade receivables M E 5 EMNFIR () - - - (2)
Write off of other payables 8 P 508 3,251 = = = 3,251
For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE2019F6A308 L FE
Capital additions BRRE (1,873) (47) - (352) (2,272)
Amortisation cost of intangible assets BV EAENEHEKA (198) = = = (198)
Depreciation charge on owned property, BENE BEKREN
plant and equipment NEER (9,335) (617) - (52) (10,004)
Reversal of provision for RERKERERED
long service payments 456 - - - 456
Change in fair value of BRATEFABERN
financial assets at FVPL SREENATEE - (19,826) - - (19,826)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEZRESSE (1,665) = = = (1,665)
Impairment loss on other receivable HiEKHERESR (2,939) (29) - (167) (3,135)

The Group's assets, revenue and results for the year
derived from activities located outside Hong Kong are
less than 10% of the Group’s total assets, revenue and
results for the year.

No individual customer accounted for over 10% of the

Group’s total revenue during both years. #B10% °

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARSDETBEE (&)
(Continued)
(d) Revenue from major services (d) EEBRBUIA
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers W&HEM ISR EERFE155%

within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEAREBERSHZBA
Secondary tutoring services R E IR 28,757 53,879
Primary tutoring services, skill courses ~ /NEEERF R ERE R
and test preparation courses JE R A2 16,507 18,555
Franchising income BRI A 4,769 5,704
English language training and HEEZII R EARE
test preparation courses 2,271 9,229
Dance tuition services EEHERE 10,887 17,567
63,191 104,934
Revenue from other sources HisRiFZk A
Loan interest income BERF B WA 4,052 4,006
67,243 108,940
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

mwh O

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 8. HttkA - WEREGIHA B
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Interest income on AT EIBEFEHA
— other loan receivables —HibERER 731 3,216
— unlisted convertible bonds — LM BmRES 105 635
— bank deposits —RITIHER 1 6
— other interest income —H A F BUTA 280 9
Government grants (Note) RSB (M at) 978 =
Supporting services income TR RIEWA - 139
Loss on write off of property, plant and MSE - BE M RENEE
equipment (4,601) (903)
Impairment loss on AT & IBH R EEE
— goodwill — e (18,673) (1,665)
— other receivables, net —H b EUGRIE  FER (1,260) (3,135)
— other loan receivables —HMERER (18,249) -
— a loan receivable —ERER (6,574) -
Write off of trade receivables 135 & Z e WGRIR (2) -
Write off of other payables i 8 E b FE S 5ROR 3,251 =
Others H A 1,357 2,103
(42,656) 405
Note: Bt i

The Group successfully applied for funding support from the
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) and One-off Relief Grant for
Private Schools Offering Non-formal Curriculum (“Grant for PSNFCs”)
under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”") Government.

The purpose of the ESS is to provide financial support to employers
to retain employees who may otherwise be made redundant. Under
the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to implement
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding
on paying wages to their employees.

The Grant for PSNFCs is provided as a relief measure in light of that
the classes of the Group have been suspended since end of January
2020 due to coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19"). The Group is
required to use the Grant for PSNFCs for expenses in school operation
and be responsible for ensuring its effective use.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

AEEXREFHBBERINTRRR ([EEFHTR
B D BRI RES TR ETE ([RIEEF
2D BB RIRHIEERRIZNFL L BN — RIS
WEB) ([FEERRIZNFAIERNER]) -

RELE I EERETRET BB AR TS W
EMMES - REBEAHMRGS AEERBEHHATSH
BWARE2HEEDANINEEENTE-

BN AREERRER2019EMFEEE ([COVID-191) B
2020F1 AREEF  IRHIEFRRENLIBRNE
BR—EFRERE  ~NEBEBBIREIEERFEDOL
TERNEDRIEEREERSITATRRLA RIS
)EH o



10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. M¥EH
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Interest on other borrowings H & A )& 626 40
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENFE 882 =
Interest expenses to securities companies  AIREH QA Al AT B FI B85 X 10 =
1,518 40
LOSS BEFORE TAX 10. BRIRAEIGIR
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting): BGRAIEEE K (Ke) THIER -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FHET
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) FEWE (H3ELD) 1,229 1,432
Other staff costs Hih B TR A 38,195 47,602
Other staff's retirement benefit scheme H b8 THRINEFIFT B
contributions 1,673 2,252
Total staff costs B T AR 4% 41,097 51,286
Compensation to landlords due to early EiZp R EHEmMMEE N
termination of leases i (E 2,496 =
Legal and professional fee FRREEER 1,423 4,789
Rental related fees and charges (including F&AEEE ALK H
building management fee, air conditioning (BIEEFERE =ABUL
charges and government rent and rates) B A & = ) 7,147 9,015
Related expenses for copiers s EN AR AR X 1,413 5,319
Sales commission HEMAS 466 3,409
Other daily operation related expenses HmAFEEERBERAYL 10,255 11,809
Total other operating expenses Hih & EmZ 2% 23,200 34,341
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e A 3% SR B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued)

10. BRIRAIESE (&)

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting): BRI ATESEE Ik (Ke) THEE : (&)
(Continued)
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Auditor’'s remuneration 1% B 7 B 690 690
Write off of other receivables i 8 L b FE UK IR - 1
Reversal of provision for long service RHRE e B ERE
payments (109) (456)
Expense relating to short-term leases for HLAG BAY S FH & K I srFH & AP
properties and other leases for properties 7202046 830 H gk 2 Bl 4 R A
with remaining lease term ending on or HihYEMERBENRX
before 30 June 2020 8,746 -
Expense relating to leases for 7202056 A30H 8¢ 2 Bz Al
properties early terminated on or before HIEMEEEMEBRX
30 June 2020 16,804 -
Total minimum lease payments for BERBEESLFTERNEITHR
properties previously classified as NERKEHENYEREEE
operating leases under HKAS 17 (Note) R BEE (HTat) = 42,004

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&# A

Tutor contractor fee is calculated based on (i) certain
percentage of revenue derived from secondary tutoring
services and English language training and test preparation
courses; and (ii) fixed hourly rate on primary tutoring services,
skill courses and test preparation courses.

Lease payments represent the minimum lease payments paid
or payable to lessors which are independent third parties.

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July
2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial
recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 July 2019, the Group as a
lessee is required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets,
instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
Note 2.

(B REEEHRAR

BENAR B TRIZ)R B 2B RS N E B
Ik EARBRANETED L &) NEHE
R RBRIELEARE 2B/ NEEEWET

st
= o
>t

MEMFERAEBAA (BYLE=77) BN HEN
MR EBEENK-

Ha -

Z’SEIE,{%FHZ«( uTL/yﬂ/f%ﬂﬁrEFH%/%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁm—v—
E‘J%165}TIEA2019¢7HIEﬂﬁ%%ﬂzi%LAﬁu oI}
BIEEBSEHEFEITRE P BAKLHENTHERE
FEREEE -N2019F7A1RVIHERERIEEEE
AEBEAERAABEREAREENE  MIEREL

ATECR  RESANASNERCEHEEENHESH
E RIE U AW AR ES A LLEE R - BHIFE2 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETRARNME R A6 &SHH
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID & 8B & B 6h
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Directors’ fees EEHE 360 360
Other emoluments to Directors MESZNHEMHE
— basic salaries, allowances and —HAHE EBR
other benefits in kind HibEWREF 835 1,032
— discretionary bonus —BBIEAa = =
— retirement benefit scheme contributions ~— — E K& R 5T 2] 4 5% 34 40
1,229 1,432
The bonus is determined with reference to the operating AL TR ZENRENNK S EE - FAAXRBE R
results, individual performance and comparable market A EMIEGET I mMET -
statistics during both years.
Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors and REBRAZEERNTETRAEXIMNHNMS ST
chief executive are as follows: T
Other emoluments
Httdh &
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other benefit Share-
Directors’ benefits in  Discretionary scheme based
fee kind bonus  contributions payments Total
EXFHe- VY301
HMREAM BT HER
EEHe EWiRd WL g (1:3 &% #t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Jir:3 FET FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 30 June 2020 HE202056A30HLEE
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey EEELAE (i) - 403 - 12 = 415
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai BRELE - 216 - 11 = 227
Mr. Wong King Hoi Bl EE = 216 = 11 = 227
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee EfRt 120 - - - = 120
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James PERKE 120 - - - = 120
Mr. Fenn David nEELE 120 = = = = 120
Total FEE 360 835 - 34 - 1,229
Note: /}/jﬁjt‘r B
(i) Resigned with effect from 24 February 2020. () FA2020%2 B248 BT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R IREM T

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors and

11. EERFETHASHM S R I A& %
ERREHM (&)

AEEREZEREBTRABNOMEFREL

chief executive are as follows: (Continued) T:(#&)
Other emoluments
Hirii &
Basic salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other benefit Share-
Directors’ benefits in  Discretionary scheme based
fee kind bonus  contributions payments Total
EA%& PARR A2
AR EA RIKEA RER
E=d BWEF WETEA SRR NS et
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 30 June 2019 HE2019F6R30HLEE
Mr. Yip Chung Yin Jeffrey HEERE = 600 = 18 = 618
Mr. Tsang Ka Wai LREXE = 216 = 11 = 207
Mr. Wong King Hoi EHELE = 216 = 11 = 227
Ms. Jor Stephanie Wing Yee LRt 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Leung Ki Chi James RELLE 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Fenn David BEEEE 120 = = = = 120
Total @at 360 1,032 - 40 - 1,432

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT



11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Among the five highest paid individuals (excluding tutors) of

the Group during the year, none of them is Director (2019:

one was Director whose remuneration is set out above).

ERREHM (&)

11. EERFETHASHM S R 1A &% FHE

AEERAFEzRAUZEHFMAL (TEEE
R PEIEALRESE (2019F: — 2 REF - H
HENE R E30) o AL (20195F A TR ) &=

Details of the remuneration for the five (2019: remaining four) FMA T 2HMNFBOT
highest paid individuals are as follows:
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Basic salaries, allowances and EXF S EER
other benefits in kind HihE W 2,635 2,451
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL = =
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAEFFTEI X 90 63
2,725 2,514
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not HFHRATEHE ZEZEE 2R H AT AZN
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is S &
as follows:
2020 2019
2020% 2019%F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 AZ
HK$1 to HK$500,000 17 7T 2£500,000/% 7T 2 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001yt £ 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3
5 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11.

EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Details of tutor contractor fee of the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) during the year are as follows:

EFREFRTRARNMER DG &&HEH
ERREHM (&)

RER AfLRSHFHEN (TREEE) NG
EBEFENOT:

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFET FET

Tutor contractor fee EEEARE 8,091 12,614

The tutor contractor fees to the five highest paid tutors
(excluding Directors) were within the following bands:

TfusSHMEM (TEERES)NEMARE
NFUTEHE:

2020 2019

2020% 20194

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A8 AZ

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7t & 1,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,000/% 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/% 7t £2,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T £4,500,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001/% 7T £6,500,000/% 7T - 1
5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the existing or
former Directors or the five highest paid employees and tutors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

During the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, no director

waived or agreed to waive their emoluments on a voluntary
basis.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

AEBEYEARELNEESHAUESFHHIE
B REE XM EEARSI AR IMAREE
FE S R RREREE -

REL 20204 k20196 A30H L F & - HiEE
FEERELRERNEEME -



11.

12.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES AND TUTORS (Continued)

Salaries, allowance and other benefits in kind paid to or
for the executive Directors are generally emoluments paid
or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

11. EERFETHASHM S R 1A &% FHE

ERREHM (&)

ENERATEEINOFHES FUREMEY
BN —RAREEEARAREMEB AR EHE
BAHEMREALTHENEENES  MESE
ERAAMESEFRERFNBILIFNTES

Company and its subsidiaries, while directors’ fees are paid to EENE
or for the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
those persons’ services as Directors.
INCOME TAX 12. FRr81R
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Current tax: BVHARA 1A -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFIER
— Provision for the year —F N - 45
— Over-provision in respect of prior years —BAEFEBERE (20) (78)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) REARKLFEE ([FE])
Enterprise Income Tax EMSH - -
(20) (33)
Deferred tax (Note 34) EIERLIE (H75234) (33) (32)
Total income tax credit recognised RIERBRZMERIKE LT
in profit or loss (53) (65)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made as the subsidiaries of the Group
have no assessable profit or have sufficient tax losses brought
forward to set off against current year’s estimated assessable
profit for the year.

BENGHRBEMEFE 2 G5 EFRANBR
16 5% B KRG+ B - AR AL B A B A 7] I &
FERT AR R A E R F R A E
PR AR R R R IR R A IR R B E G

PiaT e -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

12. INCOME TAX (Continued) 12.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on
the estimated taxable income for PRC taxation purposes
at the rate of taxation applicable to each year. A subsidiary
established in the PRC was subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% for both years.

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to loss before

iR (&
PR EMSHEEDRETEREZ G ER
PWMAREFEMERZHERAE - NP BRI
Z — A8 2 R R B 5 [E 19 7B 1225 % 85 4 7 B
EEMRBH-

AEENHARRERFA B MNEMEERER

tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other FrE bR B AT BB AR a0 T -
comprehensive income as follows:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (107,260) (76,895)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, REBATEAERERY
calculated at the rates applicable to EEBETERTIA
loss in the jurisdictions concerned EEM B ETIE (17,701) (12,692)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBMBANTR G2
for tax purpose (1,555) (1,003)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBS OB 2
for tax purpose 9,977 4,885
Tax effect of share of results of JBIhEERRIERNMGETE
a joint venture 120 94
Tax effect of temporary RERELREZENBGTE
differences not recognised (1,865) 783
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHBBENR G T E 11,116 8,365
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BT REROTRBEEER
recognised (125) (419)
Over-provision in prior years BT ERBEEE (20) (78)
Income tax credit for the year FRMEHER (53) (65)

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT




13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company for both years are
based on the following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e KR EM ST
For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

13. 5RE18

ARRHEBEARBEFERE 2 SRERNREE
ERIRBEA N EIRAE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Loss for the purpose of basic and BAUFTESREARR
diluted loss per share EEBEN SR
Loss for the year attributable to owners KRB AEBRFEEEIE
of the Company (107,194) (77,438)
Number of Number of
shares shares
B8 H sl 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary shares At E G EAR K #EEEH
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss BRI T E
per share 547,570,880 547,570,880

No adjustment has been made in calculating the diluted loss
per share amount presented for the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2019 as there were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

14. DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019:
HKS$nil).

RRFALEZTAEFENBE LB 8RN
FTEE £2020%F k20196 A30H IEFE 252
BREEHERECBERY BELRHE-

14. &R

BEEGTESEREE202056E6A308 1FEEIR
KREAIR B (20195 : BB L) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. M% -WER &M

Leasehold  Furniture and Office Computer
improvements fixtures equipment equipment Total
HERE FUREE BOZRE ElRE e
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAT FET FET FET
COST BE
At 1 July 2018 R2018F7R1H 36,851 5,652 7,253 9,055 58,811
Additions NE 1,389 190 190 503 2,272
Disposals/write off HE /M (2,553) (247) (408) (32) (3,240)
At 30 June 2019 and 2019465308 &

1 July 2019 201957818 35,687 5,595 7,035 9,526 57,843
Additions NE 83 12 21 96 212
Disposals/write off HE /M (31,246) (2,726) (3,578) (87) (37,637)
At 30 June 2020 202046 A308 4,524 2,881 3,478 9,535 20,418
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION REHFE
At 1 July 2018 20186 7H1H 17,519 3,444 6,008 6,376 33,347
Depreciation expense nEER 7,606 862 478 1,058 10,004
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite off & /# s 554K 84 (1,886) (167) (262) (22) (2,337)
At 30 June 2019 and 20195668308 &

1 July 2019 20197R1H 23,239 4,139 6,224 7,412 41,014
Depreciation expense nEER 5,710 704 336 904 7,654
Eliminated on disposals/write off HE /iR 1K 8 (26,830) (2,661) (3,473) (72) (33,036)
At 30 June 2020 R2020%F6 A30H 2,119 2,182 3,087 8,244 15,632
CARRYING AMOUNTS EEE
At 30 June 2020 #2020%6 A30H 2,405 699 391 1,291 4,786
At 30 June 2019 R2019%F6A30H 12,448 1,456 811 2,114 16,829
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16.

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant

and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the

straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

15. ME -WER®E (&

ME- BELRENKRNENERERTE
AT RERTUAME SFORERET:

Leasehold improvements 20% - 30% HEEE 20% —30%
Furniture and fixtures 20% - 30% R REE 20% —30%
Office equipment 20% WRERAME 20%
Computer equipment 20% R 20%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EHERE
Leased Leased office
properties equipment Total
HERLE
HEME B i et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHET FiET
(Note i) (Note ii)
(H1ati) (H1azii)
COST BE
At 30 June 2019 M2019F6 A30H - - -
Impact on initial application of EPN IR
HKFRS 16 (Note 2) A FIHHITE
(Htit2) 5,670 - 5,670
At 1 July 2019 MR2019F7H1H 5,670 - 5,670
Additions arising from entering RIMHHESGHNEER
into new lease contracts NE 5,685 838 6,523
At 30 June 2020 720206 A30H 11,355 838 12,193
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION iR E
At 1 July 2019 MR2019F7H1H - - -
Depreciation expense HEEA 5,180 127 5,307
At 30 June 2020 720206 A30H 5,180 127 5,307
CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE
At 30 June 2020 20206 A30H 6,175 711 6,886
At 1 July 2019 MR2019F7H1H 5,670 - 5,670
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) l16. EHIEEE (£)

Notes: 5T

(i)  The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as () AEBECEAMERREREFRETYWEESR
its education centres, office premises and warehouse through EHBEHRL BAEMENEE-HE—RVIF A
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run for an initial B2ZE3F T AR AR E R IER -
period of 2 to 3 years, at the end of which period all terms are
renegotiated.
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group leased a REE2020F6 A30H IEFE - AEBHELEH
number of education centres which contain variable lease ?‘:F‘/ll\*EZ%?E%A%‘EJ‘?\%XEEP/D%FEMU\
payment terms that are based on gross receipts generated from BEH I EHEE T IER REFEHEX
the education centres and minimum annual lease payment H{‘xﬂ"Ei%Sﬂﬂ\%?ﬂBA%/’%(KEE”“E}%E
terms that are fixed. These payment terms are common in i) BEE - FREE MAIEHERN KRS EHnm
Hong Kong where the Group operates. The amount of fixed and ™

variable lease payments for the year is summarised below:

Fixed Variable Total

payments payments payments

B E &% w8 8 Lk d- 1]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET FET

Education centres — Hong Kong HEHR LB 1,280 = 1,280

At 30 June 2020, it is estimated that an increase in gross 202056 4308 « HErZEHE R LATELERA
receipts generated from these education centres by 5% would BREIE SN T EHHENREEERTE-

have no material impact on the lease payments.

(i) The Group leases certain office equipment under leases expiring (il A"EERBEHNVEERTHAERHE HEA
5 years. None of the leases includes an option to renew the 5F - ZEMAT BB SR N HEERIBIEEL
lease or purchase the leased equipment at the end of the lease BEERERNEREENNIEERERHNE
term at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option. None ER-HMEREp s 2HENK

of the leases includes variable lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

17. GOODWILL 17. & &
CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 3 Total
RegEs: JeEE HeEx
Bl Hfi2 Bf3 it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET

COST 5%
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019, 201857 H1A 20194
1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 6H30H 20197 H1H
K2020%6 H30H 60 25,448 559 26,067

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION 2 &t 8§ & isi {6
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 July 2018 HR2018F7H1H - - 559 559
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE = 1,665 = 1,665
At 30 June 2019 and R2019%F6 A30H &

1 July 2019 20197 A1H - 1,665 559 2,224
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE = 18,673 = 18,673
At 30 June 2020 1R2020%F6 A30H - 20,338 559 20,897
CARRYING AMOUNTS R E
At 30 June 2020 #2020 6 A30H 60 5,110 - 5,170
At 30 June 2019 7201996 A30H 60 23,783 - 23,843
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been BETRENS BEEIRE=FHRSELES
allocated to three CGUs which are engaged in money lending DR AKREEEXR ([REeEESML]) -
business (“CGU 1”), private educational services (“CGU 2") MABERE ([ReELEMN2]) REMBER
and IT services (“CGU 3"), respectively. % ([BREEEEMNS]) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

CGU 1 - Money lending business

Based on the result of impairment test, no impairment loss
on goodwill allocated to CGU 1 is recognised during the years
ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition
services)

The recoverable amount of CGU 2 is determined based on
value-in-use calculation using discounted cash flow method
under income approach, which is considered to be more
likely to capture the future growth potentials of CGU 2. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
an estimated weighted average growth rate of 3% (2019:
3%). This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rates for the market in which CGU 2 operates. The
cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of 14%
(2019: 14%). The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to CGU 2. Other key assumption for
the value-in-use calculation relates to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows which included budgeted revenue, such
estimation is based on the CGU 2’s past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development
including the fluctuation in dance tuition services business in
the current economic environment in Hong Kong.

As the CGU 2 has been reduced to its recoverable amount
of approximately HK$5,110,000 (2019: approximately
HK$23,783,000) as at 30 June 2020 by reference
to valuations carried out by an independent qualified
professional valuer, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$18,673,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,665,000) has
been included in “Other income, gains and loss, net” for the
year ended 30 June 2020. The Directors believe that any
adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation
of the recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

17. &8 (&

BeErEMl-EHEXY

R RER H &R B E20209F %2019F6A
B ULFEVERSEZRECELBMINEE
fi SR RN (B &5 18 o

BeESEN2-LARETRS (BN
DR )
ReEFEBEM2Z A KESEIEAKRAETH
MBRBeREERERBEAEET E?Hxﬂ&
RERB RN S EE B2 R K
o EEREREI AN TRV BESR {”F
HHRERERAN -HEHAFHENEERES
A A3%INETHIERE (20195 :3% ) °
FZEREINBBRSEEEM2LCEMEMHH
EHRFHEER -REREHRA14% (20194 :
14% ) KIBL3R R BEIR - FrfE ARG IR R EF AT
&%Eﬁﬁ%?iﬁh%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]ﬁiﬂﬁ EREEAE
EMHMEARBRRERERA/ MENGE
Eﬁ CHAPEREEERA T TERREESE
BRA2HBARBALREEEHMSRENHE
PREBBEIERR T EENERGEBR
& o

MR2RBIAEREXMGEMMAETHM
8- iﬁé? EEM2E R D EHR2020%6 A
30H &) 7] Y [ € #8 495,110,000/% 7T (20194 :
#)23,783,000/ 7T ) - & £2020F6 4301 - F
JZ 5 18 &5 18 918,673,000/ 7T (20194 : 4
1,665,000 7C) E&t A [EAUA - Ueas & E51E -
FE] - BFEME FTE AT E R ERERAIE
A NHZ B EHE — T HBIERRE -



17. GOODWILL (Continued)

CGU 2 - Private educational services (dance tuition
services) (Continued)

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
recoverable amount of the CGU 2 at the end of the reporting

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z202096H30H [- F /&

17. &8 (&

ReEXBMU2-HLABRETRYE (FER

B (&)

TRINTNRMEMRRSEL B2 JREIS
BEEEMARRKNSIER 2 8)im L IRAE

period in response to reasonably possible changes in the HEE -
assumptions used in the calculation.
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in the recoverable in the recoverable
assumptions amount  assumptions amount
Bz HTiy o & B IR
8/, b of ) #m,/ Gkl
(D) £ 2 OR4) =2
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
% FET % FET
Pre-tax discount rate Rt A BEIR & 5 (1,654) 5 (3,119)
Pre-tax discount rate Tt A BRIR &= (5) 1,886 (5) 3,567
Growth rate beyond TEHE 2 ERE
the five-year period 5) 251 ) 487
Growth rate beyond HTFEHEERE
the five-year period (5) (244) (5) (474)

CGU 3 - IT services

Due to uncertain operating environment, the estimated
recoverable amount of CGU 3 was below its carrying amount
and goodwill allocated to this unit was fully impaired in prior
years.

BeErEu3-EMERRE

HRNEERETHALR ReELBEMINMHEH
WEERERNERRE MoEEZEMNHE
ERBEFEEBRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HfthfEfiz R E

Franchise IT
Trademark rights systems Total
TR
[k YFETiE EX #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHET TFET TFET
COST 5% 3
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019, R2018F7 18 - 20194
1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 6H30H 20197 H1H
202056 H30H 2,957 1,979 2,960 7,896
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION REtH#ERiRE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 7R2018F7H1H 2,957 1,484 2,960 7,401
Amortisation expense BEER = 198 = 198
At 30 June 2019 and 7201996 A308 &

1 July 2019 2019 7H1H 2,957 1,682 2,960 7,599
Amortisation expense BEER - 198 - 198
At 30 June 2020 720206 H30H 2,957 1,880 2,960 7,797
CARRYING AMOUNTS A (B
At 30 June 2020 7R2020%F6 H30H - 99 - 99
At 30 June 2019 720196 H30H - 297 - 297

The Group’s trademark protects the design and specification
of “MODERN BACHELOR EDUCATION" logo, and was
assessed to have an indefinite useful life. On the date of
acquisition (i.e. 31 December 2010), the fair value of this
trademark is assessed using an income approach under
the relief from royalty method by an independent qualified
professional valuer.

Franchise rights represent the right to use the name
“MODERN BACHELOR EDUCATION” under contractual
franchise agreements in the business of primary tutoring
services. The amortisation period of franchise rights is
10 years.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

AEENERRE [RANDEL] BREORFT R
Mg YA ERERERAERFH RNUKEE
HEA (B120105F12A31H) ' Ik IZWH A FETY
M—E2BUAEREXMEMRAENSEHEE
B ASEE RS

R e R N EMERBEBN A O
/R ERA/NEL | RTEARER] - 1 542 A 2 55 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—HIBEAFIHRR
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of unlisted investment FEETIRE KA 5 5
Share of post-acquisition results and FEMRIREE 1B B RS
reserves, net of dividends received (BB Wi S) (5) (5)
Balance at end of the year RERERR - -
Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2020 are as REEMN2020F6 A30H M B & R RIFBWT
follows:
Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ of issued capital held by Proportion of
Name of associate operation the Group voting power held Principal activities
FREF
RELEER BT/ BENE ERTRFEELH iR RELA IERE
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020% 20198 2020% 2019
Modern Legend Hong Kong/ 50% 50% 50% 50%  Investment holding and its subsidiary is principally engaged
Management Consultant Hong Kong in the provision of private educational and training

of Education Limited
(“Moden Legend”) (Note)*

BRERHEEREH
ERAR ([RRBR])
(Hit)*

* Neither Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited nor another member firm

services in the PRC

Eb/BR 50% 50% 50% 0% REERREWELATIERTERERULAAER
Sl

© ARBERHDERTERAARKREGNE

of Baker Tilly International is the auditor of the associate. i 8 2 7145 FEZ & 2 Ay 12 2LAT

Note: On 18 November 2016, Modern Legend was incorporated and Bat: 201611 A18H  BRESEFMAKT - A%
the Group subscribed 50% equity interest of Modern Legend. ERBRAE S H50%/E - NEBAEHBEBE
The Group has ability to exercise significant influence through its BETEERTE N -

shareholding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 19. R—HBEATNER (£
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in ZHMERNTRNZELE AU RERP B ERE
these consolidated financial statements. ABR o
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of AEEDRIEEREEE —EBEQTZET
profit (loss) of an associate. The amount of unrecognised (BE) FARBRHAEREGZEBE R ZE
share of result of the associate, extracted from the relevant FEeE (HiEazBEE R rcH@EERER )W
management accounts of the associate, for the year and ™

cumulatively, are as follows:

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAEIT FET
Unrecognised share of profit (loss) FAREREG —HEEEARZ
of an associate for the year = A (EE) 140 (269)
Cumulative unrecognised share of losses Rt AEREL—FHBERRZ
of an associate &5 18 (679) (819)

206  Hong Kong Education (Int') Investments Limited Z&%Z (EE) 2 EEEMARA T



20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

20. F—HEELFHER

2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Cost of unlisted investments JEEMIZEKA 14,000 14,000
Share of post-acquisition results, FE(RURBE 18 2R
net of dividends received (BB Wi S) (10,675) (9,149)
Balance at end of the year RE R 3,325 4,851
At 30 June 2020, the Group had interest in the following joint R2020F6 A30R  AEBERUTAE R RE%ES
venture: RS
Place of Proportion of nominal value
incorporation of issued capital held by Proportion of
Name of joint venture and operation the Group voting power held Principal activities
AELTER HEMBIREEHE FREFRGERTRIEELD iR RELA IERE
2020 2019 2020 2019
2020% 20198 2020% 2019
Full Profit Hong Kong Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of management and consultancy services
Development Limited for kindergartens
("Full Profit")
RETRURARAR  ER 50% 50% 50% 5% ANREREEERZDRE
(&%)

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in

these consolidated financial statements.

ZARERANZFEAMBEHRP IRBERDE
A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
n B Bl FE IR b 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 20. R—HSELATNER (£
Summarised financial information of a material EXSELAFICHERHEE
joint venture
Summarised financial information in respect of the material AEEERGEARIRAWNBAR (RE AL
joint venture of the Group and its subsidiary (collectively “Full S8 2HBERBEEHIAT o T XAz 8
Profit Group”) is set out below. The summarised financial BERME RS EARRER BV B iHRE 2R
information below represents amounts shown in the joint FRMEHRERPITRO SR
venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.
Full Profit Group BEEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Current assets MEEE 671 2,504
Non-current assets EREBEE - 1
Current liabilities neaE 10 978
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the T EERABESREBIENTSEE:
following:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ETT FET
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 565 2,476

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade AEEmMEBE (TEEES KL
and other payables and provisions) H b pEAT 3RI8 R B ) - -

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT



20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material
joint venture (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z202096H30H [- F /&

20. R—HMESEXTMESR (&)
EXSEQFICHMBRHEBE (&£)

Full Profit Group (Continued) a5m(E)

2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Revenue A 1,502 2,092
Profit for the year FEa A 734 1,042
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ FEEH 2 EIKA - -
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHEKABRE 734 1,042
Dividend received from the joint venture ERSENEIIL LSS 800 1,000

The above profit for the year includes the following: R FEEFBEUTSE:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FiET
Depreciation and amortisation P & gy 1 2
Interest income FEWA 1 1
Taxation 1A 121 125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
n B Bl FE IR b 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material
joint venture (Continued)

Full Profit Group (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Full Profit Group
recognised by the Group in the consolidated financial

20.

R—HESELFMER (&
EXSEQFICHBRHEBE (&)

BERE (E)
BB EMBRARRERGE M HEREAFT
RRBERE 2 EREE K

statements:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Net assets of Full Profit Group BEEFNEEFE 661 1,527
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBRBEEEHEL#
interest in Full Profit Group 7 75 B9 £ 1 50% 50%
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition WEFE A FEFER & 14,000 14,000
Other adjustments H A SR (11,006) (9,913)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ AEBR B LEE 7 #R
Full Profit Group ZBRHEE 3,325 4,851

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT




21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

21. BOFEAARMZEANRMNEMEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEGAHEMZEKEMH
EREE
— unlisted equity interest in overseas, —GINE ETI IR A
at fair value (Note) BAFE (KE) 12,429 15,422
Note: B3 -

On 9 November 2016, Fastek Investments Limited (“Fastek”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a subscription
agreement with the investee and the guarantor, to subscribe
approximately 9.49% of unlisted equity interest at a cash
consideration of approximately HK$28,459,000. On 24 January 2017,
Fastek further subscribed 13 rights shares of the unlisted equity
interest at a cash consideration of approximately HK$2,372,000. The
investee acts as an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Investee Group”) are principally engaged in the dealing
in securities, advising on securities, advising on corporate finance,
asset management, provision of wealth management service and
money lending business in Hong Kong.

On 6 December 2019, an independent third party had subscribed
35 shares of the unlisted equity interest of the investee. As a result,
the shareholding of Fastek in the Investee Group has been diluted
from 9.49% to 8.41%.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the management had
determined a fair value loss of approximately HK$2,993,000 (2019:
approximately HK$692,000) by reference to valuations carried out by
an independent qualified professional valuer.

The fair value of the unlisted equity interest is assessed by market
approach which is considered that such method can reflect the going
concern of the investee and provide direct market reference on the
value from a group of comparable companies in the market. Details
on the valuation technique(s) and inputs used are set out in fair value
measurements of financial instruments in Note 6.

R2016511 A9R « 2 &I E A 7] Fastek Investments
Limited ([Fastek |) B4 4% & 7 RER AR LR E %
# 0 A4 R B 428,459,000/ JT R BE IF - T AR AN
25 #99.49% - 7A2017F1 A24H » Fastek A & R B 4
2,372,000 7T — 25 R 8 I £ T AR AN 2 0 13AR 4 AR
B E T A —RREERARRENBAR (&K
BIWREEE]) TEREEREZNESFR S EFHH
o ERBEN BEESE RUTEEERELES
X150

20191268 —RBUE=/ERBHIKRET I
LR AR S B35 A7 o It - Fastek M #1% & 5£ E
HRR S R9.49% #E E8.41% -

B ZE2020F6 A30R EFERN EREBKLE -2
YRERBEXMGLEMETZHECEEAFESED
2,993,000/ 7T (20194 : £9692,000/% 7T ) °

FELTRAERNRAFETDEBT IS ITEETIE
Z I EBR R A RBRBURE T R L EIOR - iR
TG L —ATELRATANEEFEETS2E -
FrER R EETDE B A BB BEN M e R
THZRFEAE

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 4F &

211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl 7R SR ZE M 5

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

22. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS 22. kIR E
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental deposits (Note 23) Hems (B7£23) 1,902 9,260
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B RHMEBIRIEA

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Accrued revenue and trade receivables JEETIR A E 5 FE W FRIE 665 967
Rental deposits HeEse 3,293 13,449
Other deposits Hitizse 346 646
Prepayments TET 5RI8 945 1,497
Other receivables H b Uk I8 13,827 21,744

Less: Impairment loss on B E U RIBE 2
other receivables, net BEEE R (4,395) (3,135)
14,681 35,168

Less: Rental deposits (shown under B MBEIiES (B AFEREEE)

non-current assets) (1,902) (9,260)

Trade and other receivables (shown under & 5 K H 4h g U k18
current assets) (BN ARBYEE) 12,779 25,908
Included in the Group's other receivables, prepayments and FAREEFBENEMERZIE FEMNELE
deposits were rental deposits and other receivable amounting & A4S EDRIA1,902,000% 7T (20194 : 49
to approximately HK$1,902,000 (2019: approximately 9,260,0007% 7T ) & 491,234,000/ 7T (20194 : 49
HK$9,260,000) and approximately HK$1,234,000 (2019: 3,388,000 ) M Ee R HMEWIE 78
approximately HK$3,388,000) respectively, which are g NE —E R s ERAMY - TERAE
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses 18 5 &k EAMEWFIBBER —FRRE s ER A

after more than one year. All of the other trade and other FXo
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expenses within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. RAREMBURE (&

(a) Ageing analysis (a) IREE A
The following is an ageing analysis of accrued revenue LUTABREREMREZHH (HESKA
and trade receivables, presented based on the R AEHEE) 2V EFTRARE 5 R
invoice date at the end of the reporting period which IR BRER D AT

approximated the respective revenue recognition dates:

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Accrued revenue not yet billed HAEHEEERESTIRA 473 443
Trade receivables: B 5 fE W SRIE -
1 to 30 days 1£30H 144 410
31 to 60 days 31E60H 37 107
61 to 90 days 61%E90H 3 -
More than 90 days HB3:E90H 8 7
665 967
Trade receivables are usually due within 30 days (2019: HoRWFIERTEELESE 2 AREF308A
within 30 days) from the date of billing. Further details on (20195 : 30HA) BIHA - BAAA S EEERERHN
the Group's credit policy are set out under “Credit risk” E—PHBEHRH RN [EERR] -
in Note 6.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(b) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is

23. RHRAMBYRE (&
(b) 3f: R (B 1Y 52 5 FE My 5k IR
EENRERETOTRERBRAENE HE
WRBE R BRI HATIOT :

as follows:
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Neither past due nor impaired AR f 80 B R R (B 502 485
1 to 30 days past due BmE1E30H 123 386
31 to 60 days past due # HA31ZE60H 29 89
61 to 90 days past due %0 Hi61290H 3 S
More than 90 days past due #EA90H A _F 8 7
Amounts past due pang i ke 163 482
665 967

During the year, impairment loss of approximately
HK$2,000 (2019: HK$nil) was written off against trade
receivables directly for which the Group considered that
recovery of the amounts was remote.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

As at 30 June 2020, receivables that were past due
but not impaired relate to a number of independent
customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are considered fully
recoverable.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

RAFER  BEEEX2,000/8 T (2019%F : &
BL)EEREEZFRUGAMKE  ESARAR
B R % F A B B AT BE A ) o

SR 428 380 H 7T 488 O (1 A0 B MK TR BT A 3 48 A0 R0
BONEZEPER-

R202056 A308 - & 11 B3 18 I # )Rk (B & & M 3K
REZZARNEEERIFERCENBLIEFPH
- ENBELR EEERAYBELERZS
RHRELRERE RESEEERLBERE
B R A ERARAR B AT B
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

24. OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES 24, iR =
2020 2019
2020% 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
Other loan receivables H b E R E R 30,249 43,000
Less: Impairment loss OB EER (18,249) -
12,000 43,000

On 7 September 2018, Rosy Lane Investments Limited (“Rosy
Lane”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement (“Loan Disposal Agreement”)
with Mr. Wong Kui Shing (“Mr. Wong”), an independent
third party, in respect of disposal of the promissory note
receivable. Pursuant to the Loan Disposal Agreement, Rosy
Lane had conditionally agreed to sell and assign, and Mr.
Wong had conditionally agreed to purchase and be assigned,
Rosy Lane’s rights, titles, benefits and interests in and to
the outstanding principal and interest accrued (“Aggregate
Outstanding Sum”) of approximately HK$53,529,000, the
promissory note receivable and the share mortgage at a
consideration of HK$48,000,000 (“Consideration”) with
maturity date on 17 June 2019 (“Maturity Date”).

The Consideration was determined after arms’s length
negotiation between Rosy Lane and Mr. Wong principally
with reference to the amount of Aggregate Outstanding Sum
as at 30 June 2018 and its recoverability, with a discount
of approximately 10.33%. A write off of approximately
HK$5,529,000 was recognised in “Other operation expenses”
for the year ended 30 June 2018.

A repayment commitment letter was signed by Mr. Wong
on 1 August 2019, to repay the outstanding principal of
HK$43,000,000 and interests of approximately HK$3,216,000
in 7 instalments from 31 August 2019 to 29 February 2020.

M2018F9A7H " ARRIMNEEZ 2 ENE R A
Rosy Lane Investments Limited ([Rosy Lane | ) £2
BN E= EEEE ([FRE]) i & BB
AEBIIVHZE ([EXHERR]) - BEEHH
E 1% - Rosy LaneB B IG MRS H & R#E:%E i
TREEFKRGEREZREEWE X EZEROsy Lanedy
53,529,000/ 70 B i AR W Bl AN & K e ET AR (i
R EI2FEATE])  BUFERHLERRRNIEIEN
R AR - Az Rz - (8 R48,000,0007%8
T (TREL) - EIH B A2019F6A178 ([E
H1)-

KRBT Rosy Lanefl B F A A N FHEEEETE &
PEBLRE RIS EEARER2018F6 A30H
FE R REATEM (FrE4910.33%) - B 5LE
201856 A30H ILFER [ A2 ] R
185 £ 58 495,529,000 TT

FHRAM0IOFBALIREBERFAE NUEE
RIEEA$£43,000,000/ 7T & F| B 493,216,000
JT* B2019E8 A31H 202052 A29A H7HI X
1o
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mwh O

For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=202046H30H I EE

24.

25.

OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Mr. Wong settled the first instalment, amounting to
HK$15,000,000, on 31 August 2019 in accordance with
the revised repayment schedule, while left the outstanding
principal of HK$28,000,000 unpaid as at 30 June 2020. Up
to the date of this report, HK$10,000,000 was subsequently
repaid by Mr. Wong. The Directors considered that the
recovery of the unsettled balance was remote and an
impairment loss of HK$18,000,000 (2019: HK$nil) was
recognised during the year ended 30 June 2020.

The remaining balance of other loan receivables, amounting
to approximately HK$2,249,000, represents the outstanding
considerations arising from the redemption of the unlisted
convertible bonds (see Note 27 (iii)). Up to the date of this
report, HK$2,000,000 was subsequently repaid by the debtor.
The Directors considered that the recovery of the unsettled
balance was remote and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$249,000 (2019: HK$nil) was recognised during the year
ended 30 June 2020.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 6(ii)(A).

24 RtBEW SR (&

FAERBLETEERBRN20199F8HA31R
1838 & Hi 50 1H15,000,000/% 7T » M1 K & 38 & &
28,000,000/ T 74202046 A30H 1 K 2 fit
BEAREBH 4 HREEL,000,000/
T-EEZRRWERFEGEHROATEEREMN I
EREE202056F6 A30H (- F E AR R EEE
18,000,000 7t (20194F : T L) °

H i JE W B SRR T 45 84 492,249,00078 7T 4 E &
I ERABERESMELENREERE(R
fiaE273in) - BEAHmE A H  EHARKER
2,000,000/ 7T - EERBWERBEALEREN AT 5L
MEM I E RBE2020F6 A30H IEFE N
R (B B 18 49249,00078 7T (20194F : T T) °

ERAASBEGERRERNE-—THBEAR
B ZE6(iI)(A) °

LOAN RECEIVABLES 25. B E®
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FHEIT
Loan receivables JEUE X 42,824 48,393
Less: Impairment loss R EE1E (6,574) (7,493)
36,250 40,900

Loan receivables represent outstanding principals and interest
arising from the money lending business of the Group.

As at 30 June 2020, all of the loan receivables are entered
with the counterparties with a maturity within the next
twelve months, unsecured and interest-bearing at fixed rates
mutually agreed between the contracting parties, ranging from
9% to 10.5% (2019: 8.5% to 10.5%) per annum.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

FEWEFIEAREIEE X AES 2 M AR E A
& RFE -

2020666 A308 - T B BEET AN S —HEIM 2
EWE SRR ARR+ @A RE - AR %
AR ERBENEEFEE  FRENTI%
£10.5% (20194 : 8.5%%F10.5% ) °



25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loan
receivables in order to minimise credit risk by reviewing
borrowers’ and their guarantors’ financial positions.

The Group has a policy for assessing the impairment on
loan receivables on an individual basis. The assessment
includes evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of
the loan receivables and on management’s judgement on
creditworthiness, collateral and past collection history of each
borrower.

Except for a loan receivable with outstanding principal
and interest as at 30 June 2020 in aggregate amount
of approximately HK$6,574,000 (2019: approximately
HK$7,493,000) which has been past due and impaired
during the year with a maturity in March 2020, all other loan
receivables were neither past due nor impaired at 30 June
2020. Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 6(ii)(B).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£RE A 35 ER B 51

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

25. B ER (2)
AEEHHEBWER D KEFHRISIZEH BRE
BERARHEERAZTBERL  KESREE
BERk -

AEE B ZE R E TG ERE R Z R E /K

B o A4 B RS W E 2 AT W B R 14 B AR
n’fﬁ%&aﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%’U\ZE 2 EBAmAE
AR AC 8% 2 # B -

BRR2020F3 AR B M R EEA S KA B (F
F202056 A30H ) 1) E i & 7K 42 88 496,574,000
7 7T (20194 : 497,493,000 7T) (KD @H K
RERELRE) « FTA H W E F 20205
6A30RREARBEA AR IEL RE B R @B TR R
1 8 B Y B Y 30 T B BRI A B A0 RR R R P
B5@-

ERAEEGEERRKNE —
B &E6(ii)(B)

THEBEHER

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE 26. BEl—HBEARREA
Maximum amount
outstanding
during the year
REAFKREED
BEE&H
At 30 June At 30 June
2020 2019 2020 2019
120205 20194
6H30H 2020% 20194
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TFETT FETT FETT FET
Modern Legend BRES 793 780 798 910

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand.

,
el
¥
e
i
A‘E
:

SZHBEREER RERE
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

27. BOFEAARGHEMEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HrzF F&T FHET
Listed equity securities in EATFEYENEE ETRA (1)
Hong Kong, at fair value 75 5 18,227 26,379
Suspended listed equity securities EAFEINENEEEFES (ii)
in Hong Kong, at fair value ETRAES 30,321 31,808
Unlisted convertible bonds, BAFEYERMIELT (iff)
at fair value Al RS B = 7,797
48,548 65,984
Notes: Bt sz -
(i)~ The amount represents equity securities listed in Hong Kong. (i) =X NEE FTHBRAZA5-15E 2 ANFE

(ii)

The fair values of the investments are determined with reference
to the quoted market bid prices in the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2020, the fair value of the suspended listed
equity securities represents the equity securities of Convoy
Global Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1019) (“Convoy Shares”),
which was determined by the Directors with reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 30 June 2020, loss on change
in fair value in respect of the Convoy Shares amounting
to approximately HK$1,487,000 (2019: approximately
HK$6,292,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of the Convoy Shares is assessed by index return
method, which is a generally accepted approach in the industry.
Details on the valuation technique(s) and inputs used are set out
in fair value measurements of financial instruments in Note 6.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

(ii)

TRBERNBIMABTIZEABREE -

20206 A308  BEEE FTRAZESHZAF
BEEREERRIRIERER AR (—ERBXFTER
EHEAF BROARE:1019) 2 BAZE SR ([F
FRH]) EHEEKLBBYAEREEHKE
BREIT 2 (HEET - REZE2020F6 A30R IEFE
N BERERMDHAFEZES)EIEL1,487,000
BT (20194F : 496,292,000/8 7T ) BN B FER

RN 2 2T (H IR 16 B S 17 AF A e T
EM AR E - HIEERH AR RR
e e BT A2 AT E -



27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

On 12 January 2018, the Group acquired unlisted convertible
bonds from an independent third party at a cash consideration
of HK$9,300,000. The convertible bonds were issued by Larry
Jewelry International Company Limited (a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8351) (“Larry
Jewelry”). The convertible bonds is unsecured, bears interest
at a fixed rate of 7.5% per annum and matured on the second
anniversary of the first issue date (i.e. 4 September 2019)
(“Maturity Date”).

The initial conversion price of the convertible bonds is
HK$0.3 subject to adjustments in accordance with the certain
conditions. The conversion period of the convertible bonds
commencing from the date of first issue of the convertible
bonds up to and including the date falling on the seventh day
immediately prior to the Maturity Date.

At any time prior to the Maturity Date, Larry Jewelry may
redeem the convertible bonds at 100% of the principal amount
outstanding plus interest accrued by giving written notice to
the Group. The Group has no right to request Larry Jewelry to
redeem the convertible bonds at any time prior to the Maturity
Date.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the unlisted convertible
bonds of HK$1,100,000 were partial redeemed by Larry Jewelry.

As at 30 June 2019, the fair value of the unlisted convertible
bonds were determined by the Directors with reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 30 June 2019, loss on change in
fair value in respect of the unlisted convertible bonds amounting
to approximately HK$101,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

On the Maturity Date, the unlisted convertible bonds were
fully redeemed by Larry Jewelry at a cash consideration of
HK$7,900,000, resulting in a fair value gain of approximately
HK$103,000 recorded in the profit or loss during the year ended
30 June 2020.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

27. BAFEHARGHEMEE (£)

Hiat: (&)

(i) 72018F1A12H - A &K B AR £ R 89,300,000
BRA—R2BYLE=FTWEFELTAREKES-
MR ESFDREXEABEREER AR (—HAR
Bt X PTGEM LT 2 A &) - B fp (5% - 8351) (&
NEA]) T AR E T IR - 127 5%
EFEMEABLENETEBRFE _EBFA
(EN20194F9R4R) (TEIHA])BIH -

AR ES 2 VIIREREROIB T AIRESE T
T ARE AR ES c BR B A E TR
ERETHRAREERIBHENELR (BES
H)IEEAR -

REFAAERRREA EXEAQTEBRAE
BEHEBAN RELREEASESMEFT
MEZewH BOHRES AEEEEERE
B AR E A B AT (R B R A B B AR R E

REZE201956 A30R L FE A > JE L Ak E
#1,100,0008 THEXEA L ED -

20196 A30R  EE K2R —BBULA AR
SERGEMETZHEETHE LT ABRKRESZ
NFE - NBE2019F6 A30A LEFER - BERE
BERFLTARREFNAFEEPERLY
101,000/ 7t

REHB & XE AR R ET7,900,000/8
THREEBEBOFLETARRES REREBE
202056 A30H L FEAMBRPHSATEK
% #7103,0007 7T ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. |RITHRBRAR

Bank balances carried interest at market rates ranging from RIOTEBENTHF0.001%=0.002%
0.001% to 0.002% (2019: 0.125% to 0.135%) per annum. (2019%F : 0.125%%0.135% ) T 5 F| K5+ B o

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s bank balances and cash with 720206 A30H 7 & & 48 BR ™ B 428,000/%8
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$28,000 JC (20194F : #49322,0008 7T ) < IR1T&EHR KIR &
(2019: approximately HK$322,000) were denominated RARE (AR D FE W ERFBEBERT
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and placed with bank in the PRC, MARBWIEREME LR RBREE -hEH
which is not a freely convertible currency in the international BB ETINEE S ESELPEIRINEZH
market. The government of the PRC has implemented foreign B B8 T 2 e 2 B 55 BRI AT AR BR ©

exchange control and the remittance of these funds out of
the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the
government of the PRC.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HttEFR R R EER
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
Other payables H M FE S 5RI8 8,778 3,724
Accrued tutor contractor fee, salary and JEETEMEARE HE R
other accruals Hib e & A 6,692 11,882
15,470 15,606
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. AR
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
Provision of private educational services A AHE RIS
— advances received from customers —BEP R 5,790 10,336
The contract liabilities primarily related to the advance AHBETFEHEGIREIAHE RS EE £ YE
consideration received from the students for the provision of MIENREBAER B WARRERGEER -

private educational services, for which revenue is recognised
when the services have been rendered.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=2020F6HA30H It F[E

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 30. AR (~Z
The movements in contract liabilities are summarised as ABHEBENEHRMMT
follows:

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFET FET

At beginning of the year REH 10,336 10,851

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERFHHERDF AR L BED

recognising revenue during the year that FARREFEES OB ERD

was included in contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (9,861) (10,715)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result E IR HFLABE R M

of receiving advance consideration from SHEWETERNREE S DA EEM

the students for the provision of private

educational services 5,315 10,200

At end of the year RER 5,790 10,336
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

SHl%

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities at 30 June 2020 and at the date

of transition to HKFRS 16:

HEAR

TRINRASEHBERER2020F6 308 KRR
BEERABMBRELNEIHRE BNHRTEH

IS

30 June 2020

1 July 2019 (Note)

202046 A30H 20197 A18 (ftzt)
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
RIEHAS REWRE H=EHE RERE
TIREE IR NHBEE N8
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FEIT FET FHET
Within 1 year —FR 4,247 4,863 3,570 3,997
After 1 year but —FRERFER
within 2 years 2,210 2,439 1,846 1,968
After 2 years but MERERFR
within 5 years 834 914 254 261
3,044 3,353 2,100 2,229
At 30 June 2020 720206 A30H 7,291 8,216 5,670 6,226
Less: Total future interest 3l : KK BB X 42458
expenses (925) (556)
Present value of lease HEaBZRE
liabilities 7,291 5,670
Note: Biat -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 July 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative
information as at 30 June 2019 has not been restated. Further details
on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 2.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

FEBEEAKETENEEREREEYBIREL
A 51657 10 A B 7201957 A1 E 2 AT & k- LATE R
EHREEEGHENEI7TROBEREEHEENEE
RS A E - H2019F6 AS0HM L RER L& T
NES - ERBEER BN BRE L FIROZEN
BEBENME2 -



32.

33.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

32. EftRABAREA

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Amounts due to a director and a ENFREERRER QA
non-controlling shareholder of ([FIREE]) —BESER
Able Investment Development Limited —ZIEE R AR R TE
(“Able Investment”) 495 495
Amount due to a director of FEf T RREBBE AR QA
Wind Fly Dragon Int'l Limited (“Wind Fly")  ([FT2MREE]) —BESHE 4,873 5,373
5,368 5,868

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, other borrowings of the Group
from independent third parties are unsecured, repayable
within one year and carried a fixed interest rate at 12% (2019:
12%) per annum.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company entered
into a loan agreement amounting to HK$5,000,000 with an
independent third party which is unsecured, interest-bearing
at a fixed rate of 12% per annum and repayable on or before
27 June 2020. The borrowing have been fully repaid by the
Company on 17 August 2020.

ZEBERTVEER 2B RIRBEREEE -

33. HfttfF s

20204 K 20196 H30R  REE R BB H
= RMEAMERTDEER TR -FREELR
BF12% (20195 : 12% ) EEF K5 B

REE2020F6 H30B L FER KRR H—F
B E=FF] 7 — 17 % 58 &5,000,000% T &
R ZERASEER ZEEF M KI2%:T
B RAMNR2020F6 H27H K Z AIER - AR A B
R2020F8A17H 2 HEBEZEMEK -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 #Z=202096H30H [t F /&

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 34. RERR[AR

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during both years:

AT AmEFERANECHRERBELEZES:

Accelerated

Intangible tax

assets depreciation Total

BLEE MERBEINE st

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FET FET

At 1 July 2018 M2018F7H1H (80) (89) (169)
Credited to profit or loss during the year AR BRE BT A 32 = 32
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 201946 A30H M2019F7A1H (48) (89) (137)
Credited to profit or loss during the year £ AR Bz R T A 33 - 33
At 30 June 2020 202056 A30H (15) (89) (104)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses of approximately HK$257,461,000 (2019:
approximately HK$190,861,000) available for offsetting
against future profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, no deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses can be
carried forward indefinitely.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT

RBEEHR AKEENRIAREAEBERLD
257,461,0007% 7t (20194F : 49190,861,000/% 7T )
A LA SHE £ BB AR R R AR IOE T 120204
N20195F6 A30R » B 7 R 2 | 2R 69 7] 38
A WERRIBEBIEERRERIEEE-TF
T I8 B 18 P IR B A S o



35.

36.

PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E

35. R &R

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFET FET

At beginning of the year REH 806 1,267
Credited to profit or loss during the year FFAFRNER (109) (456)
Reductions arising from payments NEREEZR (34) (5)
At end of the year RER 663 806

The provision for long service payments is based on the
best estimate of the future payments required to settle the
obligations under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in
relation to the employees of the Group in Hong Kong.

RHIRG S BETRBER KA ROKEMBE
H- MARRMRTTARGEERBEEBREEH
AEEERBNREBAAENERT

SHARE CAPITAL 36. X
Number of
shares Amount
& &8
HK$'000
FET
Authorised JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &M E{H0.05/% jT 1) & @ A%
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019 R2018F7H1H 20196 4308 &
and 30 June 2020 2020%6 A30H 6,000,000,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid BE#FT R E
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & & HE{H0.05/% T /) & @A%
At 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019 F2018F7H1H 201946 A30H &
and 30 June 2020 2020%6 A30H 547,570,880 27,379

The shares issued rank pari passu with other shares of the
Company in issue in all respects. None of the Company or its
subsidiaries repurchased, sold, redeemed or cancelled any of
the Company’s shares during the years ended 30 June 2020
and 2019.

BERETERORMETHEARARRERTZH
b B 7 F B B F 147 - 10 8 220204 20194
6A30RIEFEAR  AAFHEMB QR GERE
B & O S HE A AR R
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was adopted pursuant to a resolution
in writing of all shareholders passed on 11 June 2011
(“Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to full time
or part-time employees, Directors (whether executive or
non-executive), consultants, supplier, customer, joint venture
partner, business associates and advisor (professional or
otherwise) of the Company for their contribution to the
Company and to promote the Company’s success. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 4 July 2011
(“Effective Date”). Subject to earlier termination by the
Directors and approved in advance by the shareholders in a
general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effecting for a period commencing from the Effective Date and
expiring at 5:00 p.m. on the business day preceding the tenth
anniversary of the Adoption Date.

The total number of shares of the Company available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
Effective Date.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of
the options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled or outstanding
options) to each participant (other than a substantial
shareholder, chief executive or director as explained below) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 37. BMEREEE (F)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the grantee of the options).
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options, which may specify
the minimum period for which the options must be held
before they can be exercised, may be accepted in writing
by a participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee.
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. The
exercise period for the share options granted is determined
by the Directors, which period may commence from the date
of acceptance of the offer for the grant of share options but
shall end, in any event, not later than 10 years from the date
of the conditional adoption of the Share Option Scheme by
the shareholders subject to the provisions for early termination
under the Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, no share
option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at
30 June 2020 and 2019, no share options were outstanding.

AARARFREE TETRABHTIERRAKSE
EEZEABEAL (EER EMRADRTE
BAEAEERBNSBUIFNTES (TERIRE
PRI AR A Z BB IEMITE S ) Hf - b
HEREERL B (BHZE) L+ @A H
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BEZXBZEABEA T ZERBREBHAR
AE BTN 201%B@aE (REREERAR
Ay 2 W T (B 5+ & ) #87815,000,000% 7T - BlIZA
ERRAE EEGBIRILE

REFEABRIBTZH2ERER 2EETR
EXRAHME2IEANEMERNERBREZZ
#) (E AT RERT AR BB AR A 1T (R A 8 15 8 B A
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RERE 220 R MAR BERUAARRKRR
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38.

39.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had commitments for
the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases to mainly independent third
parties in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

38.

EEEARE

FREHERHEA

R2019F6 A30H » AKERE A Al HHE 2
EREEMETIZRBIULE = AENRKRKE
HENFHEBIBERMT :

HK$'000

FET

Within one year —FR 35,324
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EEFERF (BEEMEREENRN) 28,806
64,130

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms of
1 to 5 years.

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
held under leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening
balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating
to these leases (see Note 2). From 1 July 2019 onwards,
future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance
with the accounting policy for leased assets set out in Note 3,
and the details regarding the Group’s future lease payments
are disclosed in Note 31.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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AEBRKBE N FREF TR FE3IWE

MREETBHELERRHHIR

TERAAKERETDAELABENES &
EREMIFRSEY RELTHMELENERER
REREBFIRRREREFNAEEGZESREIR
EXRDERBERIMBNESRE-



39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)
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30. MREHELEARMBIR (&

Amounts
due to
Lease related Other
liabilities parties borrowings Total
HEARE EARBEAIRE Hftifg s ot
(Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 33)
(WiE31) (H532) (i£33)
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2018 R2018F7H1H - 5,868 - 5,868
Other borrowing raised HEb g E T = = 5,000 5,000
Repayment of other borrowing BEEfLER - - (2,000) (2,000)
Interest paid NN - - (39) (39)
Non-cash changes: HHEE
Finance costs HHKER = = 40 40
At 30 June 2019 20196 A30H - 5,868 3,001 8,869
Impact on initial application of BRERABTBRSEL
HKFRS 16 (Note) FL6R B (Hiit) 5,670 - - 5,670
At1 July 2019 R2019%7818 5,670 5,868 3,001 14,539
Repayment to related parties BB 308 - (500) - (500)
Other borrowings raised HA g T - = 14,500 14,500
Repayment of other borrowings BEEfER - - (9,700) (9,700)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BRERE 2EXSD (4,378) - - (4,378)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ 2RAEMRL 2 FELHH (746) - - (746)
Interest paid ERFE - - (611) (611)
Non-cash changes: Eky
Finance costs % ER 882 s 626 1,508
Increase in lease liabilities from entering AT VHFHEE 4 1)
into new leases during the year HEBEEM 6,523 s s 6,523
Accrued rental expense and imputed AR EMFIE R EE B
interest included in other payables EHERY RHEEF S
and accruals (692) - - (692)
Prepaid rental expense included in AR S K H o eI F R A
trade and other receivables BNEERY 32 = = 32
At 30 June 2020 12020%6 A30H 7,291 5,368 7,816 20,475
Note: Haz

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 July
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 (see Note 2).

FEBEBERRBEETEPERAE BV BIREL
H‘J%165}‘%1'EESH%EA2019¢7H 1HH) B A5 84 DATE

RELMREBEFTRGAENFLIIRD

HEAHNEEAE (RHE2) -
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40. LITIGATION

M

On 19 December 2017, Fastek received a writ of
summons (“Writ") with statement of claim issued in the
Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
(“CFI") by Convoy and certain subsidiaries of Convoy
(“Plaintiffs”) to claim an order against Fastek, as one
of the placees under the placing of Convoy Shares
conducted in October 2015, that Fastek was wrongly
placed the Convoy Shares and wrongly received certain
circular financing facilities by one of the Plaintiffs.

On 31 May 2018, the Plaintiffs filed an amended
statement of claim against, among other defendants,
Fastek as one of the defendants, pursuant to which:

(i) Convoy (the 1st plaintiff) seeks, inter alia, (i) a
declaration and order as against the placees that
the allotment of the Convoy Shares is null and
void or has been rescinded and set aside; (ii) an
account of profits and an order for payment of any
sums found to be due, equitable compensation to
be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed for
breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory
duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy, as
against, among others, Fastek;

(i)  Convoy Collateral Limited and CSL Securities
Limited (the 2nd plaintiff and the 3rd plaintiff) seek,
inter alia, an order against, among others, Fastek as
one of the direct recipients of funds under the said
circular financing arrangement for an account of
profits and an order for payment of any sums found
to be due, equitable compensation to be assessed,
and/or damages to be assessed for breach of
fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek against all the defendants (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs;
(d) further and/or other reliefs.

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

M

(Continued)

On 5 June 2018, the solicitors for Fastek received a
letter from the solicitors for the Plaintiffs dated 4 June
2018 which clarified that the amended statement of
claim (which states “re-filed on 31 May 2018") served
on Fastek on 31 May 2018 has yet to be officially filed
in the CFl pending the resolutions of the Plaintiffs’
applications lodged to Mr. Justice Harris on 4 June 2018
to amend the statement of claim and to add new parties
by amending the Writ.

On 25 July 2018, Fastek received a sealed order of the
hearing for the Plaintiffs’ summons held on 28 June
2018 (“Order”).
among other matters, that as between the Plaintiffs and
Fastek (among certain other defendants), the Plaintiffs

Pursuant to the Order, it is ordered,

do have leave to file and serve the amended Statement
of Claim. On 9 July 2018, the Plaintiffs served on Fastek
copies of the amended Writ and amended statement of
claim.

Pursuant to the order of Mr. Justice Harris granted on
12 July 2019, the Plaintiffs have filed and served its
re-amended Writ and the re-amended statement of claim
on 16 July 2019.

The Plaintiffs filed and served their reply to Fastek’s
defence filed on 18 October 2018 on 13 February 2020.

Thereafter, the Plaintiffs filed their re-re-amended
statement of claim on 27 July 2020 pursuant to the order
of Mr. Justice Harris granted during the hearing of the
striking out application taken out by the 26th defendant
on 9 January 2020.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
478 Bl FE SR ZE M

For the year ended 30 June 2020 % £2020F6A30H I-F[E
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Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited &&# A

40. LITIGATION (Continued)

(2) On 2 January 2018, Fastek received a petition dated
27 December 2017 made by the petitioner filed with the
CFl, whereby the petitioner seeks, among other things,
a declaration that the placement of Convoy Shares to
Fastek in October 2015 is void ab initio and of no legal
effect.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
19 December 2017, 2 January 2018, 4 June 2018, 7 June
2018 and 25 July 2018 for details on the litigations involving
the Group.

Given that the litigations are still at a preliminary stage and has
not gone into substantive pleading stage, having considered
the alleged claims and consulted with the Company’s legal
advisers, the Directors are of the views that (i) it is premature
to assess the possible outcome of any claim which is
pending, either individually or on a combined basis; (ii) it is
uncertain as to whether there will be any impact, and if so, the
quantum, on the financial position of the Group; and (iii) no
provision for the claims in these legal proceedings is required
to be made based on their current development. The Directors
will monitor these litigations against the Group closely.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Parties are considered to be related if one party has,
directly or indirectly, the ability to control or jointly
control or has significant influence over the other
party in making financial and operating decisions. The
management is of the view that the following company
was related party that had significant transactions or
balances with the Group during the year.

Name of related party

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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41. ABAB XS

(@) fH—71BRENEEMI EH I R EREK
B E R AT SRS Lty
BEATE RIZTHRBR/REMTT ORI
ToEBERR ATRARFANERNER
ETEAR DA B EHREE )

Relationship with the Group

BB S &iE BEEEBRE
Full Profit A joint venture indirectly held by the Group
By REBREFENAE QT

Save as the balances with related parties as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of financial position, the
Group entered into the following significant transactions
with related party during the year:

(b) BRéRE BTS00 2% P 45 5% B2 RE Bk 5 &Y 45 £
N REBRFRNEBEEE T RIS ATERR
5

2020 2019
2020% 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Tuition fee income from: KEUTRARIZEBIA:
— Full Profit By - 36
Other income from: REAUNTRARZHMKA :
— Full Profit By - 38

The key management personnel includes Directors and
chief executive of the Company and the compensation
paid to them is disclosed in Note 11.

) FTEBBABBREENARAEETHA
B MmAEEX MR EIIPRE-
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2020 are set out as follows:

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June
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42. X EMRBLT
AN AR2020F6 4308 2 = EM B A AR IEH

FIEnT

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
BRTR FRMEL
TEMELRER B/ B R HERFERES BEiEa TERE
2020 2019
2020% 2019%
Able Investment British Virgin Islands (“BVI") Hong Kong 1S$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Investment holding
IR AERAHE 30 10,000% 7T 88.75% 8875% ALK
([£BR=EB])

Bachelor Education Centre Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 88.75% 88.75%  Inactive (2019: provision of a physical
office physical office to a fellow
subsidiary)

BIYEERAH Bk R 10,0007 7 88.75% 8875% EZH (20195 -BRZNBAR
RUEERPLE)

Intelligent Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Inactive

ARFBEHEARAT B B 1007t 100% 100%  E£7

Modem Education (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$41,429 473 100% 100%  Provision of tutoring Services

ARAE (BB ARAT B B 4140947357 100% 100% REFERS

Rosy Lane ! BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

ABRRHS Bk 1% 100% 100% RERR
Sino Network Group Limited ! BVI Hong Kong US$13,983 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERAHE R 13983% T 100% 100% REER

Wise Action Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment in securities

BEARAT Bk R 10,0007 7 100% 100% BEEH

China Rich Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100%  Money lending

EEUBERAR Bk R 10007 100% 100% fAE

Modem Bachelor Education Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of primary tutoring Services,
skill courses and test preparation
courses

BRNETERAF Bk R 10,0007 7 100% 100% REUEHERE REIRRES
g

Fastek BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment in securities

ABRRHS Bk 1% 100% 100% BREES

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited HE# A (BE)REEEAR AT



42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June

2020 are set out as follows: (Continued)
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42. X EREBLT
AARIR2020F6 A308 2 X EHE

mr (&)

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of principal subsidiary establishment Place of operation registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities
BRTR FREEL
TEMELRER i/ i BEHE HERF ERES kstg TERE
2020 2019
2020% 2019F
Central Talent Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERAEE Bk %7 100% 100% ®ERR
Moder iClass Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Provision of interest classes
ARETHZERLT ) Bk 1007 100% 100% REAEEHT
Lucky Joy Investment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of physical offices to fellow
subsidiaries (2019: Provision of
physical offices to fellow subsidiaries
and a related company)
EERARRLA 5 Bk 10,0007 100% 100% RRAZMBAAREEEHAE
(20195 : MR ZMEL AR —HE
BRARMERHKAE)
Think Smart Global Limited BVI Hong Kong US$500 70% 70%  Investment holding
AERAEE Bk 500% T 70% 0% RERR
Cosmic Path Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong Us$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERAEE Bk 100%7T 100% 100% ®ERR
Wisdom Union Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong 1S$4,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERAEE Bk 4,000% 7T 100% 100% RERR
Wind Fly Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$19,010,000 100% 100%  Provision of dance tuition services
TERE ) R 19,010,000 100% 100% REEEAZRE
Paramount Ride Limited * BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERAEE Bk %7 100% 100% HERR
Diligent Lush Holdings Limited BVI Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIRRERAR ABRRHS & 1% 100% 100% RARR
Smart Now Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
BXERAR ) R 1T 100% 100% #%%
1 The companies are directly held by the Company. All other L ZERNTBHARAEERBE FBEEMWEAR

subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
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42,

43.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
at the end of, or during, either reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operated a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme were held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme
was to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees and
each required to make contribution to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 effective from 1 June 2014 for
the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution was available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. Each of the PRC subsidiaries is required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,707,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,292,000)
represented contributions payable to the above schemes by
the Group during the year ended 30 June 2020.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. F LT MR R R 6 0l &=
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets IEREEE
Investment in subsidiaries S SIEPNGIE S 322 322
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments and other deposits ENREREMES 173 313
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NETE ] 113,406 214,367
Bank balances and cash SRITEHR IR 1,570 2,115
115,149 216,795
Current liabilities mEEE
Accruals st EH 1,004 1,025
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE BT B A B FRIE 44,973 31,839
Other borrowing HER 5,005 =
50,982 32,864
Net current assets MEEEFE 64,167 183,931
Net assets BEFE 64,489 184,253
Capital and reserves BAR R
Share capital f&% 2 27,379 27,379
Reserves (Note) s (W) 37,110 156,874
Total equity G 64,489 184,253
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved RATREEARR T E R2020F9 A28 HEE= =
and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on SHOERIERERE - TH TIATRERZEZ:
28 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:
Tsang Ka Wai Wong King Hoi
2xE wREL
Director Director
EZE EZE
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45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

4. FLTFIMBRRARERE (&

Wyt
ARBORBEZLSHNOT

Share Contributed Merger Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses Total

BinigE BER=EeR & ok fR RSN it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET FET FET FET

At 1 July 2018 R2018F7H1H 403,188 386,954 (28,079) (554,719) 207,344
Loss and total comprehensive FEEE KR EEM X

expense for the year 158 - - - (50,470) (50,470)
At 30 June 2019 and R2019F6 308 &

1 July 2019 2019%7A1H 403,188 386,954 (28,079) (605,189) 156,874
Loss and total comprehensive FEEIE R 2 X

expense for the year FEkG) - - - (119,764) (119,764)

At 30 June 2020 7202096 A30H 403,188 386,954 (28,079) (724,953) 37,110

At 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution in accordance with the Company Law
of Bermuda.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following significant events took place
subsequent to 30 June 2020:

Placing of new shares under general mandate

On 27 July 2020, the Company and Orient Securities Limited
(“Placing Agent”) entered into a placing agreement pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place
through the Placing Agent, on a best endeavour basis, up to
33,500,000 shares of the Company to be allotted and issued
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
at a price of HK$0.90 per share, which represented a discount
of approximately 8.16% to the closing market price of the
shares of the Company on 27 July 2020, under a general
mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2019, to not
less than six placees, who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners are independent third parties (“Placing”). The Placing
was completed on 14 August 2020 and the net proceeds were
approximately HK$29.40 million.
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45. RENERER

BRZEEAVEBERREGCEMBEESEII B
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P202067A270 - A AR EBR T ENBHER
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46.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following significant events took place
subsequent to 30 June 2020: (Continued)

Effect on the Group of COVID-19

With the outbreak and spread of the COVID-19 in 2020, the
Group’s provision of private educational services business
is being adversely affected. As a result of the HKSAR
Government’s announcement of the closure of all schools in
Hong Kong from end of January 2020 to May 2020 and from
July 2020 to September 2020, the Group has suspended
all classes and either changed to online teaching, cancelled
or rearranged the classes, resulting in certain loss of tuition
fee income from all education centres during the period of
such closures. The Group will closely monitor the evolving
COVID-19 situation, yet an estimate of its financial impact on
the Group cannot be reliably measured at this stage due to the
uncertainty of the spread of the epidemic.

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong

The fair values of listed equity securities are determined
based on the quoted market closing price available on the
Main Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange at the end of the
reporting period.

As at the date of the board of Directors’ approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the realised and unrealised
losses on financial assets at FVPL from changes in fair
value on financial assets at FVPL held as at 30 June 2020
amounted to approximately HK$12,000 and HK$1,347,000
respectively.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 July
2019. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Five-Year Financial Summary

h F Al ISt e

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on
the basis set out in the notes below.

AT RASEZ T XM EMEEEREEE R EMIK
FENCDTRXENEERAEME-

RESULTS ¥
Year ended 30 June
#F6H30HIFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 67,243 108,940 109,027 153,859 189,778
Loss before tax bR A &R (107,260) (76,895) (9,670)  (330,112)  (144,802)
Income tax credit (expenses) FTEF K% (%) 53 65 1,438 (814) (321)
Loss for the year FEEE (107,207) (76,830) (8,232)  (330,926)  (145,123)
(Loss) profit for the year INTATERLEFEE
attributable to: (B8 =F -
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIETZS N (107,194) (77,438) (8,246)  (333,326)  (144,718)
Non-controlling interests IEVERR M = (13) 608 14 2,400 (405)
(107,207) (76,830) (8,232) (330,926) (145,123)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERAE
As at 30 June
®6A30H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FEIT FET
Total assets BEE 150,476 253,985 316,062 586,837 798,521
Total liabilities FES=R (42,527) (35,828) (27,806)  (221,964)  (189,649)
107,949 218,157 288,256 364,873 608,872
Equity attributable to: AT AT B
Owners of the Company ZINNEIEF DN 107,864 218,059 288,766 314,272 560,702
Non-controlling interests PR 5 85 98 (510) 50,601 48,170
107,949 218,157 288,256 364,873 608,872
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